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CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS



REVIEW OF
OPERATIONS



REVIEW
OF OPERATIONS

In the twelve months under review, the Mediobanca Group earned a net
profit of €464.8m, compared with the €176.2m loss reported last year. This result
reflects an 11.7% increase in revenues, from €1,628.4m to €1,819.4m, as well
as a positive contribution from the securities portfolio of €211.9m (representing
the balance between gains on disposals and writedowns) which last year showed
a €387.5m loss. The main income items performed as follows:

— net interest income rose by 5.7%, from €1,028m to €1,086.9m, as a reult
of growth in consumer finance (up 13.4%) on the one hand and a slowdown
in wholesale business (down 5.8%) on the other. The former was boosted
by higher volumes on resilient margins, while the latter was impacted by
the declining stock of corporate loans and the reduced profitability of other
interest-bearing assets;

— net fee and commission income rose 3.5%, from €409.7m to €423.9m, due
to a positive contribution from capital market activity in the fourth quarter
in particular;

— treasury activity, which fell from €200.2m to €45.1m, was penalized by the
low lending rate levels against a higher cost of funding, and the low volatility
levels on markets;

— the contribution from the equity-accounted companies totalled €263.5m,
after a good performance was posted by Assicurazioni Generali which

contributed €261m (compared with €16.8m).

The 5.2% increase in overheads, from €752.4m to €791.4m, is chiefly
due to the new retail and consumer commercial initiatives and to adaptations
being made to both properties and control systems (administrative expenses up

10.6%).

Loan loss provisions rose from €506.5m to €736m, an increase of 45.3%.
These involve corporate and private banking as to €231m (up 90.1%), retail
and consumer banking as to €473.2m (up 31.4%), and leasing as to €32.8m
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(up 29.6%). The ongoing difficulties being encountered by corporates
and households drove a 17% increase in bad loans, in part due to the new
classifications required under the ECB’s Asset Quality Review process. The
coverage ratio has therefore been increased on prudential grounds, from 45%
as at 30 June 2013 to 50%. This heading also includes writeoffs and losses on
disposals of corporate positions totalling €52.3m.

Disposals on equity investments totalling €664.1m generated gains of €242.5m
(30/6/13: €16.7m), €67.2m of which in connection with the Telco transaction (in
which a nominal €90m of the shareholders’ loan was exchanged for Telefonica
shares later sold on the market), €70.9m from the market sale of Gemina/Atlantia
shares, and €42.8m in respect of the holding in UniCredit CASHES.

Provisions for other financial assets totalled €30.6m (€404.2m), chiefly
involving the Burgo Group investment, which was written down in full on
prudential grounds (€18.6m), and other impairment charges taken in respect of

AFS equities (€8.7m) and HTM securities (€3.3m).

The sharp reduction in taxation, which fell from €157.6m to €39.6m despite
the significant improvement in pre-tax profit, is due to the substantial proportion
of taxable income (gains) which is subject to exemption under the PEX regime.

Turning now to the individual areas of activity, as from the current financial
year and in accordance with the new three-year plan, the Group’s business
segmentation has been revised to comprise three banking divisions: Corporate
and Private Banking (CIB), Retail and Consumer Banking (RCB) and Principal
Investing (PI, which brings together all the Group’s equity investments,
investments in associates, and those held as available for sale), plus a Corporate
Centre, which combines the other companies (including the leasing firms) and
certain centralized Group services costs.

CIB earned a profit of €17.2m, down sharply on the €204.7m earned last
year, on lower revenues from wholesale banking activity (down from €630.4m to
€459.5m) mainly as a result of the lack of income from treasury operations (which
declined from €185.1m to €1.4m) as well as higher loan loss provisions totalling
€233.1m (€120.1m), and despite a healthy performance in fee and commission
income (up 13.6%). The profit earned from private banking operations increased

from €4.1.1m to €50.7m.
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RCB recorded a net profit of €23.3m, down from the €44.5m reported last
year despite growth in revenues (up 9.4%, from €854 to €934m), due to higher
loan loss provisions (up from €360.1m to €473.2m) which, however, as from
this year are tax-deductible for IRAP purposes. In detail, consumer credit
saw a 7,9% increase in revenues (from €713.2m to €769.8m), with costs and
loan loss provisions up respectively by 7.5% (from €257.7m to €277.1m) and
32.9% (from €335m to €445.3m), leading to a net profit of €48.4m (€72.3m).
CheBancal! recorded a €25.1m loss, slightly lower than the €27.8m reported last
year, following 53.4% growth in fee income (from €14.8m to €22.7m) which was
in part absorbed by higher operating costs (up from €144.3m to €159m, due to
the launch of commercial projects and a one-off, €5m contribution to the Italian
interbank deposit protection fund).

PI earned a profit of €449.3m, compared with a €407.1m loss last year, due
to the higher contribution from the investee companies (which added €258.6m,
compared with a €9.9m loss) plus gains of €240.2m (€16.7m); writedowns to
investments fell from €422.3m last year to €25.3m.

The Corporate Centre reported a €21.8m loss (€19.6m), with revenues of

€52.9m (€55.4m) mostly from leasing operations, and costs totalling €56.4m
(€57m), €25.6m (€23.6m) of which was attributable to Mediobanca S.p.A.

Total assets declined from €59.7bn to €55.4bn, on lower loans and advances
to customers (down from €33.5bn to €30.6bn) in the corporate segment in
particular (which was down €3bn), with a reduction in AFS securities also (from
€11.5bn to €8.4bn) on a slight increase in net treasury assets (from €8.2bn to
€9.3bn). Funding, by contrast, decreased from €51.3bn to €45.8bn, in particular
the debt security component (down from €25.9bn to €22.6bn) and the ECB loans
(from €7.5bn to €5.5bn). Assets under management in private banking increasd

from €13.8bn to €15bn.

The Group’s capital ratios as at 30 June 2014, which have been calculated
in accordance with the new supervisory provisions in this area (CRR/CRDIV),
stood at 11.08% for the common equity ratio (CET1 ratio) and 13.76% for the
total capital ratio. These ratios reflect the phase-in period for application of
the new regulations, and also the 370% weighting (as opposed to deduction) of
the Assicurazioni Generali investment. The fully-phased ratios (i.e. with full
application of the CRR/CRDIV rules, in particular the possibility of including
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the entire AFS reserve in the CET1 definition) rise to 12.50% for the CET1 ratio
and to 14.70% for the total capital ratio.

& ok ok

Significant events that have taken place during the twelve months under
review include:

— approval by the Board of Directors of the guidelines and policies for Group
risk governance and monitoring, including finalization of the Risk Appetite
Framework (RAF) and adaptation of the internal controls system;

— appointment of Stefano Marsaglia as Executive Chairman of Corporate and
Investment Banking;

— strengthening of Mediobanca’s present in Turkey, with Tayfun Bayazit
appointed as Chairman and senior advisor;

— disposal of equity stakes in accordance with the Bank’s 2014/16 business
plan, involving sales worth €843.2m and yielding gains of €242.5m, plus
the request for the demerger of Telco ahead of sale of the Telecom ltalia
investment (Mediobanca owns a 1.6% stake in Telecom ltalia’s ordinary
share capital on a look-through basis);

— authorization by the Bank of Italy, pursuant to Article 471 of EU regulation
5751ssued on 26 June 2013, to weight the Bank’s investment in Assicurazioni
Generali at 370%;

— completion of a voluntary buyback of senior unsecured bonds falling
due between 2014 and 2015, involving a total outlay of €378m, and the
cancellation of €1bn in own liabilities backed by guarantees from the
republic of Ttaly;

— signing of a retail loan distribution agreement between Compass and the
Montepaschi di Siena group;

— merger between Creditech and Cofactor following the launch of the factoring
business;

— Launch of activities intended to strengthen the internal controls system, in
accordance with the requirements pf the update to bank of Italy circular No. 263;

— completion of the internal capital adequacy assessment procedure (ICAAP)
required by the regulations in force, and disclosure of the information
required under Pillar 3 of the Basel Il agreements, on the Group’s capital
solidity and exposure to risks.
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Developments in capital markets

In the year ended 30 June 2014, the balance of financial flows on risk
capital markets showed a marked recovery, rising by €8.6bn to reach the
highest level recorded for the past three years (€11.6bn). Conversely, dividends
distributed and public tender offers (which were near to the lowest level seen
in the past eighteen years recorded in 2009-10) both fell to reach an aggregate
€13.4bn (compared with €15.7bn in 2012-13). The net flow of funds returned
to investors therefore reduced to €1.9bn, the second best performance in the
last 14 years:

(€m)
12 miths to 12 miths to 12 mths to
30/6/12 30/6/13 30/6/14

Issues and placements of: ©
convertible ordinary and savings shares 8,887 2,562 11,515
non-convertible preference and savings shares — 436 19
convertible and cum warrant bonds — — 16
Total 8,887 2,998 11,550
of which, for rights issues: *
par value 8,438 1,801 8,900
share premium 260 8,698 945 2,746 1,497 10,397
Dividends distributed 13.809 13,616 12,981
Public tender offers 1,930 2,034 455
Balance (6,852) (12,652) (1,880)

° Excluding placements restricted to professional investors.

* Excluding IPOs and other public offers (none were implemented during the years shown in the table), offers restricted to employees, and offers
without option rights.

During the twelve months under review banks resumed fund-raising on a
massive scale, equivalent to the levels seen in 2009-10 and 2011-12, accounting
for the vast majority of the rights issues that were implemented (almost nine-
tenths), and with some seven-tenths of the funds requested having been raised
by end-June 2014. Public offerings also recovered some importance, raising
€924m (compared with €52m the previous year), while share premium reserves
again fell sharply, from 34% to 14%, a level which was higher than only 2011-
12 out of the last 26 years. Issues reserved for staff members, generally as part
of stock option schemes, recorded a reduction in value terms, from €151m in
2012-13 to €138m, remaining insignificant and involving 18 companies as
opposed to 15 the previous year. The most recent convertibe bond issues took
place in 2010-11.
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After remaining stable in 2012-13, dividends showed a reduction of
approx. 5% (from €13.6bn to €12.9bn), with the payout ratio declining from
51% to 49%. The reduction in dividends paid by industrial companies (down
€1.3bn) and banks (down €0.4bn) was largely offset by banks and insurances
(up €1bn). By percentage, the insurances saw their share of all dividends
distributed increase from 4.5% to 12%, helped by reductions in the shares
recorded by the industrial companies (down 5%, from 83% to 78%) and banks
(down 2%, from 12% to 10%). More than half the listed companies failed to
pay dividends, but they still represent barely 14% of the aggregate market
capitalization (compared with 12% the previous year). The public tender
offers carried out did not result in any companies being delisted (as opposed
to seven delistings in 2012-13).

The net 2013 aggregate results posted by Italian companies listed at end-
June 2014 were again negative, as was the case in 2011 (albeit by a more
substantial amount), with a combined €4.7bn loss being recorded, as against a
€7.7bn profit in 2012. The sharp decline in the results posted by banks (whose
losses increased from €1.8bn to €21.4bn) was only mitigated in part by the
higher profits earned by the industrial companies, of €14.7bn (€9bn), with the
insurance groups’ profits growing from €0.5bn to €1.9bn.

The contributing factors in the banks’ poor performance included the
contraction in net revenues (which were down €2.1bn, chiefly on account of
the €3.5bn reduction in net interest income), the €7.7bn rise in loan loss
provisions, higher depreciation and amortization charges (which were up
€4.2bn), and, in particular, a €12.1bn increase in writedowns to goodwill
amortization. The impact of the loss was softened by the €1.2bn reduction
in labour costs, higher net gains on disposals and buybacks (up €2.7bn),
and more substantial tax credit (which was up €2.8bn). In 2013 regulatory
capital fell by 4.7%; while an even more pronounced, 5.6% reduction in risk-
weighted assets drove improvement in the solvency ratio (which was up from
13.8% to 14%). Leverage, expressed in terms of the ratio between total assets
and tangible net equity (excluding the so-called Tremonti bonds) fell from
20.8x to 19.6x (compared with an average for the leading European banking
groups of approx. 23.6x, down from 26.2x in 2012).
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The insurance companies improved on their 2012 result, up €1.4bn to
€1.9bn (ROE 7.7%, vs 2% last year). The €4bn reduction in net claims,
along with the reduced tax burden (€0.3bn), more than offset the reduction in
underwriting revenues (down €1bn), the €1.4bn increase in sundry operating
costs, and the poorer net performance by other assets under management

(€0.4bn).

Industrial groups showed a significant improvement in their operating
profit, which increased from €9bn to €14.7bn, with the return on equity up
from 4.6% to 7.6%. The reduction in value added (€8.9bn) was offset by a
good performance from non-recurring items, the balance of which improved
by €9.4bn (net writedowns up €5bn, net gains on disposals up €3.8bn, net
extraordinary income up €0.6bn); while income tax remaining low (at €4.8bn)
was the principal driver of the €5.6bn increase in net profit. The profits earned
by companies listed on the STAR segment were up slightly, from €0.7bn
to €0.8bn (with the ROE increasing from 7.5% to 8.5%). The industrial
companies’ aggregate net equity showed a slight, 2.2% increase; which, along

with a minor, 0.7% reduction in debt, led to a lower debt/equity ratio than in
2012, at 121% (125%).

The Mediobanca share price index recovered strongly during the twelve
months, gaining 43% (48% in the total return version), driven in particular by
banks (which rose 74%), with the industrials (up 36%) and insurances (up 22%)
also higher but underperforming the market average.

The average daily value of stocks traded on the MTA in the twelve months
ended 30 June 2014 was around 23% higher than the previous year (up from
€2bn to €2.5bn per session). The free float also rose, from 58% to 60%, the
highest level since 1996, while the turnover ratio fell slightly, edging down
from 19% to 18%. Volatility continued its decline, returning to pre-crisis levels
(1.8%, compared with 2% the previous year and 2.7% in 2011-12). Since the
reporting date share prices have slown slightly, declining by approx. 4% in the
months until 1 September 2014, largely due to the falls posted by the banks
index (down 5%).
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In the twelve months to 2 April 2014, the increase in share prices on western
stock markets was reflected in the changes recorded in both the price/earnings
ratios and dividend yields. The indexes generally showed reductions, some
significant, or at best remained stable:

Price/dividend (%) Price/earnings (%)

2013 2014 2013 2014
Benelux ** 3.4 3.2 6.4 5.2
France * 2.8 2.3 5.4 5.2
Germany * 2.8 2.3 5.8 4.9
Ttaly * 3.2 3.1 77 6.3
United Kingdom * 3.3 2.8 6.2 5.3
United States * 2.4 2.4 5.7 5.3
Switzerland ** 3.1 3.0 5.0 5.0

*  Top 50 profitable, dividend-paying companies by market capitalization.

##  Top 20 profitable, dividend-paying companies by market capitalization.

NB: Median indicators based on share prices at 2 April 2014. The changes in prices on the principal stock markets between 2 April 2013 and
2 April 2014 were as follows (indexes used are in brackets): Ttaly up 46.2% (Mediobanca MTA), Switzerland up 7.7% (SMI), Netherlands
up 15.2% (AEX), Germany up 18.1% (CDAX), United States up 20.4% (S&P 500), Belgium up 21.7% (BAS), France up 18.5% (SBF 250),
United Kingdom up 4.9% (FTSE All-Share).

Assets managed by mutual funds incorporated under Italian law (including
funds of funds, closed and hedge funds) continued their recovery in terms of
AUM, which in March 2014 had risen to €176.3bn, compared with €156.9bn at
end-June 2013. The increase is due, in virtually equal measure, to positive net
inflows of €10.6bn and operating profit for the nine months of €8.8bn. Roundtrip
funds also performed well, and like the Italian UCI, were helped mostly by
subsecriptions outweighing redemptions (by €18.4bn), as well as the positive
operating performance (approx. €10.8bn). At end-March 2014 assets managed
by such funds had risen to €249.3bn, from €220.1bn nine months previously.

The aggregate market capitalization of listed companies at 30 June 2014
totalled €496bn, compared with €353bn twelve months earlier, with the free
float increasing from €204bn to €300bn; the €136bn increase, net of rights
issues and changes to the stock market composition, is due largely to changes
in market prices.

k koK
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The Italian consumer credit market shrank by 5.3% in 2013 compared to
the previous year, equivalent to a total of €45.5bn in finance.

This trend was reversed during the first six months of 2014, with the sector
reporting a small increase in new loans disbursed (up 0.3%).

This improved performance is the result of growth in automotive financing
(cars and motorbikes), which were up 4.3% on 1H 2013, and in credit cards (up
4.5%). All the other segments, though, showed reductions, in particular special
purpose loans (down 8.6%) and salary-backed finance (down 4.1%), while the
fall in personal loans was less marked, at 2.1%.

2010 2011 2012 2013 1H 2014

€m Yo €m Yo €m % €m Y% €m Yo
Vehicle credit 13,671  26.1 12,217 23.6 9,934 20.7 9,333 20.5 5,228 22.2
Personal loans 19,232 36.7 19,882 384 17,131  35.6 15,367 339 8,087 34.4
Specific-purpose loans 4,222 8.1 3,980 77 3.878 8.1 3,690 8.1 1,698 7.2
Credit cards 10,350  19.7 11,152 21.6 13,064 27.2 12,788  28.1 6,433 27.3
Salary-backed finance 4,920 9.4 4,507 8.7 4,067 8.4 4,254 9.4 2,101 8.9

52,395 100.0 51,738 100.0 48,074 100.0 45,432 100.0 23,547 100.0

Source: Assofin.

Following a 9.2% reduction in real estate transactions in 2013, the Italian
residential property market showed some signs of improvement in 1H 2014,
with a 4.1% increase in deals compared to those recorded in the same period in
2013. The mortgage market similarly performed poorly in 2013 (down 14% on
2012) but with some signs of improvement in the first half of 2014.

The Italian leasing market, which has been in decline since 2010, showed
signs of recovery in 2013 which then consolidated in the first six months of 2014
(up 6.8% on the same period the previous year), in part as a result of the more
favourable regulatory framework.

2010 2011 2012 2013 1H 2014

€m Yo €m Yo €m Yo €m Yo €m Yo
Vehicles 5777 211 5,679 231 4,855  29.2 4,568  31.7 2,596 33.6
Core goods 11,584  42.4 11,120 45.2 7,829 47.0 6,741  46.7 3,146 40.7
Property 8,898 32.6 7,024 28,5 3,587  21.5 2,939 204 1,907 24.7
Yachts 1.077 3.9 783 3.2 385 2.3 179 1.2 80 1.0

27,336 100.0 24,606 100.0 16,656 100.0 14,427 100.0 7,729 100.0

Source: Assilea.
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Consolidated financial statements *

The consolidated profit and loss account and balance sheet have been
restated — including by business area — in the usual way, in order to provide the
most accurate reflection of the Group’s operations. The results are also presented
in the format recommended by the Bank of Italy as an annex, along with further
details on how the various items have been restated.

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg. (%)

Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 1,028.0 1,086.9 5.7
Treasury income 200.2 45.1 -77.5
Net fee and commission income 409.7 423.9 3.5
Equity-accounted companies 9.5) 263.5 n.m.
Total income 1,628.4 1,819.4 11.7
Labour costs (379.5) (379.0) -0.1
Administrative expenses (372.9) (412.4) 10.6
Operating costs (752.4) (791.4) 5.2
Gains (losses) on AFS, HTM and L&R 16.7 242.5 n.m.
Loan loss provisions (506.5) (736.0) 45.3
Provisions for financial assets (404.2) (30.6) n.m.
Other profits (losses) (4.8) (2.9 -39.6
Profit before tax (22.8) 501.0 n.m.
Tncome tax for the period (157.6) (39.6) -74.9
Minority interest 4.2 3.4 -19.0
Net profit (176.2) 464.8 n.m.

* For a description of the methods by which the data has been restated, see also the section entitled “Significant accounting policies”.
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RESTATED BALANCE SHEET

(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14
Assets

Treasury funds 8.199.7 9.323.8
AFS securities 11,489.8 8,418.5
of which: fixed-income 9,967.1 7,152.9
equities 1,507.8 1,254.6
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 2,053.5 2,046.3
Loans and advances to customers 33.455.4 30.,552.1
Equity investments 2,586.9 2,871.4
Tangible and intangible assets 707.7 715.4
Other assets 1,247.3 1,493.4
of which: tax assets 896.1 1.096.9
Total assets 59,740.3 55,420.9

Liabilities and net equity
Funding 51,287.8 45,834.0
of which: debt securities in issue 25,856.4 22,617.7
retail deposits 11,874.2 11,481.6
Other liabilities 1,312.2 1,449.2
of which: tax liabilities 608.0 596.2
Provisions 192.2 195.0
Net equity 7,124.3 74779
of which: share capital 430.6 430.7
reserves 6,586.2 6,942.7
minority interest 107.5 104.5
Profit for the period (176.2) 464.8
Total liabilities and net equity 59,740.3 55,420.9
Tier 1 capital 6,153.2 6,506.7
Regulatory capital 8,155.4 8,082.9
Tier 1 capital/risk-weighted assets 11.75% 11.08%
Regulatory capital/risk-weighted assets 15.57% 13.76%
No. of shares in issue (millions) 861.1 861.4
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BALANCE-SHEET/PROFIT-AND-LOSS DATA BY DIVISION

(€m)
30/6/14 Corporate Principal Retail &  Corporate Group
& Private Investing Consumer center
banking Banking
Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 273.0 — 769.9 46.6 1,086.9
Treasury income 23.2 29.7 0.4 0.1) 45.1
Net fee and commission income 303.5 — 163.7 6.4 423.9
Equity-accounted companies — 258.6 — — 263.5
TOTAL INCOME 599.7 288.3 934.0 52.9 1,819.4
Labour costs (195.6) 8.8 (150.7) (33.3) (379.0)
Administrative expenses (137.7) (1.7) (285.4) (23.1) (412.4)
OPERATING COSTS (333.3) (10.5) (436.1) (56.4) (791.4)
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares 2.2 240.2 — — 242.5
Loan loss provisions (231.0) — 473.2) (32.8) (736.0)
Provisions for financial assets (5.9) (25.3) — — (30.6)
Other profits (losses) (3.6) — (5.0) 2.1 (2.9)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 28.1 492.7 19.7 (34.2) 501.0
Income tax for the period (10.9) (43.4) 3.6 9.0 (39.6)
Minority interest — — — 3.4 3.4
NET PROFIT 17.2 449.3 23.3 (21.8) 464.8
Cost/Income ratio (%) 55.6 3.6 46.7 n.m. 43.5
Balance-sheet figures
Treasury funds 10,721.6 — 8,753.9 112.4 9,323.8
AFS securities 6,812.7 1.242.6 697.4 — 8,418.5
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 5,013.9 —_ 1,528.2 —_ 2,046.3
Equity investments — 2,775.2 — — 2,871.4
Loans and advances to customers 22.853.0 — 14.,269.5 3,001.7 30,552.1
of which: to Group companies 9,114.1 n.m. n.m. n.m. n.m.
Funding (42,968.4) —(24.3352)  (3.000.7)  (45,834.0)
Risk-weighted assets 33,763.7 11,346.8 11,162.6 2,471.0 58,744.1
No. of staff 986 * — 2,365 348 3,570

* Includes 129 staff employed by Banca Esperia pro-forma, not included in the Group total.

Notes:

1) Divisions comprise:

— CIB (Corporate and investment banking): comprises wholesale banking (WSB)), which includes lending, structured finance and investment
banking activity, and private banking (PB), which includes Compagnie Monégasque de Banque, Spafid and Prudentia, plus 50% of Banca

Esperia pro-forma;

— Principal Investing: brings together all equity investments in associates (IAS 28) and AFS assets;
— Retail and Consumer Banking: consumer credit and retail banking activities; the division includes Compass, Futuro, Compass RE, Cofactor,

Creditech and CheBancal;

Corporate Centre: brings together the other Group companies (including leasing) and certain centralized Group costs (including in respect

of the Board of Directors).

2) Sum of divisional data differs from Group total due to:

— Banca Esperia being consolidated pro-rata (50%) rather than equity-accounted;
— adjustments/differences arising on consolidation between business areas (€2.2m as at 30 June 2014 and €1.6m as at 30 June 2013).
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(€m)

30/6/13 Corporate & Principal Retail &  Corporate Group
Private Investing Consumer center
banking Banking

Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 287.7 — 696.4 46.3 1,028.0
Treasury income 211.9 17.8 (15.8) — 200.2
Net fee and commission income 268.8 — 173.4 9.1 409.7
Equity-accounted companies — 9.9 — — 9.5)
TOTAL INCOME 768.4 7.9 854.0 55.4 1,628.4
Labour costs (207.8) 9.6) (146.6) (33.2) (379.5)
Administrative expenses (125.5) (1.6) (255.4) (23.8) (372.9)
OPERATING COSTS (333.3) (11.2) (402.0) (57.0) (752.4)
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares 3.8 16.7 — — 16.7
Loan loss provisions (121.5) — (360.1) (25.3) (506.5)
Provisions for financial assets 15.1 (422.3) — — (404.2)
Other profits (losses) (4.8) — 0.5) (4.4) (4.8)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 327.7 (408.9) 91.4 (31.3) (22.8)
Income tax for the period (123.0) 1.8 (46.9) 7.5 (157.6)
Minority interest — — — 4.2 4.2
NET PROFIT 204.7 (407.1) 44.5 (19.6) (176.2)
Cost/Income ratio (%) 43.4 n.m. 47.1 n.m. 46.2
Balance-sheet figures
Treasury funds 10,112.3 — 9,028.4 117.4 8,199.7
AFS securities 9.,408.5 1,493.8 871.8 — 11,489.8
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 5,017.4 —_ 1,747.0 —_ 2,053.5
Equity investments — 2,500.1 — — 2,586.9
Loans and advances to customers 25,802.4 — 13,694.2 3,453.0 33,455.4

of which: to Group companies 9,047.2 — — — —
Funding (48,758.7) . (24.3842)  (32153) (51,287.8)
Risk-weighted assets 34,503.6 4,118.5 10,570.6 3,179.4 52,372.1
No. of staff 980 * — 2,346 308 3,505

* Includes 129 staff employed by Banca Esperia pro-forma, not included in the Group total
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Balance sheet

The main balance-sheet items, of which Mediobanca S.p.A. contributes just
under 60%, showed the following trends for the twelve months under review
(comparative data as at 30 June 2013):

Funding — this item fell from €51.3bn to €45.8bn, as a result of maturities in
the debt securities component (€8.9bn), only partly offset by the new issues
(€5.5bn). CheBanca! retail funding similarly declined, from €11.9bn to €11.5bn,
part of which (€1.5bn) was converted into indirect funding; as did use of the
ECB’s LTRO (repaid as to €2bn). The other sources of funding remained stable.

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) Yo (€m) K
Debt securities 25,856.4 50% 22,617.7 49% -12.5%
CheBanca! retail funding 11,874.2 23% 11,481.6 25% -3.3%
Interbank funds 2,718.3 5% 2,865.5 6% 5.4%
LTROs 7,500.0 15% 5,500.0 12% -26.7%
Other funds 3,338.9 7% 3,369.2 8% 0.9%
Total funding 51,287.8 100% 45,834.0 100% -10.6%

Loans and advances to customers — the 8.7% reduction in this item was due
to wholesale lending (down 19.5%) and leasing (down 13.1%) reflecting reduced
corporate demand and early redemptions totalling approx. €3bn. Mortgage loans
increased by 3%, as did consumer finance (up 4.8%), with new loans totalling
€467m (€289m) and €5,284.6m (€5,006.6m) respectively. Net non-performing
loans rose by 17%, from €989.2m to €1,157.6m, including as a result of the new
EBA classifications for the Asset Quality Review. NPLs thus increased from
2.9% to 3.8% of the total loan book, with the coverage ratio rising from 45% to
50%. Non-performing items totalled €271m (€262.7m), and account for 0.89%
(0.78%) of the loan book.

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) 4 (€m) 4
Wholesale banking 15,505.2 46% 12,478.3 41% -19.5%
Private banking 803.0 2% 802.9 3% —
Consumer 9,427.7 28% 9,876.9 32% 4.8%
Retail banking 4,266.5 14% 4,392.6 14% 3.0%
Leasing 3,453.0 10% 3,001.4 10% -13.1%
Total loans and advances to customers 33,455.4 100% 30,552.1 100% -8.7%
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30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) Y% (€m) Yo

Wholesale banking 254.6 26% 403.6 35% 58.5%
Private banking 9.9 1% 75 1% -24.2%
Consumer 368.7 37% 342.1 29% -71.2%
Retail banking 121.9 12% 145.2 13% 19.1%
Leasing 234.1 24% 259.2 22% 10.7%
Total net non performing loans 989.2 100% 1,157.6 100% 17.0%

- of which: bad loans 262.7 271.0 3.2%

At the reporting date there were eight significant exposures to groups of
customers (including market risk and equity investments), i.e. above 10% of
regulatory capital (unchanged versus 30 June 2013), involving a lower nominal
amount of €11,500.7m (€12,043.5m) and a weighted amount of €8,911.7m
(€10,869.9m).

Equity investments — these increased from €2,586.9m to €2,871.4m, due to an
increase in the value of the Assicurazioni Generali investment (from €2,460.7m
to €2,767.4m) reflecting the €261 m profit for the period, and a €138.4m increase
in the valuation reserve after €92.7m in dividends were collected. As for the
other investments, the value of the Burgo Group stake (22.13%, carried at a
book value of €19m as at 30 June 2013) was reduced to zero, while that of Banca
Esperia (50%) was increased from €86.7m to €97.6m following the results for
the period. The value of the Athena Private Equity investment (24.27%) fell
from €19.8m to €5.7m, due to redemptions of €16m collected following the
disposal of virtually all the fund’s investments.

% share capital 30/6/13 30/6/14
Assicurazioni Generali 13.24 2,460.7 2,767.4
Banca Esperia 50.0 860.7 97.6
Athena Private Equity 24.27 19.8 5.7
Fidia 25.0 0.7 0.7
Burgo Group 22.13 19.0 —
Total Investments 2,586.9 2,871.4

Based on stock market prices as at 30 June 2014, the unrealized gain on the
Assicurazioni Generali investment amounted to €532.2m, or approx. €577.5m
based on current prices.
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Fixed financial assets — the slight reduction in this item, from €2,053.5m to
€2,046.3m, represents the balance between redemptions on securities stated
at cost (€293m) and acquisitions on the HTM portfolio (€311m, concentrated
in corporate bonds). The unrealized gain on such assets at the reporting date

totalled €133.9m (€47.8m).

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) % (€m) %
Financial assets held to maturity 1,447.8 1% 1,659.8 81% 14.6%
Unlisted debt securities (stated at cost) 605.7 29% 386.5 19% -36.2%
Total fixed financial assets 2,053.5 100% 2,046.3 100% -0.4%
30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

Book value Yo Book value Yo
Ttalian government securities 359.9 18% 361.4 18% 0.4%
Other government securities 1,252.3 61% 1,023.2 50% -18.3%
- of which: Italian 414.7 20% 442.8 22% 6.8%
Corporate bonds 441.3 21% 661.7 32% 49.9%
Total debt securities 2,053.5 100% 2,046.3 100% -0.4%

AFS securities — the value of the AFS securities portfolio fell from €11,489.8m
to €8,418.5m, due to the disposals completed during the year involving a net
€3.6bn across all segments.

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.
(€m) % (€m) %
Debt securities 9,967.1 87% 7,152.9 85% -28.2%
Equities 1,507.8 13% 1,254.6 15% -16.8%
Others 14.9 — 11.0 — -26.2%
Total AFS securities 11,489.8 100% 8,418.5 100% -26.7%

On the fixed-income side, holdings in Italian government securities were
cut from €7.2bn to €4.8bn, with roughly half the positions which expired
during the twelve months being renewed.

30/6/13 30/6/14
Book Value Yo Total AFS Book Value Yo Total AFS
reserve reserve
Ttalian government securities 7,193.8 72% 41.2 4,796.1 67% 91.2
Other government securities 114.4 1% 2.4 180.4 3% 2.7
Financial bonds 2,111.1 21% 11.1 1.582.3 22% 55.6
- of which: Italian 1,180.5 12% (5.1) 880.3 12% 254
Corporate bonds 547.8 6% 37.1 594.1 8% 40.5
Total debt securities 9,967.1 100% 91.8 7,152.9 100% 190.0
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On the equity side the disposals continued, with €664.1m having been sold
since the reporting date last year, in particular the entire holdings in Atlantia
(formerly Gemina), Saks and the UniCredit CASHES, plus the partial disposal
of the Telco shareholders’ loan and RCS MediaGroup. Overall these disposals
generated gains totalling €242.5m. Other items worthy of note were the €66.9m
(€60.8m) increase attributable to the RCS Media Group capital issue carried out
in July 2013, the partial writedown of the Edipower investment (by €2.9m) to
bring it in line with the net asset value following the impairment charges taken
on some assets by the company, plus other adjustments totalling €5.8m, mostly
in respect of unlisted equities. The fair value of this portfolio at the reporting
date reflected a surplus over book value of €351.5m.

30/6/13 30/6/14

Book % ord. Total AFS Book % ord. Total AFS

value reserve value reserve
Pirelli & C. 195.0 4.61 — 256.9 4.61 61.9
Ttalmobiliare 34.6 9.5 — 59.2 9.5 24.7
RCS MediaGroup 20.3 14.93 — 39.9 6.2 —
Gemina 203.1 10.01 10.0 — —
Unicredit CASHES 148.2 11.8 — —
Saks 54.9 3.42 22.2 — —
Other listed companies 142.8 16.9 43.8 6.9
Sintonia S.p.A. 302.9 5.94 — 449.2 5.94 146.2
Telco shareholders' loan 78.3 — 113.3 69.7
Telco SpA — 11.62 — 22.0 7.34 22.0
Edipower 60.2 4.1 — 57.3 5.13 —
Sante S.A. 30.0 9.92 — 39.0 9.92 9.0
Other unlisted companies 237.5 17.7 174.0 32.4
Total equities 1,507.8 78.6 1,254.6 372.8

The valuation reserve increased from €170.4m to €562.8m, despite the
disposals for the period, due to the positive performance by financial markets:
€93.5m of the total involves listed shares, €279.3m other unlisted shares,
€91.2m ltalian government securities, and €98.8m other bonds.

Treasury assets — the increase in this item, from €8,199.7m to €9,323.8m,
largely involves money market assets (up €2.2bn), in particular the reinvestment
of debt securities. The rise in equities, meanwhile, is due to short-term
operaptions hedged by derivatives.

Review of Operations | 29



30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) Y% (€m) Yo
Debt securities 3,507.6 43% 2,667.6 29% -23.9%
Equities 1,068.2 13% 1,173.6 13% 9.9%
Derivative contract valuations (460.3) -6% (797.3) -9% 73.2%
Others (cash, repos, time deposits) 4,084.2 50% 6,279.9 67% 53.8%
Total net treasury assets 8,199.7 100% 9,323.8 100% 13.7%
30/6/13 30/6/14

Book Value Yo Book Value Yo

Ttalian government securities 166.1 4.7% 443.8 16.6%
German government securities 1,343.5 38.3% 516.9 19.4%
Other government securities 605.3 17.3% 329.2 12.3%
Financial bonds 1,199.2 34.2% 1,097.6 41.1%
- of which: Italian 749.0 21.4% 600.8 22.5%
Corporate bonds 193.5 5.5% 280.1 10.5%
Total debt securities 3,507.6 100.0% 2,667.6 100.0%

Tangible and intangible assets — the increase in this item, from €707.7m
to €715.4m, reflects the collection of a previously leased property (€9.7m) as
well as investments in systems and equipment at the new property owned by
Group company Mediobanca Innovation Services (formerly Seteci; €8.2m) to
which part of the Group’s back office and IT activities have been transferred.
At the reporting date the value of the former Linea brand Carta Viva was reduced
from €2.7m to zero, having ceased to be used. Goodwill and the Linea brand
itself, meanwhile, continue to be carried at book values of €365.9m and €3.6m
respectively, both having passed the impairment test.

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) Y% (€m) Yo
Land and properties 256.9 36% 263.0 37% 2.4%
- of which: core 196.5 28% 195.3 27% -0.6%
Other tangible assets 38.5 5% 43.1 6% 11.9%
Goodwill 365.9 52% 365.9 51% —
Other intangible assets 46.4 7% 43.4 6% -6.5%
Total tangible and intangible assets 707.7 100% 715.4 100% 1.1%
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An updated list of the properties owned by the Group is provided below:

Squ. m Book value Book value per
(€m) squ. m
(€000)
Milan:

— Piazzetta Enrico Cuccia 1 6,874 17.2 2.5
— Via Filodrammatici 3, 5, 7 - Piazzetta Bossi 1 11,093 60.9 5.5
— Piazza Paolo Ferrari 6 1,967 4.6 2.3
— Foro Buonaparte 10 3,918 7.7 2.0
— Via Siusi 1-7 22,608 27.1 1.2
Rome * 1,790 8.6 4.8
Vicenza 4,239 5.6 1.3
Luxembourg 442 4.3 9.7
Principato di Monaco 4,576 57.5 12.6
Other minor properties 5,608 1.8 0.3

63,115 195.3

* The Piazza di Spagna property, carried at a book value of €26.3m, is only part-used by Mediobanca and is therefore not classified as a core asset.

Provisions — these rose from €192.2m to €195m, due to actuarial valuations

of the staff severance indemnity provision (which rose from minus €1.1m to
€1.1m).

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) % (€m) %
Provisions for risks and charges 164.5 86% 166,3 85% 1,1%
Staff severance indemnity provision 27,7 14% 28,7 15% 3.6%
of which: staff severance provision discount (1,1) -1% 1.1 1% n.m.
Total provisions 192,2 100% 195,- 100% 1,5%

The provision for risks and charges largely serves to cover possible
indemnities payable as a result of the litigation pending (cf. p. 53 and 54).

Net equity — the 14.6%, or €997.5m, increase in this item reflects the profit for
the period (€464.8m), the higher valuation reserve (up €564.1m), in respect of
AFS securities in particular, and the contribution from Assicurazioni Generali.
The company’s share capital increased from €430.6m to €430.7m, following the
exercise of 277,500 stock options involving an amount of €1.8m, including the
share premium reserve.
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(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14. Chg.

Share capital 430.6 430.7 —
Other reserves 6,280.5 6,072.6 -3.3%
Valuation reserves 305.7 869.8 n.m.
- of which: AFS securities 144.6 484.8 n.m.

cash flow hedges -81.3 (49.4) -39.2%

equity investments 232.6 426.5 83.4%

Profit for the period (176.2) 464.8 n.m.
Total Group net equity 6,840.6 7,837.9 14.6%

Of the AFS reserve €372.8m involves equities and €199.6m bonds and

other debt securities (including €91.2m ltalian government securities), net of

the €87.6m tax effect.
(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14. Chg.
Equities 78.6 372.8 n.m.
Bonds and other debt securities 103.1 199.6 n.m.
- of which: Italian 49.5 91.2 84.2%
Tax effect (37.1) (87.6) n.m.
Total AFS reserve 144.6 484.8 n.m.

Profit and loss account

Net interest income — in a scenario where interest rates have fallen further

from already low levels, against a cost of funding which remains high for banks,

net interest income rose by 5.7%, continuing the trend witnessed in recent

quarters: a positive performance in consumer business (up 13.4%), on good

average volumes, and a reduction in wholesale business (down 5.8%), due to the

decrease in corporate loans as a result of early repayments.

(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

Wholesale banking 246.9 232.7 -5.8%
Private banking 40.8 40.3 -1.2%
Consumer 554.6 628.8 13.4%
Retail banking 141.8 141.1 -0.5%
Others (including intercompany accounts) 43.9 44.0 0.2%
Net interest income 1,028.0 1,086.9 5.7%
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Treasury income — the strong reduction in this item reflects the performance
by the fixed-income income segment, which despite the gains realized on
disposals from the banking book (AFS and HTM), reflects the low volatility on
markets and the price effect on the securities held for trading, with coupons
exceeding the market returns, which increases net interest income but reduces
market value. The equity component’s contribution was stable as a result of the
higher dividends collected on AFS shares.

(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14. Chg.
Dividends 17.9 29.7 65.9%
Fixed-income trading profit 121.9 (32.9) n.m.
Equity trading profit 60.4 48.3 -20%
Net trading income 200.2 45.1 -77.5%

Net fee and commission income — net fee and commission income was up
3.5%, due to a good performance in wholesale banking (up 13.6%), capital
markets activity in particular (which more than doubled, from €45.7m to
€92.1m); consumer finance reported an 11% reduction caused by a change in
the composition of the new business, with reduced penetration from insurance
business. Growth in fee income generated from private banking continued
(up 10.9%), reflecting an increase in volumes and higher returns on assets
under management on a discretionary and non-discretionary basis, and higher
brokerage fees as well; as did, even more so, the growth in fees earned from
retail business (up 53.4%), on the back of an impressive performance in sales of
financial products as part of the new asset management initiative.

(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

Wholesale banking 198.4 225.4 13.6%
Private banking 70.4 78.1 10.9%
Consumer 158.6 141 -11.1%
Retail banking 14.8 22.7 53.4%
Others (including intercompany accounts) (32.5) (43.3) 33.2%
Net fee and commission income 409.7 423.9 3.5%

Equity-accounted companies — these companies contributed a profit of
€263.5m, compared with a €9.5m loss last year, representing the balance
between positive contributions from Assicurazioni Generali (up from €16.8m to
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€261m), Banca Esperia (up from €0.4m to €5m) and Athena (€1.8m, compared
with a €4m loss last year), and the share in the loss incurred in the first half by
Burgo Group (€4.4m, versus €10.1m last year).

Operating costs — these rose by 5.2%, driven by higher administrative expenses
relating to IT projects (up €6.7m) and development costs in new consumer and
retail initiatives (marketing and communication costs in particular). Conversely,
labour costs remained virtually flat, at €379m (€379.5m), due to a 12% reduction
in the variable salary component in wholesale banking and the reduced weight
of stock option costs, for which the vesting period closed during the year under

review.
(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.
Labour costs 379.5 379.0 -0.1%
of which: directors 8.0 8.2 2.5%
stock option and performance share schemes 16.9 12.2 -27.8%
Sundry operating costs and expenses 3729 412.4 10.6%
of which: depreciation and amortization 41.2 41.1 -0.2%
administrative expenses 528.4 366.9 11.7%
Operating costs 752.4 791.4 5.2%
(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.
Legal, tax and professional services 35.5 38.6 8.7%
Credit recovery activities 334 37.7 12.9%
Marketing and communication 47.3 62.5 32.1%
Rent and property maintenance 36.5 36.7 0.5%
EDP 39.1 49.8 27.4%
Financial information subscriptions 27.0 27.8 3.0%
Bank services, collection and payment commissions 20.4 17.0 -16.7%
Operating expenses 49.1 52.2 6.3%
Other labour costs 18.5 18.5 0.0%
Other costs 10.2 11.5 12.7%
Direct and indirect taxes 11.4 14.6 28.1%
Total administrative expenses 328.4 366.9 11.7%

Gains and losses on disposals of AFS securities — this item chiefly reflects
the disposals, already mentioned, of the stakes held in Telco (€67.2m, including
gains realized on the Telefonica shares), Gemina/Atlantia (€70.9m), Saks
(€28.9m) and the UniCredit CASHES (€42.8m).
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Loan loss provisions — the 45.3% increase in this item, from €506.5m to €736m,
involves all segments and reflects the ongoing difficulties being encountered
by both businesses and households in meeting their commitments promptly, as
well as the more stringent classification criteria and the increase in the coverage
ratios in line with the Asset Quality Review. Provisioning on the wholesale side
in particular (which increased from €120.1m to €233.1m) reflects the rise in
NPLs, from €254.6m to €403.6m, and an increase in the coverage ratio, from
39% to 49%; and on the consumer side (up from €335m to €445.3m) reflects the
higher coverage ratio of 64% (from 56%) despite the reduction in non-performing
items (from €368.7m to €342.1m). Mortgages (for which provisions were up from
€25.1m to €27.9m) reflect higher NPLs of €145.2m (€121.9m) with the coverage
ratio unchanged at 47%. Provisioning for leasing, finally, increased from €25.3m
to €32.8m, following an 11.8% rise in non-performing items with the coverage
ratio virtually unchanged at 29% (30%). Conversely, the reduction in the number
of bad debts in private banking resulted in a €2.1m writeback being credited to
the profit and loss account. The cost of risk in the twelve months under review rose
from 145 bps to 230 bps, while the coverage ratio increased from 45% to 50%.

(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

Wholesale banking 120.1 233.1 n.m.
Private banking 1.0 -3.1 n.m.
Consumer 335.0 445.3 32.9%
Retail banking 25.1 279 11.2%
Other 25.3 32.8 29.6%
Loan loss provisions 506.5 736.0 45.3%
Cost of risk (bps) 145 230 58.4%

Provisions for other financial assets — this item includes the €18.6m writedown
charged to the Burgo investment, along with the customary adjustments made to

reflect the shares’ current stock market prices and NAV. Provisions for bonds involve
application of the collective model to the fixed asset portfolio (HTM and L&R).

(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14

Equity investments 189.4 18.6
Shares 233.0 8.7
Bonds (19.0) 3.3
Others 0.8 —
Total 404.2 30.6
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Income tax for the period — with pre-tax profit improving strongly compared
to last year, the reduction in income tax for the twelve months under review, from
€157.6m to €39.6m, reflects the fact that a substantial share of the Group’s taxable
income consists of gains on investments which are subject to reduced rates of
taxation (under the PEX regime), as well as the benefit arising from the possibility
of deducting customer loan loss provisions for IRAP purposes as well.

Mediobanca (as consolidating entity) has adopted tax consolidation, which
includes Compass, SelmaBipiemme Leasing, Palladio Leasing, CheBancal,
Creditech (formerly Cofactor) and Futuro. Relations between the consolidating
and consolidated entities are governed by bilateral agreements regulating cash
flows, exchanges of information and the individual companies’ responsibilities
versus the revenue authorities.

Balance-sheet/profit-and-loss data by division

A review of the Group’s performance in its main areas of operation is
provided below, according to the customary segmentation.

CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANKING (WHOLESALE BANKING AND
PRIVATE BANKING)

(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Y.o.Y. chg.

Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 287.7 273.0 -5.1
Treasury income 211.9 23.2 -89.1
Net fee and commission income 268.8 303.5 12.9
Total income 768.4 599.7 -22.0
Labour costs (207.8) (195.6) -5.9
Administrative expenses (125.5) (137.7) 9.7
Operating costs (333.3) (333.3) 0.0
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares 3.8 2.2 -42.1
Loan loss provisions (121.5) (231.0) n.m.
Provisions for financial assets 15.1 (5.9 n.m.
Other profits (losses) 4.8) (3.6) (25.0)
Profit before tax 327.7 28.1 n.m.
Income tax for the period (123.0) (10.9) n.m.
Net profit 204.7 17.2 n.m.

Cost/Income ratio (%) 43.4 55.6
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30/6/13 30/6/14

Balance-sheet data
Treasury funds 10,112.3 10,721.6
AFS securities 9,408.5 6,812.7
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 5,017.4 5,013.9
Loans and advances to customers 25,802.4 22.853.0
of which: to Group companies 9,047.2 9,114.1
Funding (48,758.7) (42,968.4)

This division delivered a profit of €17.2m for the twelve months, down
sharply on the €204.7m posted last year, as a result of the 89.1% reduction
in trading income and substantial increase in loan loss provisions (up from
€120.1m to €233.1m) affecting the wholesale segment which indeed reported
a €33.5m loss (compared with a €163.6m profit last year). Private banking, by

contrast, saw an improvement in net profit from €41.1m to €50.7m.

WHOLESALE BANKING

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg. (%)
Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 246.9 232.7 -5.8
Treasury income 185.1 1.4 n.m.
Net fee and commission income 198.4 2254 13.6
Total income 630.4 459.5 -27.1
Labour costs (152.9) (144.8) -5.3
Administrative expenses (93.0) (104.7) 12.6
Operating costs (245.9) (249.5) 1.5
Loan loss provisions (120.1) (233.1) n.m.
Provisions for financial assets 19.0 (3.1) n.m.
Profit before tax 283.4 (26.2) n.m.
Income tax for the period (119.8) (7.3) n.m.
Net profit 163.6 (33.5) n.m.
Cost/Income ratio (%) 39.0 54.3
30/6/13 30/6/14
Balance-sheet data
Treasury funds 9,254.0 9,851,2
AFS securities 8,825,5 6,058,9
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 5,004,3 5,000,8
Loans and advances to customers 24,549,5 21,591,5
of which: to Group companies 9,047,2 9,114,1
Funding (16,624,1) (10,552,2)
No. of staff 636 639

Wholesale banking, which as of this year comprises on the corporate and

investment banking division’s banking activity, delivered a net loss of €33.5m
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(compared with a €163.6m profit last year), reflecting the absence of treasury
income (down from €185m to €1.4m). The individual profit-and-loss account
items performed as follows:

Net interest income — net interest income fell 5.8%, from €246.9m to €232.7m,
due to a reduction in volumes traded (from €50.6bn to €47.5bn), and a reduction
on margins on lending rates which was far higher than that on funding rates, in
the first half of the year particularly.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/13 30/6/14
Interest receivable 1,927.0 1,532.6 -20.5%
Interest payable (1,733.4) (1,379.3) -20.4%
Other! 53.3 79.4 49.0%
Net interest income 246.9 232.7 -5.8%

! Includes margins on interest rate derivatives (heading 80) as well as the effect of hedging (heading 90).

Treasury income — including the gains realized on fixed-income securities
held as part of the banking book, this item showed a small net profit of €1.4m
(compared with €185.1m last year), reflecting the price effect on securities held
for trading, with coupons exceeding the market returns, and the short-term
profile of the investments; the equity component contributed €48.3m (€60.5m).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/13 30/6/14
Profit (loss) on fixed-income trading 124.6 (46.9) n.m.
of which: AFS 21.6 47.3 n.m.
Profit (loss) on equity trading 60.5 48.3 -0.2
Treasury income 185.1 1.4 n.m.

Net fee and commission income — the European investment banking
scenario last year saw further contraction in M&A business, which dropped by
32% in the twelve months ended 30 June 2014, offset by a sustained upturn
in business in equity capital markets (which grew 98%), debt capital markets
(10%) and syndicated finance (up 54%). M&A activity in particular recorded
strong reductions in Spain (38%) and the United Kingdom (40%), and lower
decreases in Germany (4%) and ltaly (2%) against a strong recovery in France
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(up 129%). Equity capital market activity, meanwhile, saw indicators recovering
in all European countries: ltaly up 53%, France up 71%, Germany up 19%,
with volumes trebling in Spain and the United Kingdom; while debt capital
market activity grew in Italy (by 52%), France (28%), the U.K. (8%) and Spain
(19%) with the sole exception of Germany (-11%).

In this scenario Mediobanca delivered an impressive performance in capital
market activities, closing more than twenty equity underwriting deals worth an
ageregate €19bn, generating fees of €66m (28m) without taking on any debt. On
the debt capital market side, the Bank participated in around fifty transactions,
generating fees of approx. €27m (€18m). By contrast, there was a reduction in
M&A fees from €48.9m to €36.6m, despite the Bank having acted as advisor
on the leading Italian domestic and international transactions, including most
notably the Transport Infrastructures Gaz France deal, the Atlantic 1 real
estate fund and Deoleo acquisitions, and assisting the Lagardere and Globus
Fzchmaerkte groups; advice on the disposal of non-strategic assets owned
by Assicurazioni Generali, Banca Carige, 11 Sole24 Ore, the Barbetti group’s
Turkish subsidiary and Rhiag. Mediobanca also acted as debt advisor to the
Itinere group and to the Nerviano research group, and as strategic advisor to
Enel (on the reorganization of its South American operations), NCG Banco SA
(Spain) and Baumax (Germany).

Overall net fee and commission income was up 13.6%, from €198.4m to

€225.4m, and breaks down as follows:

(€m)

12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/13 30/6/14
Lending 80.1 74.2 -7.4%
M&A advisory 48.9 36.6 -25.2%
Capital markets 45.7 92.1 n.m.
Markets, sales and other income 23.7 22.5 -5.1%
Net fee and commission income 198.4 225.4 13.6%

Operating costs — operating costs were virtually stable at €249.5m (€245.9m):
the €5m reduction in the variable labour cost component was offset by the
increased administrative expenses (up €11.7m) linked to IT costs (EDP and
financial information providers) and by fees payable to consultants in connection
with the adaptation and enhancement of the internal controls systems.
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(€m)

12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.
30/6/13 30/6/14

Labour costs 152.9 144.8 -5.3%

Operating and sundry other expenses 93.0 104.7 12.6%

of which: EDP 14.6 30.7 n.m.

Financial information providers 15.9 16.6 4.4%

Legal, tax and professional services 13.9 19.5 40.3%

Operating costs 245.9 249.5 1.5%

Loan loss provisions — these more or less doubled, from €120.1m to €233.1m,
following the writeoff of individual positions (€37.1m) and three positions being
classified among bad loans.

On the balance-sheet side:

Loans and advances to customers — loans to corporates fell from €15.5bn
to €12.5bn, due chiefly to early repayments (€2.9bn), with new loans for the
period (€3.4bn) covering the contractual repayments. The loan book remains
concentrated on the domestic Italian market (56.6%) and the countries where
Mediobanca has its own branches (29.9%). Non-performing loans totalled
€403.5m (€254.6m), net of provisions totalling €388.9m (€159.9m) which
account for 3.23% (1.64%) of the total loan book. The coverage ratio rose from
39% to 49%.

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) %o (€m) %
Italy 9,776.2 63.1% 7,056.2 56.6% -27.8%
France 1,378.0 8.9% 1,494.5 12.0% 8.5%
Germany 819.9 5.3% 847.1 6.8% 3.3%
U.K. 637.8 4.1% 842.6 6.8% 32.1%
USA 525.4 71% 546.6 4.4% -50.4%
Other non-resident customers 2,365.0 11.5% 1,690.4 13.4% -5.5%
Total loans and advances to customers 15,502.3 100.0% 12,477.4 100.0% -19.5%

Funding — funding declined by 13%, from €46.6bn to €40.6bn, due to the planned
reduced renewals of debt securities (€24.1bn, versus €27.6bn) and the CheBanca!
retail channel (in which deposits fell from €9.7bn to €8.7bn), plus the early, €2bn
repayment of the ECB’s LTRO. During the period there was new issuance totalling
€5.5bn, against repayments of €8.9bn, €1.1bn of which in buybacks on the market.
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30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) Y% (€m) Yo
Debt securities 27,554.2 59% 24.,082.4 59% -12.6%
Interbank funding 10,269.6 22% 9,494.5 23% -1.5%
- of which: intercompany 9,660.6 21% 8,692.7 21% -10.0%
LTRO 7,500.0 16% 5,500.0 14% -26.7%
Securitizations and other funds 1,300.3 3% 1,475.3 4% 13.5%
Total funding 46,624.1 100% 40,552.2 100% -13.0%

Banking book debt securities — these decreased from €13.8bn to €11.1bn, as
a result of the reduction in holdings of Italian government securities (from €6.6bn
to €4.5bn) and in bonds issued by financial entities (from €4.6bn to €4.2bn).

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.
(€m) Yo (€m) Yo
AFS debt securities 8,825.5 64% 6,058.9 55% -31.3%
Financial assets held to maturity 1,434.1 10% 1,645.9 15% 14.8%
Unlisted debt securities (stated at cost) 3,570.2 26% 3,354.9 30% -6.0%
Total fixed and AFS securities 13,829.8 100% 11,059.7 100% -20.0%
30/6/13 30/6/14
Book Yo Riserva Book Yo Riserva
Value AFS Value AFS
Italian government securities 6,647.6 48% 53.6 4,466.8 40% 79.9
Other government securities 94.7 1% 2.2 121.3 1% 2.1
Financial bonds 5,970.4 43% 5.9 5,244.7 47% 50.6
- of which: Italian 4,591.0 33% (5.5) 4,249.8 38% 23.5
Corporate bonds 1,117.1 8% 43.6 1,226.9 12% 42.3
Total debt securities 13,829.8 100% 105.3 11,059.7 100% 174.9

Treasury assets — the funds not used in the banking book were transferred, net
of funding applications, to treasury assets, which rose accordingly from €9.3bn
to €9.9bn, in the money market in particular (up from €5.7bn to €7.3bn).

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg.

(€m) % (€m) %
Cash 201.0 2% 224.2 2% 11.5%
Debt securities 2,837.4 31% 1,958.2 20% -31.0%
Equities 1,034.7 11% 1,169.3 12% 13.0%
Derivative contract valuations (385.3) -4% (752.7) -8% n.m.
Others (repos, time deposits, derivatives etc.) 5,566.2 60% 7.252.2 74% 30.3%
Total net treasury assets 9,254.0 100% 9,851.2 100% 6.5%

k sk ok
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PRIVATE BANKING
(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg. (%)
Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 40.8 40.3 -1.2
Treasury income 26.8 21.8 -18.7
Equity-accounted companies 70.4 78.1 10.9
Total Income 138.0 140.2 1.6
Labour costs (54.9) (50.8) -7.5
Administrative expenses (32.5) (33.0) 1.5
Operating costs (87.4) (83.8) -4.1
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares 3.8 2.2 -42.1
Loan loss provisions (1.4) 2.1 n.m.
Provisions for financial assets (3.9 (2.8 -28.2
Other profits (losses) (4.8) (3.6) -25.0
Profit before tax 44.3 54.3 22.6
Minority interest (3.2) (3.6) 12.5
Net profit 41.1 50.7 23.4
Cost/Income ratio (%) 63.3 59.8

30/6/13 30/6/14
Balance-sheet data
Treasury funds 858.3 870.4
AFS securities 582.9 753.8
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 13.1 13.1
Loans and advances to customers 1.252.9 1.261.5
Funding (2,134.6) (2.416.2)
Assets under management 13,771.5 15,035.5
Securities held on a fiduciary basis 1,357.7 1,420.3
No. of staff 344 347

Private banking delivered a net profit of €50.7m (€41.1m), on higher
revenues (up from €138m to €140.2m) driven by increased fee income of €78.1m
(€70.4m), with net interest income resilient at €40.3m (€40.8m). Operating costs
were down 4.1%, from €87.4m to €83.8m, labour costs in particular. There were
also net writebacks to loans of €2.1m, following a reduction in non-performing
items (from €9.9m to €7.5m). Assets under management on a discretionary and
non-discretionary basis at the year-end amounted to €15bn (€13.8bn), €7.3bn
(€6.7bn) for CMB and €7.7bn (€7.1bn) for Banca Esperia.
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PRINCIPAL INVESTING (EQUITY INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO)

(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Y.0.Y. chg.

Profit-and-loss data
Treasury income 17.8 29.7 60.9
Equity-accounted companies 9.9) 258.6 n.m.
Total Income 7.9 288.3 n.m.
Labour costs 9.6) (8.8) -8.3
Administrative expenses (1.6) (1.7) 6.3
Operating Costs (11.2) (10.5) -6.2
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares 16.7 240.2 n.m.
Provisions for financial assets (422.3) (25.3) n.m.
Profit Before Tax (408.9) 492.7 n.m.
Income tax for the period 1.8 (43.4) n.m.
Net Profit (407.1) 449.3 n.m.

Balance-sheet data
AFS securities 1.493.8 1.242,6
Equity investments 2.500,1 2.775,2

Principal investing recorded a profit of €449.3m for the twelve months,
compared with a €407.1m loss last year, due to the higher profits earned by
the Assicurazioni Generali (up from €16.8m to €261m), gains on disposals
(€240.2m, as against €16.7m), and and a reduction in writedowns (from €422.3m
to €25.3m). Profits for the period include €67.2m in respect of the Telco
shareholders’ loan disposal, €70.9m on the Gemina/Atlantia shares, €28.9m on
the Saks investment, and €42.8m on the UniCredit CASHES. Of the writedowns,
€18.6m involved the Burgo Group investment’s value being reduced to zero, and

€6.5m AF'S shares.
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RETAIL AND CONSUMER BANKING (FINANCIAL SERVICES TO HOUSEHOLDS)
(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14 (%)
Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 696.4 769.9 10.6
Treasury income (15.8) 0.4 n.m.
Net fee and commission income 173.4 163.7 -5.6
Total Income 854.0 934.0 9.4
Labour costs (146.6) (150.7) 2.8
Administrative expenses (255.4) (285.4) 11.7
Operating Costs (402.0) (436.1) 8.5
Loan loss provisions (360.1) (473.2) 314
Other profits (losses) 0.5) (5.0) n.m.
Profit Before Tax 91.4 19.7 -78.4
Income tax for the period (46.9) 3.6 n.m.
Net Profit 44.5 23.3 -47.6
Cost/Income ratio (%) 47.1 46.7

30/6/13 30/6/14
Balance-sheet data
Treasury funds 9,028.4 8,753.9
AFS securities 871.8 697.4
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 1,747.0 1,528.2
Loans and advances to customers 13,694.2 14,269.5
Funding (24,384.2) (21,142.3)
Cost of risk (bps) 265 338

This division reported a profit for the twelve months of €23.3m, down on the
€44.5m earned last year due to the higher cost of risk (up 31.4%, from €360.1m
to €473.2m), in the consumer segment in particular. Revenues increased by
9.4%, offsetting the 8.5% rise in operating costs linked to new commercial
initiatives. Also worth noting is the tax benefit deriving from loan loss provisions
being tax-deductible for IRAP purposes.
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CONSUMER BANKING

(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg. (%)
Profit-and-loss data
Treasury income 554.6 628.8 13.4
Equity-accounted companies 158.6 141.0 -11.1
Total Income 713.2 769.8 7.9
Labour costs (86.3) (90.1) 4.4
Administrative expenses (171.4) (187.0) 9.1
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares (257.7) (277.1) 7.5
Other profits (losses) (335.0) (445.3) 329
Profit Before Tax 120.5 47.4 -60.7
Minority interest (48.2) 1.0 n.m.
Net Profit 72.3 48.4 -33.1
Cost/Income ratio (%) 36.1 36.0
30/6/13 30/6/14

Balance-sheet data

Treasury funds 429.5 270.4
AFS securities 60.2 102.3
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 0.7 0.8
Loans and advances to customers 9,427.7 9,876.9
Funding 9,301.7) (9,660.7)
Cost of risk (bps) 360 461
New loans 5,006.5 5,284.6
No. of branches 163 158
No. of staff 1,435 1,479

Consumer banking operations recorded a €48.4m net profit in the twelve
months under review, considerably lower than the €72.3m posted last year due to
the 32.9% rise in the cost of risk, which was partly offset by the reduced tax burden
due to loan loss provisions becoming tax-deductible for IRAP purposes.

The 7.9% increase in revenues, from €713.2m to €769.8m, reflects 13.4%
growth in net interest income (from €554.6m to €628.8m) due to the higher volumes
and lower cost of funding. Operating costs, up 7.5%, reflect higher credit recovery
charges (up from €32.4m to €37.2m) and communications expenses (up from
€27.4m to €32.7m). The increase in loan loss provisions, from €335m to €445.3m,
took the cost of risk up from 360 bps to 461 bps, and reflects a substantial increase
in the coverage ratio, from 56% to 64%, as well as prudential, 0.8% coverage of
performing loans. Loans and advances to customers rose from €9.4bn to €9.9bn,
with a 5.6% increase in new loans (from €5,006.5m to €5,284.6m), despite the
declining market scenario. As a result of the higher provisioning net NPLs fell from
€368.7m to €342.1m and now account for 3.3% (3.7%) of the total loan book.
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RETAIL BANKING

(€m)
30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg. (%)
Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 141.8 141.1 -0.5
Treasury income (15.8) 0.4 n.m.
Equity-accounted companies 14.8 22.7 53.4
Total Income 140.8 164.2 16.6
Labour costs (60.3) (60.6) 0.5
Administrative expenses (84.0) (98.4) 17.1
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares (144.3) (159.0) 10.2
Provisions for financial assets (25.1) (27.9) 11.2
Other profits (losses) 0.5) (5.0) n.m.
Profit Before Tax (29.1) (27.7) -4.8
Minority interest 1.3 2.6 100.0
Net Profit (27.8) (25.1) 9.7
Cost/Income ratio (%) 102.5 96.8
30/6/13 30/6/14

Balance-sheet data

Treasury funds 8,598.9 8,483.5
AFS securities 811.6 595.1
Fixed financial assets (HTM & LR) 1,746.4 1,527.4
Loans and advances to customers 4,266.5 4,392.6
Retail funding (11,874.2) (11,481.6)
New loans 289.0 467.0
No. of branches 45 57
No. of employees 911 386

Retail banking showed a net loss of €25.1m, a slight improvement on the
€27.8m loss posted last year, due to 16.6% growth in revenues offset in part by
higher operating costs (up 10.2%) and the increased cost of risk (up 11.2%), as
well as a one-off, €5m contribution to the Italian interbank deposit protection
fund, net of which the result would be some 30% better. In particular, revenues
of €164.2m (€140.8m) reflect higher fee income (up from €14.8m to €22.7m)
generated from bond placements, in particular those issued by Mediobanca,
and asset management products (which generated net fees of €0.4m in the first
six months of operations), with net interest income stable at €141.1m (€141.8m)
as a result of the majority of the interest-bearing deposits being transferred
to centralized treasury operations at parent company level. Operating costs of
€159m (€144.3m) were higher as a result of the new commercial initiatives.
The higher provisions for mortgage loans (up from €25.1m to €27.9m) reflect
the increase in bad debts which entailed higher NPLs (up from €121.9m to
€145.2m), the latter accounting for 3.3% (2.9%) of the total loan book, with

46 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014



the coverage ratio unchanged at 47%. Mortgage loans generally were up 3%,
from €4,266.5m to €4,392.6m, with new loans virtually doubling (from €289m
to €467m). Retail deposits stood at €11,481.6m, lower than at the reporting
date when they totalled €11,874.2m. Indirect funding, meanwhile, rose from
€657m to €1,465.6m (by market value), €398.7m of which in respect of asset
management.

LEASING
(€m)

30/6/13 30/6/14 Chg. (%)
Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 46.5 46.7 0.4
Treasury income — 0.1) n.m.
Equity-accounted companies 5.8 0.4) n.m.
Total Income 52.3 46.2 -11.7
Labour costs (16.5) (15.6) -5.5
Administrative expenses (13.6) (12.4) -8.8
Gain (losses) on disposal of AFS shares (30.1) (28.0) -7.0
Provisions for financial assets (25.3) (32.8) 29.6
Other profits (losses) (4.4) 2.1 n.m.
Profit Before Tax (7.5) (12.5) 66.7
Income tax for the period 1.2 3.0 n.m.
Minority interest 4.2 3.4 -19.0
Net Profit 2.1) (6.1) n.m.
Cost/Income ratio (%) 57.6 60.6

30/6/13 30/6/14

Balance-sheet data

Treasury funds 117.3 111.8
Loans and advances to customers 3,453.4 3,001.7
Funding (3,454.3) (2,994.6)
New loans 250.4 388.0
No. of employees 160 145

This business reported a loss for the year of €6.1m, higher than the €2.1m
loss reported last year. A 11.7% reduction in revenues went alongside a 29.6%
rise in the cost of risk. The fall in revenues, from €52.3m to €46.2m, was due
entirely to the contraction in business levels, which led to lower fees while net
interest income remained stable due to a reduction in the cost of funding. Lower
operating costs of €28m (€30.1m) and non-recurring recovered items (€2.1m)
only partly offset the increase in loan loss provisions, which rose from €25.3m
to €32.8m due to 10.7% growth in non-performing loans (from €234.1m to
€259.2m), with the coverage ratio virtually unchanged at 30% (29%). Accounts
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outstanding with customers declined in the twelve months under review, from
€3,453.4m to €3,001.7m, with a slight increase in new loans (from €250.4m to

€388m).

The financial highlights for the other Group companies during the twelve
months under review are shown below, broken down according to business area:

Company Percentage  Business Total  Loans and Total No. of

shareholding line assets advances to net employees

customers equity

Mediobanca International 100% WSB 3,492.2 2,731.7 245.8 6
Mediobanca International Immobiliere 100% WSB 2.0 n.m. 1.6 —
Mediobanca Turchia 100% WSB 8.2 n.m. 4.0 8
MB Securities USA 100% WSB 5.7 n.m. 1.3 4
Prominvestment (in liquidation) 100% WSB 5.3 4.5 2.2) 6
Consortium 100% WSB 0.2 n.m. 0.2 —
Compagnie Monégasque de Banque 100% PB 24174 802.9 612.4 195
Banca Esperia 50% PB 1,612.4 917.6 181.5 129
Spafid 100% PB 36.8 n.m. 32.8 18
Prudentia 100% PB 3.9 n.m. 2.3 16
Compass 100%  Consumer 9,860.6 8,525.6 1,154.1 1.255
Futuro 100%  Consumer 1,124.0 1,101.0 38.6 69
Creditech 100%  Consumer 278.3 251.3 63.7 159
Compass RE 100%  Consumer 204.2 n.m. 43.1 —
Quarzo 90%  Consumer 0.2 n.m. n.m. —
CheBanca! 100% Retail 15,211.6 4,392.6 268.0 894
Mediobanca Covered Bond 90% Retail 0.2 n.m. 0.1 —
Selma Bipiemme Leasing 60% Leasing 1.826.3 1,503.2 76.3 38
Palladio Leasing 60% Leasing 1,413.9 1.375.1 107.8 58
Teleleasing (in liquidation) 48% Leasing 127.8 123.4. 104.4 2
Quarzo Lease 90% Leasing 0.4 0.3 n.m. —
Mediobanca Innovation Services 100% other 66.6 n.m. 37.6 115
Ricerche e Studi 100% other 0.9 n.m. 0.1 14

48 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014



Company Percentage Business Total Operating  Provisions Profit

shareholding line income costs for the

period

Mediobanca International 100% WSB 33.1 (5.8) (3.7) 19.0
Mediobanca International Immobiliere 100% WSB 0.2 0.1) n.m. n.m.
Mediobanca Turchia 100% WSB 5.7 (3.5) n.m. 1.7
MB Securities USA 100% WSB 4.0 (2.4) n.m. 1.6
Prominvestment (in liquidation) 100% WSB 0.2 (1.0) n.m. 0.8)
Consortium 100% WSB n.m. n.m. n.m. n.m.
Compagnie Monégasque de Banque 100% PB 90.3 45.1) 0.9 48.4
Banca Esperia 50% PB 93.7 (67.1) (3.2) 10.0
Spafid 100% PB 4.4 (3.0 n.m. 0.9
Prudentia 100% PB 3.1 (2.8) n.m. 0.2
Compass 100%  Consumer 690.9 (250.0) (388.9) 18.0
Futuro 100%  Consumer 26.5 (12.4) (0.6) 7.6
Creditech 100%  Consumer 35.2 (19.4) (7.8) 7.6
Compass RE 100%  Consumer 23.7 0.4) n.m. 16.2
Quarzo 90%  Consumer 0.1 0.1) n.m. n.m.
CheBanca! 100% Retail 164.0 (158.6) (27.9) (25.1)
Mediobanca Covered Bond 90% Retail n.m. n.m. n.m. n.m.
Selma Bipiemme Leasing 60% Leasing 20.0 (18.9) (21.7) (12.9)
Palladio Leasing 60% Leasing 20.6 (7.5) (11.9) 0.6
Teleleasing (in liquidation) 48% Leasing 7.5 (3.3) 0.7 2.9
Quarzo Lease 90% Leasing 0.1 0.1) n.m. n.m.
Mediobanca Innovation Services 100% other 29.0 (28.6) n.m. n.m.
Ricerche e Studi 100% other 1.8 (1.8) n.m. n.m.
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With reference to the consolidated accounts for CMB and Banca Esperia as

at 31 December 2013:

Compagnie Monégasque de Banque: CMB reported a profit of €44.3m,
compared with €44.7m last year (net of €4m in non-recurring items), with
fee and net interest income both rising (from €38.1m to €44.8m in the case
of the former, and from €21.8m to €26m in the case of the latter), thus
making up part of the reduction in treasury income (from €32.3m to €15.9m).
Loans and advances to customers for the year decreased from €342.6m to
€760.7m, while securities rose to €1,144.5m (€991.5m) on higher deposits
of €1,565.8m (€1,339.4m). Assets under management on a discretionary/
non-discretionary basis totalled €7bn (€6.6bn).

Banca Esperia S.p.A.: Banca Esperia recorded a net profit of €1.9m,
down on the €5.1m posted the previous year. Revenues fell, from €90.8m
to €88.5m, on lower fees of €48.2m (€59.5m, with performance fees in
particular declining) offset by the performance of the bank’s own securities
portfolio (€23.6m, compared with €13.6m) and the increase in net interest
income (from €14.5m to €16.2m) attributable to higher customer loans (up
from €852.4m to €936.7m) and AFS assets of €626.4m (€471.9m). There
were loan loss provisions for the twelve months totalling €1.1m, a €4.2m
reduction in administrative expenses (chiefly due to the reduction in labour
costs), and transfers to the provision for risks and charges totalling €12.5m.
Assets under management grew from €13.8bn to €15.3bn.
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Other Information

Related party disclosure

Financial accounts outstanding as at 30 June 2014 between companies
forming part of the Mediobanca Group and related parties, and transactions
undertaken between such parties during the financial year, are illustrated in Part
H of the notes to the accounts, along with all the information required in respect
of transparency pursuant to Consob resolution 17221 issued on 12 March 2010.

All such accounts form part of Group companies’ ordinary operations, are
maintained on an arm’s length basis, and are entered into solely in the interests of
the companies concerned. No atypical or irregular transactions have been entered
into with such counterparties.

Article 36 of Consob’s market regulations

With reference to Article 36 of Consob resolution 16191/07 (Market
Regulations) on the subject of prerequisites for listing in respect of parent
companies incorporated or regulated by the laws of KU member states and
relevant to the preparation of the consolidated accounts, Compagnie Monégasque
de Banque is covered by this regulatory provision, and adequate procedures
have been adopted to ensure full compliance with the foregoing regulation.

Principal risks facing the Group

In addition to the customary information on financial risks (credit, market,
liquidity and operational risks), the notes to the accounts contain an indication of
the other risks to which the Group is exposed in the course of its business, as they
emerged from the ICA AP process now required by the regulations in force.

In particular, this involves concentration risk in the Group’s corporate finance
activities towards the leading Italian industrial groups, its presence in the retail
banking and consumer finance business on the domestic market, and its exposure
to market volatility in respect of its securities portfolio in the wholesale banking and
principal investing divisions.
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Research

R&S has continued its analysis of companies and capital markets as in the
past. R&S produced the thirty-eighth edition of its Annual Directory, which
includes analysis of leading ltalian listed companies, and published the profiles
of over a hundred other industrial and financial groups online. A new study of
local wtilities owned by the leading municipalities and the eighteenth edition of
R&S’s survey of the world’s leading industrial and service multinationals have
been published, as were two updates of its survey of European banks based
on interim data (the sixth edition) and annual data (the twelfth edition), the
third edition of its review of industrial companies in southern Italy on behalf
of the Fondazione Ugo La Malfa, and — in conjunction with I Sole 24 Ore — the
quarterly analyses of blue chip companies’ results.

Credit rating

The rating assigned by Standard & Poor’s to Mediobanca has been confirmed
as BBB (aligned to the country risk for the republic of Italy), with negative
outlook for medium-/long-term debt (A-2 for short-term debt).

Tax litigation

As at 30 June 2014 the Mediobanca Group had a total of 29 cases
pending, in respect of higher tax worth a notified amount of €72.6m, plus
interest and fines.

All the cases involve disputes with the Italian tax revenue authority and
regard:

— sixteen claims in respect of allegedly non-existent leasing transactions,
involving higher tax worth a notified amount of €35.7m (€31.8m by way
of VAT and €3.8m IRES/IRAP); €24.2m of this amount involves leases on

yachts, while the remainder involves real estate and brands;

— one claim regarding the deductibility of the losses arising on the non-
recourse disposal of receivables by Compass in the 2007/08 financial year,
involving higher tax worth a notified amount of €30.5m. The same claim in
respect of the 2006/07 financial year, originally involving a notified amount
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of €24.5m, ended with the ruling in Compass’s favour which then became
definitive;

— four claims in respect of the application of withholding and registration
tax upon the disbursement of loans to ltalian companies by Mediobanca,
involving higher tax worth a notified amount of €4.2m;

— eight claims in respect of other items, involving higher tax worth a notified
amount of €2.1m.

The companies concerned have appealed against all the above rulings in
the conviction that their actions were correct (cf. the ruling in the Compass
dispute going in its favour). For this reason no amounts have been set aside to
the provison for risks and charges, including in view of how the legal process
is progressing, and the indemnity clauses contained in the agreements with the
customers regarding the withholding and registration taxes.

Against all cases of tax litigation outstanding as at 30 June 2014, a provision of
€2.5m has been booked to the accounts, as an asset, in respect of SelmaBipiemme,
representing the total amount paid by way of provisional collection.

Litigation pending

The most significant case involves the claims against Mediobanca relating to
the Bank’s alleged failure, jointly with other parties, to launch a full takeover bid
for La Fondiaria in 2002. Sixteen claims have so far been made, twelve of which
are still pending, with four having been settled during the year under review
(three of which out of court, with the fourth having become statute-barred). The
ageregate amount involved in the twelve claims still pending against the parties
is approx. €108.3m, plus interest and expenses; Mediobanca’s share in this would
be approx. €37m (plus interest and expenses). The present status of the trials in
respect of these claims is as follows:

— the court of cassation has ruled against Mediobanca on three claims,
which have now reverted to the Milan court of appeals for the rulings to be
prosecuted;

— five claims, in which the court of appeals has ruled in favour of Mediobanca,
are pending at the court of cassation;
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— one claim, in which the ruling went against Mediobanca, is pending before
the court of appeals in Milan; and

— three claims have recently been lodged with the court of Milan.

The other main claims that have been made against Mediobanca are as follows:

— one claim pending with the court of Milan for damages totalling €134.4m
in connection with the Burani group bankruptcies for Mediobanca’s alleged
role as advisor on the takeover bid concerned. Mediobanca has appeared in
court and has pleaded not guilty, on the grounds that its activity as advisor
consisted exclusively of preparing one analysis (defined as “Discussion
material”) on behalf of Burani Designer Holding NV, regarding the principal
impact of the takeover bid in financial terms;

— one claim filed with the court of Siena for damages in an amount of €286m
by the Fondazione Monte dei Paschi di Siena, for an alleged non-contractual
liability, jointly with the other lender banks, in connection with the execution
of a loan granted in June 2011;

— requests for reimbursement of damages (with no claims actually filed)
following the loss of value of shares in Fondiaria-SAI, Milano Assicurazioni,
Unipol and Premafin after the rescue operations and reorganizations in
which the companies were involved in 2011-12.

No cases of significant litigation are outstanding within the Group.

The provision for risks and charges, which at the reporting date totalled
slightly over €150m, amply covers any charges that may be payable as a result
of the claims made against Mediobanca and the Group companies.
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Outlook

Estimates for the current financial year continue to depend heavily on the
macroeconomic framework which remains extremely weak on both the domestic
Italian and European markets. In particular, the demand for credit remains
modest, and market volatility minimal, with interest rates near their all-time
lows. Against this backdrop, the Group confirms its three-year plan targets:
further reductions in equity investments; resumption of corporate lending,
due among other things to development of the mid-corporate platform for the
factoring business; and targeted growth in consumer credit. It is estimated
that revenues will recover, based on net interest income remaining stable and
healthy fee flows, with treasury activity expected to be weak. The cost/income
ratio should be stable, while the cost of risk is expected to come down sharply
across all segments.

Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity and net profit

(€000)
Shareholders’ equity Net profit (loss)

Balance at 30/6 as per Mediobanca S.p.A. accounts 4,827,481 165,913

Net surplus over book value for consolidated companies 14,822 87,764

Differences on exchange rates originating from conversion

of accounts made up in currencies other than the Euro (175) —

Other adjustments and restatements on consolidation, including

the effects of accounting for companies on an equity basis 2,531,240 211,100

Dividends received during the period — —

TOTAL 7,373,368 464,777

Milan, 17 September 2014

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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DECLARATION BY HEAD
OF COMPANY FINANCIAL REPORTING



DECLARATION IN RESPECT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS as required by Article 81-ter of Consob resolution
no. 11971 issued on 14 May 1999 as amended

1. The undersigned Alberto Nagel and Massimo Bertolini, in their respective
capacities as Chief Executive Officer and Head of Company Financial
Reporting of Mediobanca, hereby declare and in view inter alia of the
provisions contained in Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4, of ltalian
Legislative Decree 58/98, that the administrative and accounting procedures
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

— were adequate in view of the company’s characteristics are adequate; and
— were effectively applied during the year ended 30 June 2014.

2. Assessment of the adequacy of said administrative and accounting procedures
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 30 June
2014 was based on a model defined by Mediobanca in accordance with
benchmark standards for internal control systems which are widely accepted
at an international level (i.e. the CoSO and CobiT frameworks).

3. It is further hereby declared that

3.1 the consolidated financial statements:

— have been drawn up in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union pursuant to
CE regulation no. 1606/02 issued by the European Parliament and
Council on 19 July 2002;

— correspond to the data recorded in the company’s books and accounts
ledgers;

—are adequate for the purpose of providing a truthful and accurate
representation of the capital, earnings and financial situation of
the issuer and the group of companies included within its area of
consolidation.

3.2 the review of operations contains reliable analysis of the Group’s operating
performance and results, and of the situation of Mediobanca S.p.A. and the
group of companies comprised within its area of consolidation, along with a
description of the main risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.

Milan, 17 September 2014

Chief Executive Officer Head of Company Financial Reporting
Alberto Nagel Massimo Bertolini
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REPORT
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AUDITORS’ REPORT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLES 14 AND 16 OF LEGISLATIVE
DECREE N° 39 OF 27 JANUARY 2010

To the shareholders of
Mediobanca SpA

1 We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mediobanca SpA and its subsidiaries
(“Mediobanca Group”) of Mediobanca SpA as of 30 June 2014 which comprise the balance
sheet, the profit and loss account, the comprehensive profit and loss account, the statement of
changes to net equity, the cash flows statement and the related notes to the accounts. The
directors of Mediobanca SpA are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements
in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article g of Legislative
Decree n° 38/2005. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit.

2 We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and criteria recommended
by Consob, the Italian Commission for listed Companies and the Stock Exchange. Those
standards and criteria require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain the necessary
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement and, taken as a whole, are presented fairly. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
the directors. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The consolidate financial statements present the corresponding prior year annual consolidated
financial statements figures for comparative purposes. As disclosed in the notes to the
accounts to the consolidated financial statements, the directors of Mediobanca SpA restated
some of the corresponding figures included in the prior year annual consolidated financial
statements. We audited the consolidated financial statements of the prior period and issued
our report on 1 October 2013. We have examined the methods used to restate the prior year
corresponding figures and related disclosures set out in the notes to the accounts for the
purposes of preparing this report.

3 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Mediobanca Group as of 30 June
2014 comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative
Decree n° 38/2005; accordingly, they have been prepared clearly and give a true and fair view
of the financial position, result of operations and cash flows of the Mediobanca Group for the
period then ended.
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4 The directors of Mediobanca SpA are responsible for the preparation of a report on operations
and a report on corporate governance and ownership structure in compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consistency
with the financial statements of the report on operations and of the information referred to in
paragraph 1, letters c), d), ), 1), m), and paragraph 2, letter b), of article 123-bis of Legislative
Decree n° 58/98 presented in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure, as
required by law. For this purpose, we have performed the procedures required under Italian
Auditing Standard n° oo1 issued by the Italian Accounting Profession (Consiglio Nazionale dei
Dottori Commerecialisti e degli Esperti Contabili) and recommended by Consob. In our
opinion, the report on operations and the information referred to in paragraph 1, letters c), d),
1), 1), m) and paragraph 2, letter b), of article 123-bis of Legislative Decree n° 58/98 presented
in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure are consistent with the
consolidated financial statements of Mediobanca SpA as of 30 June 2014.

Milan, 1t October 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA
Signed by

Marco Palumbo
(Partner)

This report has been translated into the English language from the original, which was
issued in Italian, solely for the convenience of international readers.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Consolidated balance sheet
(€000)
Assets 30/6/14 30/6/13
10. Cash and cash equivalents 33,947 28,842
20. Financial assets held for trading 12,406,967 13,047,073
40. Financial assets available for sale 8,418,488 11,489,762
50. Financial assets held to maturity 1,659.818 1,447,817
60. Due from banks 5,287,754 4,854,958
70. Due from customers 36,623,531 36,413,851
80. Hedging derivatives 1,008.609 1,105,948
100. Equity investments 2,871,375 2,586,899
120. Property, plant and equipment 306,066 295,420
130. Intangible assets 409,375 412,320
of which:
goodwill 365,934 365,934
140. Tax assets: 1,096,924 896,284
a) current 385,652 246,809
b) advance 711,272 649,475
of which L. 214/2011 588,140 447,576
160. Other assets 341,134 262,124
TOTAL ASSETS 70,463,988 72,841,298
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(€000)

Liabilities and net equity 30/6/14. 30/6/13
10. Due to banks 11,459,800 12,366,182
20. Due to customers 16,475,388 16,175,810
30. Debt securities in issue 23,330,028 26,695,279
40. Trading liabilities 9,277,161 8,850,000
60. Hedging derivatives 353.451 336,419
80. Tax liabilities: 596,232 608,041

a) current 235,113 267,504
b) deferred 361,119 340,537

100. Other liabilities 710,566 551,546

110. Staff severance indemnity provision 28,737 27,701

120. Provisions: 166,292 164,792

a) post-employment and similar benefits — —
b) other provisions 166,292 164,792
130. Insurance reserve 123,664 117,405

140. Revaluation reserves 869,704 305,657

170. Reserves 4,150,374 4,374,306

180. Share premium reserve 2,121,819 2,120,143

190. Share capital 430,703 430,565

200. Treasury shares (199.233) (213.844)

210. Minority interest 104,525 107,466

220. Profit for the period 464,777 (176,170)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 70,463,988 72,841,298

* Comparative data as at 30/6/13 have been restated to reflect the introduction of TAS 19 revised, as described in Part A — Accounting poli-cies,
A.2 Significant accounting policies. This has led to a difference of €3.7m in the net loss for the twelve months, plus €0.1m in respect of defined

benefit schemes being restated from Other reserves to Valuation reserves..
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Consolidated profit and loss account *

(€000)
Item 12 mths to 30/6/14 12 mths to 30/6/13
10. Interest and similar income 2,379,983 2,726,732
20. Interest expense and similar charges (1,319,051) (1,660,404,
30. Net interest income 1,060,932 1,066,328
40. Fee and commission income 391,873 354,201
50. Fee and commission expense (57,072) (46,152)
60. Net fee and commission income 334,801 308,049
70. Dividends and similar income 84,841 46,371
80. Net trading income (39,535) 41,892
90. Net hedging income (expense) (2,714) 4,074
100. Gain (loss) on disposal/repurchase of: 224,737 90,979

a) loans and advances (48,057) 5,962

b) AFS securities 291,834 40,726

¢) financial assets held to maturity (1,518) 1,311

d) financial liabilities (17,522) 42,980
120. Total income 1,663,062 1,557,693
130. Adjustments for impairment to: (699,853) (721,416)

a) loans and advances (682,325) (510,040)

b) AFS securities (8,724) (214.,886)

¢) financial assets held to maturity 2,771) 304

d) financial liabilities (6,033) 3,206
140. Net income from financial operations 963,209 836,277
150. Premiums earned (net) 37,974 32,011
160. Other income (net) from insurance activities (18,057) (15.325)
170. Net profit from financial and insurance activities 983,126 852,963
180. Administrative expenses: (811,044) (770,039)

a) personnel costs (378,965) (383.839)

b) other administrative expenses (432,079) (386,200)
190. Net transfers to provisions (2,630) (3,239)
200. Net adjustments to tangible assets (18,249) (19,131)
210. Net adjustments to intangible assets (22,812) (22,036)
220. Other operating income (expense) 127,790 138,057
230. Operating costs (726,945) (676,388)
240. Gain (loss) on equity investments 244,922 (198.873)
270. Gain (loss) on disposal of investments in: (56) (502)

a) property — (8)

b) other assets (56) (494)
280. Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before tax 501,047 (22,800)
290. Income tax for the year on ordinary activities (39,680) (157,544)
300. Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after tax 461,367 (180,344)
320. Net profit (loss) for the period 461,367 (180,344)
330. Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to minorities 3.410 4,174
340. Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to Mediobanca 464,777 (176,170)

* Comparative data as at 30/6/13 have been restated to reflect the introduction of IAS 19 revised, as described in Part A — Accounting policies,
A.2 Significant accounting policies. This has led to a difference of €3.7m in the net loss for the twelve months.
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Consolidated comprehensive profit and loss account *

(€°000)

12 mths to 30/6/14

12 mths to 30/6/13

10. Profit (loss) for the period 461,367 (180,344)
Other income items net of tax without passing through profit
and loss 17,275 (128,618)
20. Property, plant and equipment — —
30. Intangible assets — —
40. Defined benefit schemes (1,778) (2,723)
50. Non-current assets being sold — —
60. Share of valuation reserves attributable to equity-accounted companies 19,053 (125,895)
Other income items net of tax passing through profit and loss 547,241 774,552
70. Foreign investment hedges — —
80. Exchange rate differences (110) (199)
90. Cash flow hedges 32,350 42,028
100. AFS financial assets 340,211 380,696
110. Non-current assets being sold —
120. Share of valuation reserves attributable to equity-accounted companies 174,790 352,027
130. Total other income items, net of taxes 564,516 645,934
140. Comprehensive income (headings 10+130) 1,025,883 465,590
150. Minority interest in consolidated comprehensive income (2,941) (1,840)
160. Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to Mediobanca S.p.A. 1,028,824 467,430

* Comparative data as at 30/6/13 have been restated to reflect the introduction of IAS 19 revised, as described in Part A — Accounting poli-cies,
A.2 Significant accounting policies. This has led to a difference of €3.7m in the net loss for the twelve months, plus €1m in respect of defined
benefit schemes being restated from Other reserves to Valuation reserves.
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Consolidated cash flow statement direct method

(€000)
Amounts
30/6/14 30/6/13
A. Cash flow from operating activities
1. Operating activities 450,109 131,688
- interest received 4,371,524 4,460,645
- interest paid (3,358,794) (3,459,354)
- dividends and similar income 84,828 100,427
- net fees and commission income 103,909 135,245
- cash payments to employees (295,120) (295,953)
- net premium income 55,967 51,210
- other premium from insurance activities (150,846) (73,589)
- other expenses paid (1,016,352) (1,567,897)
- other income received 913,511 884,025
- income taxes paid (258,518) (103,071)
- net expense/income from groups of assets being sold — —
2. Cash generated/absorbed by financial assets 6,680,698 7,250,375
- financial assets held for trading 1,831,864 990,820
- financial assets recognized at fair value — —
- AFS securities 3,761,031 (211,722)
- due from customers (358,331) 5,199,354
- due from banks: on demand 1,602,058 2,220,894
- due from banks: other (31,255) (823,464)
- other assets (124,669) (125,507)
3. Cash generated/absorbed by financial liabilities (6,968,084) (7,327,927)
- due to banks: on demand (399,103) (230,785)
- due to banks: other (1,033,092) (236,347)
- due to customers (314,794) (659,399)
- debt securities (4,377,616) (5,656,698)
- trading liabilities (804,492) (563 889)

- financial liabilities assets recognized at fair value

- other liabilities (38,987) 19,191
Net cash flow (outflow) from operating activities 162,723 54,136
B. Investment activities
1. Cash generated from 200,526 326,878
- disposals of shareholdings 15,970 —
- dividends received in respect of equity investments 92,890 49,071
- disposals/redemptions of financial assets held to maturity 91,396 277,796
- disposals of tangible assets 92 11
- disposals of intangible assets 178 —
- disposals of subsidiaries or business units — —
2. Cash absorbed by (359,958) (339,707)
- acquisitions of shareholdings (31)
- acquisitions of held-to-maturity investments (310,953 ) (314,528)
- acquisitions of tangible assets (28,961) (16,727)
- acquisitions of intangible assets (20,044) (8,421)
- acquisitions of subsidiaries or business units —
- Net cash flow (outflow) from investment/servicing of finance (159,432) (12,829)
C. Funding activities
- issuance/acquisition of treasury shares 1.814 —
- issuance/acquisitions of equity instruments — —
- dividends payout and other applications of funds — (42,2006)
Net cash flow (outflow) from funding activities 1,814 (42,206)
Net cash flow (outflow) during period 5,105 (899)
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Reconciliation of movements in cash flow during the period

(€°000)

Amounts
30/6/14 30/6/13
Cash and cash equivalents: balance at start of period 28,842 29,741
Total cash flow (ouflow) during period 5,105 (899)
Cash and cash equivalents: exchange rate effect — —
Cash and cash equivalents: balance at end of period 33,947 28,842
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Part A - Accounting Policies

A.1 - General

SECTION 1
Statement of conformity with IAS/ITFRS

The Mediobanca Group’s consolidated financial statements for the period
ended 30 June 2014 have, as required by Italian Legislative Decree 38/05,
been drawn up in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and International Accounting Standards (IAS) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which were adopted by the
European Commission in accordance with the procedure laid down in Article
6 of regulation CE 1606/02 issued by the European Parliament and Council on
19 July 2002. Adoption of the new accounting standards with respect to financial
reporting by banks is governed by Bank of Italy circular no. 262 issued on
22 December 2005 (second amendment issued on 21 January 2014).

SECTION 2
General principles

These consolidated financial statements comprise:
— balance sheet;
—  profit and loss account;
— comprehensive profit and loss account;
— statement of changes to net equity;
— cash flow statement (direct method);

— notes to the accounts.

All the statements have been drawn up in conformity with the general
principles provided for under TAS and the accounting policies illustrated in
part A.2, and show data for the period under review compared with that for the
previous financial year in the case of balance-sheet figures or the corresponding
period of the previous financial year for profit-and-loss data.
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Since 1 July 2013, the new accounting standard IFRS 13 (Fair Value
Measurement) has come into force, along with the revised version of IAS 19
(Employee Benefits). The former incorporates all guidance for measuring fair value
previously contained in the various standards, and introduces some specifications
for measuring credit (for counterparties) and debt (for Mediobanca) valuation
adjustments for derivative contracts (CVAs and DVAs respectively). The latter,
meanwhile, stipulates that actuarial gains and/or losses must be recorded in a
specific net equity valuation reserve, and are therefore only recorded in the other
comprehensive income statement (OCI) and no longer in the profit and loss account.

The update to Bank of Italy circualar no. 262 has also been incorporated, as
have the changes to IAS 1 and IFRS 7

As from 1 July 2014, IAS 27 (Consolidated financial statements and
accounting for investments in subsidiaries) and IAS 31 (Financial reporting of
interests in joint ventures) will be replaced respectively by IFRS 10 and 11,
plus IFRS 12 with respect to reporting of investments in other entities. IAS 28
on accounting for investments in associates will also be revised. These changes
should not impact significantly on Mediobanca’s consolidated reporting.

SECTION 3
Area and methods of consolidation

Subsidiaries are consolidated on the line-by-line basis, whereas investments
in associates and jointly-controlled operations are consolidated and accounted
for using the equity method.

When a subsidiary is fully consolidated, the carrying amount of the parent’s
investment and its share of the subsidiary’s equity are eliminated against the
addition of that company’s assets and liabilities, income and expenses to the
parent company’s totals. Any surplus arising following allocation of asset and
liability items to the subsidiary is recorded as goodwill. Intra-group balances,
transactions, income and expenses are eliminated upon consolidation.

For equity-accounted companies, any differences in the carrying amount of
the investment and investee company’s net equity are reflected in the book value
of the investment, the fairness of which is tested at the reporting date or when
evidence emerges of possible impairment. The profit made or loss incurred by
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the investee company is recorded pro-rata in the profit and loss account under

a specific heading.

Creditech S.p.A. was merged into Cofactor S.p.A. during the twelve months

under review, the combined entity taking on the name Creditech Sp.A., while

Seteci S.c.p.A. changed its name to Mediobanca Innovation Services S.c.p.A.

1. Subsidiaries and jointly-controlled companies (consolidated pro-rata)

Name of company Registered  Type of Shareholding % voting
office relation- rights 2
ship ! Investor ) %o
company interest
A. COMPANIES INCLUDED IN AREA OF CONSOLIDATION
A1 Line-by-line
1. MEDIOBANCA - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. Milan 1 — — —
2. PROMINVESTMENT S.p.A. - in liquidation Milan 1 ALl 100.00 100.00
3. PRUDENTIA FIDUCIARIA S.p.A. Milan 1 ALl 100.00 100.00
4. MEDIOBANCA INNOVATION SERVICES - S.c.p.A. Milan 1 All 100.00 100.00
5. SPAFID S.p.A. Milan 1 All 100.00 100.00
6. COMPAGNIE MONEGASQUE DE BANQUE - CMB S.A.M. Monte Carlo 1 All 100.00 100.00
7. C.M.G. COMPAGNIE MONEGASQUE DE GESTION S.A.M. Monte Carlo 1 A.L6 99.89 99.89
8. SMEF SOCIETE MONEGASQUE DES ETUDES FINANCIERE S.A.M. Monte Carlo 1 A.l6 99.96 99.96
9. CMB ASSET MANAGEMENT S.A.M. Monte Carlo 1 Al6 99.30 99.30
10. MEDIOBANCA INTERNATIONAL (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg 1 All 99.00 99.00
1 Alll 1.00 1.00
11. COMPASS S.p.A. Milan 1 All 100.00 100.00
12. CHEBANCA! S.p.A. Milan 1 All 100.00 100.00
13. CREDITECH S.p.A. Milan 1 AlLll 100.00 100.00
14. SELMABIPIEMME LEASING S.p.A. Milan 1 All 60.00 60.00
15. PALLADIO LEASING S.p.A. Vicenza 1 All4 95.00 100,—
Al15 5.00
16. TELELEASING S.p.A. - in liquidation Milan 1 Al.14 80.00 80.00
17. RICERCHE E STUDI S.p.A. Milan 1 ALl 100.00 100.00
18. MEDIOBANCA SECURITIES USA LLC New York 1 All 100.00 100.00
19. CONSORTIUM S.r.L. Milan 1 All 100.00 100.00
20. QUARZO S.r.l. Milan 1 Alll 90.00 90.00
21. QUARZO LEASE S.r.l. Milan 1 Al.14 90.00 90.00
22. FUTURO S.p.A Milan 1 ALIl 100.00 100.00
23. MEDIOBANCA COVERED BOND S.r.l. Milan 1 Al12 90.00 90.00
24. COMPASS RE (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg 1 All1l 100.00 100.00
25. MEDIOBANCA INTERNATIONAL IMMOBILIERE S. a r.l. Luxembourg 1 A110 100.00 100.00
26. MB ADVISORY KURUMSAL DANISMANLIK HIZMETLERI Istanbul 1 All 100.00 100.00
ANONIM SIRKETI
27. MEDIOBANCA SICAV Luxembourg 1 All 100.00 100.00
Legend

' Type of relationship:

1 = majority of voting rights in ordinary AGMs
2 = dominant influence in ordinary AGMs

3 = agreements with other shareholders 7 = joint control
4 = other forms of control

2 Effective and potential voting rights in ordinary AGMs.

80 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014

5 = unity of direction as defined in Article 26, paragraph 1 of Italian Legislative Decree 87/92
6 = unity of direction as defined in Article 26, paragraph 1 of Italian Legislative Decree 87/92



SECTION 4
Events subsequent to the reporting date

Since the reporting date, no events have taken place that would cause the
results presented in the consolidated report for the year ended 30 June 2014 to
require adjustment.

For a description of the most significant events since the reporting date,
please refer to the relevant section in the Review of Operations.

As from 1 July 2014, finally, Prudentia Fiduciaria was merged into Spafid
(both companies are 100%-owned by Mediobanca), with the objective of
concentrating the Group’s fiduciary businesses and services to issuers in the
same company.

A.2 - Significant accounting policies
Financial assets held for trading

This category comprises debt securities, equities, loans held for trading
purposes, and the positive value of derivatives held for trading including
those embedded in complex instruments such as structured bonds (recorded
separately).

At the settlement date for securities and subscription date for derivatives,
such assets are recognized at fair value' not including any transaction expenses
or income directly attributable to the asset concerned, which are taken through
the profit and loss account.

After initial recognition they continue to be measured at fair value. Equities
and linked derivatives for which it is not possible to reliably determine fair
value using the methods described above are stated at cost (these too qualify as
Level 3 assets). If the assets suffer impairment, they are written down to their
current value.

! See Part A3 — Information on fair value, pp. 94, 95, 96 and 97 for further details.
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Gains and losses upon disposal and/or redemption and the positive and
negative effects of changes in fair value over time are reflected in the profit and
loss account under the heading Net irading income.

AFS securities

This category includes all financial assets apart from derivatives not booked
under the headings Financial assets held for trading, Financial assets held to
maturity or Loans and receivables.

AFS assets are initially recognized at fair value, which includes transaction
costs and income directly attributable to them. Thereafter they continue to be
measured at fair value (*). Changes in fair value are recognized in a separate net
equity reserve, which is then eliminated against the corresponding item in the profit
and loss account as and when an asset is disposed of or impairment is recognized.
Fair value is measured on the same principles as described for trading instruments.
Equities for which it is not possible to reliably determine fair value are stated at
cost. For debt securities included in this category the value of amortized cost is also
recognized against the corresponding item in the profit and loss account.

Assets are subjected to impairment tests at annual and interim reporting
dates. If there is evidence of a long-term reduction in the value of the asset
concerned, this is recognized in the profit and loss account on the basis of market
prices in the case of listed instruments, and of estimated future cash flows
discounted according to the original effective interest rate in the case of unlisted
securities. For shares, in particular, the criteria used to determine impairment
are a reduction in fair value of over 30% or for longer than twenty-four months,
compared to the initial recognition value. If the reasons for which the loss was
recorded subsequently cease to apply, the impairment is written back to the
profit and loss account for debt securities to and net equity for shares.

Financial assets held to maturity
These comprise debt securities with fixed or otherwise determinable

payments and fixed maturities which the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity.

2 See Part A3 - Information on fair value, pp. 94, 95, 96 and 97 for further details.

82 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014



Such assets are initially recognized at fair value, which is calculated as at the
settlement date and includes any transaction costs or income directly attributable
to them. Following their initial recognition they are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. Differences between the initial recognition
value and the amount receivable at maturity are booked to the profit and loss
account pro-rata.

Assets are tested for impairment at annual and interim reporting dates. If there
is evidence of a long-term reduction in the value of the asset concerned, this is
recognized in the profit and loss account on the basis of market prices in the case
of listed instruments, and of estimated future cash flows discounted according to
the original effective interest rate in the case of unlisted securities. If the reasons
which brought about the loss of value subsequently cease to apply, the impairment
is written back to the profit and loss account up to the value of amortized cost.

Loans and receivables

These comprise loans to customers and banks which provide for fixed or
otherwise determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and
which cannot therefore be classified as available for sale. Repos and receivables
due in respect of finance leasing transactions are also included, as are illiquid
and/or unlisted fixed securities.

Loans and receivables are booked on disbursement at a value equal to
the amount drawn plus (less) any income (expenses) directly attributable to
individual transactions and determinable from the outset despite being payable
at a later date. The item does not, however, include costs subject to separate
repayment by the borrower, or which may otherwise be accounted for as ordinary
internal administrative costs. Repos and reverse repos are booked as funding or
lending transactions for the spot amount received or paid. Non-performing loans
acquired are booked at amortized cost on the basis of an internal rate of return
calculated using estimates of expected recoverable amounts.

Loans and receivables are stated at amortized cost, i.e. initial values
adjusted upwards or downwards to reflect: repayments of principal, amounts
written down/back, and the difference between amounts drawn at disbursement
and repayable at maturity amortized on the basis of the effective interest rate.
The latter is defined as the rate of interest which renders the discounted value
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of future cash flows deriving from the loan or receivable by way of principal and
interest equal to the initial recognition value of the loan or receivable.

Individual items are tested at annual and interim reporting dates to show
whether or not there is evidence of impairment. ltems reflecting such evidence
are then subjected to analytical testing, and, if appropriate, adjusted to reflect
the difference between their carrying amount at the time of the impairment test
(amortized cost), and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Future cash flows are estimated to
take account of anticipated collection times, the presumed value of receivables
upon disposal of any collateral, and costs likely to be incurred in order to recover
the exposure. Cash flows from loans expected to be recovered in the short term
are not discounted.

The original effective interest rate for each loan remains unchanged in
subsequent years, even if new terms are negotiated leading to a reduction to
below market rates, including non-interest-bearing loans. The relevant value
adjustment is taken through the profit and loss account.

If the reasons which brought about the loss of value cease to apply, the
original value of the loan is recovered in the profit and loss account in subsequent
accounting periods up to the value of amortized cost.

Accounts for which there is no objective evidence of impairment, including
those involving counterparties in countries deemed to be at risk, are subject
to collective tests. Loans are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk
characteristics, and the related loss percentages are estimated at the impairment
date on the basis of historical series of internal and external data. Collective
value adjustments are credited or charged to the profit and loss account, as
appropriate. At each annual and interim reporting date, any writedowns or
writebacks are remeasured on a differentiated basis with respect to the entire
portfolio of loans deemed to be performing at that date.

Leasing

IAS 17 stipulates that for finance leases, interest income should be recorded based
on methods which reflect a constant, regular return on the lessor’s net investment.
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In accordance with this principle, in the event of changes to contracts one
these have become effective, any difference arising from comparison between
the outstanding principal amount prior to renegotiation and the value of the new
future flows discounted at the original interest rate have been taken through the
profit and loss account for the period %

Hedges
There are two types of hedge:

— fair value hedges, which are intended to offset the exposure of recognized
assets and liabilities to changes in their fair value;

— cash flow hedges, which are intended to offset the exposure of recognized
assets and liabilities to changes in future cash flows attributable to specific
risks relating to the items concerned.

For the process to be effective, the item must be hedged with a counterparty
from outside the Group.

Hedge derivatives are recognized at fair value as follows:

— changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recorded in the profit and loss account, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset, where a difference between the
two emerges as a result of the partial ineffectiveness of the hedge;

— designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in net equity,
while the gain or loss deriving from the ineffective portion is recognized
through the profit and loss account only as and when, with reference to the
hedged item, the change in cash flow to be offset crystallizes.

Hedge accounting is permitted for derivatives where the hedging relationship
is formally designated and documented and provided that the hedge is effective
at its inception and is expected to be so for its entire life.

2 As required by the amortized cost rules under TAS 39.
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A hedge is considered to be effective when the changes in fair value or
cash flow of the hedging instrument offset those of the hedged item within a
range of 80-125%. The effectiveness of a hedge is assessed both prospectively
and retrospectively at annual and interim reporting dates, the former to show
expectations regarding effectiveness, the latter to show the degree of effectiveness
actually achieved by the hedge during the period concerned. If an instrument
proves to be ineffective, hedge accounting is discontinued and the derivative
concerned is accounted for under trading securities.

The hedging relationship can also be interrupted voluntarily or in the event
of the hedged instrument being derecognized or the hedging instrument being
repaid early.

Equity investments

This heading consists of investments in:

— associates, which are equity-accounted. Associates are defined as companies
in which at least 20% of the voting rights are held, and those in which the
size of the investment is sufficient to ensure an influence in the governance
of the investee company;

— jointly-controlled companies, which are also equity-accounted;

— other investments of negligible value, which are recognized at cost.

Where there is objective evidence that the value of an investment may be
impaired, estimates are made of its current value using market prices if possible,
and of the present value of estimated cash flows generated by the investment,
including its terminal value. Where the value thus calculated is lower than
the asset’s carrying amount, the difference is taken through the profit and loss
account.

Property, plant and equipment
This heading comprises land, core and investment properties, plant,
furniture, fittings, equipment and assets used under the terms of finance leases,

despite the fact that such assets remain the legal property of the lessor rather
than the lessee.
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Assets held for investment purposes refer to investments in real estate, if
any (whether owned or acquired under leases), which are not core to the Group’s
main activities and/or are chiefly leased out to third parties.

These are stated at historical cost, which in addition to the purchase price,
includes any ancillary charges directly resulting from their acquisition and/
or usage. Extraordinary maintenance charges are reflected by increasing the
asset’s value, while ordinary maintenance charges are recorded in the profit and
loss account.

Fixed assets are depreciated over the length of their useful life on a
straight-line basis, with the exception of land, which is not depreciated on
the grounds that it has unlimited useful life. Properties built on land owned
by the Group are recorded separately, on the basis of valuations prepared by
independent experts.

At annual and interim reporting dates, where there is objective evidence
that the value of an asset may be impaired, its carrying amount is compared
to its current value, which is defined as the higher of its fair value net of
any sales costs and its related value of use, and adjustments, if any, are
recognized through the profit and loss account. If the reasons which gave rise
to the loss in value cease to apply, the adjustment is written back to earnings
with the proviso that the amount credited may not exceed the value which the
asset would have had net of depreciation, which is calculated assuming no
impairment took place.

Intangible assets

These chiefly comprise goodwill and long-term computer software
applications.

Goodwill may be recognized where this is representative of the investee
company’s ability to generate future income. At annual and interim reporting
dates assets are tested for impairment, which is calculated as the difference
between the initial recognition value of the goodwill and its realizable value,
the latter being equal to the higher of the fair value of the cash-generating unit
concerned net of any sales costs and its assumed value of use. Any adjustments
are taken through the profit and loss account.
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Other intangible assets are recognized at cost, adjusted to reflect ancillary
charges only where it is likely that future earnings will derive from the asset and
the cost of the asset itself may be reliably determined. Otherwise the cost of the
asset is booked to the profit and loss account in the year in which the expense
was incurred.

The cost of intangible assets is amortized on the straight-line basis over the
useful life of the asset concerned. If useful life is not determinable the cost of the
asset is not amortized, but the value at which it is initially recognized is tested
for impairment on a regular basis.

At annual and interim reporting dates, where there is evidence of impairment
the realizable value of the asset is estimated, and the impairment is recognized
in the profit and loss account as the difference between the carrying amount and
the recoverable value of the asset concerned.

Derecognition of assets

Financial assets are derecognized as and when the Group is no longer
entitled to receive cash flows deriving from them, or when they are sold and the
related risks and benefits are transferred accordingly. Tangible and intangible
assets are derecognized upon disposal, or when an asset is permanently retired
from use and no further earnings are expected to derive from it.

Assets or groups of assets which are sold continue to be recognized if the
risks and benefits associated with them (in the relevant technical form) continue
to be attributable to the Group. A corresponding amount is then entered as a
liability to offset any amounts received (as Other amounts receivable or Repos).

The main forms of activity currently carried out by the Group which do
not require underlying assets to be derecognized are the securitization of
receivables, repo trading and securities lending.

Conversely, items received as part of deposit bank activity, the return on

which is collected in the form of a commission, are not recorded, as the related
risks and benefits continue to accrue entirely to the end-investor.
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Payables, debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities

These include the items Due to banks, Due to customers and Debt securities in
issue less any shares bought back. Amounts payable by the lessee under the terms
of finance leasing transactions are also included.

Initial recognition takes place when funds raised are collected or debt securities
are issued, and occurs at fair value, which is equal to the amount collected net
of transaction costs incurred directly or indirectly in connection with the liability
concerned. Thereafter liabilities are stated at amortized cost on the basis of the
original effective interest rate, with the exception of short-term liabilities which
continue to be stated at the original amount collected.

Derivatives embedded in structured bonds are stripped out from the
underlying contract and recognized at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value
are recognized through the profit and loss account.

Financial liabilities are derecognized upon expiry or repayment, even if
buybacks of previously issued bonds are involved. The difference between the
liabilities” carrying value and the amount paid to repurchase them is recorded
through the profit and loss account.

The sale of treasury shares over the market following a buyback (even in the form
of repos and securities lending transactions) is treated as a new issue. The new sale
price is recorded as a liability without passing through the profit and loss account.
Trading liabilities

This item includes the negative value of trading derivatives and any
derivatives embedded in complex instruments. Liabilities in respect of technical
shortfalls deriving from securities trading activity are also included. All trading
liabilities are recognized at fair value.

Staff severance indemnity provision

This is stated to reflect the actuarial value of the provision as calculated
in line with regulations used for defined benefit schemes. Future obligations
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are estimated on the basis of historical statistical analysis (e.g. staff turnover,
retirements, etc.) and demographic trends. These are then discounted to obtain
their present value on the basis of market interest rates. The values thus obtain
are booked under labour costs as the net amount of contributions paid, prior
years’ contributions not yet capitalized and net interest.

Since 1 July 2013, conversely, actuarial gains and/or losses are recorded in
a net equity valuation reserve, i.e. in the other comprehensive income statement
(OCI) and no longer in the profit and loss account as required by the new IAS 19
revised (Employee Benefits), which was approved by the IASB on 16 June 2011
and incorporated into EU laow under regulation EE 475/123.

Units accruing as from 1 January 2007 paid into complementary pension
schemes or the Italian national insurance system are recorded on the basis of
contributions accrued during the period.

Provisions for liabilities and charges

These regard risks linked with the Group’s operations but not necessarily
associated with failure to repay loans, and which could lead to expenses in the
future. If the time effect is material, provisions are discounted using current
market rates. Provisions are recognized in the profit and loss account.

Provisions are reviewed on a regular basis, and where the charges that gave
rise to them are deemed unlikely to crystallize, the amounts involved are written
back to the profit and loss account in part or in full.

Withdrawals are only made from provisions to cover the expenses for which
the provision was originally made.
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded by applying the exchange

rates as at the date of the transaction to the amount in the foreign currency
concerned.

* These items may therefore no longer be accounted for under labour costs as was the Group’s previous practice.
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Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Euro are
translated into Euros using exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Differences on cash items due to translation are recorded through the profit
and loss account, whereas those on non-cash items are recorded according
to the valuation criteria used in respect of the category they belong to (i.e. at
cost, through the profit and loss account or on an equity basis).

Tax assets and liabilities

Income taxes are recorded in the profit and loss account, with the exception
of tax payable on items debited or credited directly to net equity. Provisions
for income tax are calculated on the basis of current, advance and deferred
obligations. Advance and deferred tax is calculated on the basis of temporary
differences — without time limits — between the carrying amount of an asset or
liability and its tax base, according to statutory criteria and the corresponding
values used for tax purposes.

Advance tax assets are recognized in the balance sheet based on the
likelihood of their being recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet with the exception
of tax-suspended reserves, if the size of the reserves available already subjected
to taxation is such that it may be reasonably assumed that no transactions will
be carried out on the Group’s own initiative that might lead to their being taxed.

Deferred tax arising upon business combinations is recognized when this is
likely to result in a charge for one of the companies concerned.

Tax assets and liabilities are adjusted as and when changes occur in the
regulatory framework or in applicable tax rates, inter alia to cover charges that
might arise in connection with inspections by or disputes with the tax revenue
authorities.

Stock option and performance shares

The stock option and performance share schemes operated on behalf of
Group staff members and collaborators are treated as a component of labour
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costs. The fair value of the instruments is measured and recognized in net
equity at the grant date using a share/option pricing method adjusted to reflect
historical series for previous financial years. The value thus determined is
taken to the profit and loss account pro-rata to the vesting period for the
individual awards.

Treasury shares

These are deducted from net equity, and any gains/losses realized on
disposal are recognized in net equity.

Dividends and commissions

These are recognized as and when they are realized, provided there is
reasonable likelihood that future benefits will accrue.

Fees included in amortized cost for purposes of calculating the effective
interest rate are not included, but are recorded under Net interest income.

Related parties

In accordance with 1AS 24, related parties are defined as:
a) individuals or entities which directly or indirectly:
1. are subject to joint control by Mediobanca;

2. hold an interest in Mediobanca which allows them to exert a significant
influence over Mediobanca; the scope of this definition includes parties
to the Mediobanca shareholders’ agreement with interests of over 5%
of the company’s share capital, along with the entitlement to appoint at
least one member of the Board of Directors, and the entities controlled by
them;
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associate companies, joint ventures and entities controlled by them *;

management with strategic responsibilities, that is, individuals with powers
and responsibilities, directly or indirectly, for the planning, direction and
control of the parent company’s activities, including the members of the
Board of Directors and Statutory Audit Committee;

entities controlled or jointly controlled by one or more of the individuals
listed under the foregoing letter c);

close family members of the individuals referred to in letter ¢) above, that
is, individuals who may be expected to influence them or be influenced by
them in their relations with Mediobanca (this category includes partners,
children, partners’ children, dependents and partners’ dependents) as
well as any entities controlled, jointly controlled or subject to significant
influence by such individuals;

pension funds for employees of the parent company or any other entity
related to it.

" Including Telco.
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A.3 - Information on transfers between financial asset

portfolios

A.3.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive

income
(€°000)
Type of instrument Transferred from  Transferred to Book value Fair value  Additions to P&L if Additions to P&L
at 30/6/14 at 30/6/14  assets not transferred made during the year
(pre-tax) (pre-tax)
Valuation Other  Valuation Other
Debt securities ' Financial assets ~ Due from
(ABS) held for trading customers 140,755 146,513 19,504 2,071 —_ 2,071
Debt securities ! Due from
(ABS) AFS securities customers 30,841 30,079 4,146 657 — 657
Financial assets
Debt securities 2 AFS securities held to maturity 401,766 434,284 10,016 19,145 — 19,145
Total 573,362 610,876 33,600 21,873 — 21,873

! Made during FY 08/09.
2 Made during FY 10/11.

No transfers were made during the twelve months under review.

A.4 - Information on fair value

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

This section provides the disclosure on fair value stipulated by IFRS 13
paragraph 91, which defines fair value as the price which would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal market.

For financial instruments listed on active markets, fair value is determined
on the basis of the official prices prevailing on the principal market, or
alternatively the most advantageous market to which the Group has access; such
instruments are thus said to be marked to market. A market is defined as active
if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

For instruments not listed on an active market or in cases where the market
is not functioning properly, that is, it does not have a sufficient and continuous
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number of transactions, or sufficiently low bid-ask spreads and volatility,
valuation models using market inputs are used instead, such as:

— valuations of instruments with similar characteristics;
— discounted cash flow calculations,

— option price calculation models, values recorded in recent comparable
transactions, prudentially adjusted to reflect the illiquid nature of some
market data and other risks associated with specific transactions (reputational
risk, replacement risk, etc.).

If no market inputs are available, valuation models based on data estimated
internally are used.

Equities and equity-linked derivatives for which it is not possible to reliably
determine fair value using the methods described above are stated at costs. For
investment funds, including mutual funds, private equity funds, hedge funds
(including funds of funds) and real estate funds, fair value is taken to be the net
asset value (NAV) per stock unit published by the funds themselves.

As a further guarantee that the valuations deriving from the measurement
models the Group uses remain objective, independent price verification
processes (IPVs) are also carried out, in which a unit unrelated to the one
assuming the risk checks the prices of the individual financial instruments on a
daily basis, using data provided by information providers as its reference.

As stipulated by Bank of Italy Circular no. 262/05 in respect of “Financial
statements by banks: models and rules for compilation” (most recent update
21 January 2014), the Bank must show the fair value of the instruments
according to a hierarchy of rankings based on the quality of inputs used in
order to calculate it.?

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 13, the fair value hierarchy
gives priority to measurements based on different market parameters.
The highest priority (level 1) is assigned to measurements based on prices
quoted (un-adjusted) on an active market for identical assets or liabilities; while

* Cf. IFRS 13, paragraph 73: “the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the level of the lowest level inupt that is significant to the
entire measurement”; and paragraph 74: “The fair value hierarch ranks fair value measurements based on the type of inputs; it does not depend
on the type of valuation techniques used”. For further details see IFRS 13, paragraphs 72-90.
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the lowest of priority (level 3) is assigned to valuations deriving predominantly
from unobservable inputs.

The fair value ranking level assigned to an asset or liability is defined as the
lowest-level input that is significant to the entire measurement. Three levels are

identified.

— Level 1: quoted prices (single and unadjusted) in active markets for the
individual financial instrument being measured.

— Level 2: inputs other than the quoted prices referred to above, that are
observable on the market either directly (prices) or indirectly (price
derivatives). In this case fair value is measured via a comparable
approach, or by using a pricing model which leaves little scope for
subjective interpretation and is commonly used by other financial
operators.

— Level 3: significant inputs which are either unobservable on the market
and/or reflect complex pricing models. In this case the fair value is set
based on assumptions of future cash flows, which could lead to different
estimates by different observers of the value of the same financial
instrument.

As a rule Mediobanca uses market prices (level 1) or models based
on observable inputs (level 2). In cases where level 3 instruments are used,
additional price verification procedures are set in place, including: revision of
relevant historical data, analysis of profits and losses, individual measurement
of each single component in a structured component, and benchmarking. This
approach involves the use of subjective assessments and judgements based on
experience, and adjustments may therefore be required to valuations to take
account of the bid-ask spread, liquidity or counterparty risk, and the type of
measurement model adopted. All models in any case, including those developed
internally, are verified independently and validated by different Bank units,
thus ensuring an independent control structure.
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Fair value adjustment

Fair value adjustment is defined as the quantity that has to be added to the

price observed on the market or the theoretical price generated by the model,

to ensure that the the fair value reflects the price that can be realized in a

market transaction which is effectively possible. The following adjustments in

particular should be noted:

credit/debt valuation adjustment;

other adjustments.

Credit/debit valuation adjustment (CVA/IDVA)

Credit and debt value adjustments (CVA and D VA respectively) are incorporated

into the valuation of derivatives to reflect the impact respectively of the counterparty’s

credit risk and the Bank’s own credit quality on the fair value, as follows:

CVA is a negative quantity which takes into account the scenarios in which
the counterparty might fail before the Bank does while amounts are still
receivable (positive MTM) by the Bank from the counterparty;

DVA is a positive quantity which takes into account the scenarios in which
the Bank itself might fail before the party does while amounts are still
payable (negative MTM) to the counterparty.

CVA and DVA are calculated taking into consideration any counterparty

risk mitigation agreements that have been entered into, in particular collateral

and netting agreements for each individual counterparty.

The CVA/DVA methodology used by Mediobanca is based on the following

inputs:

expected positive exposure (EPE) and expected negative exposure (ENE) of
the valuation of the derivatives, deriving from simulation techniques;

probability of default, derived from historical PD readings or those implied
in market prices obtained via credit default swap;

loss given default (LGD) based on the estimated value of recovery in the
event of the counterparty going bankrupt, as defined in specific analysis
conducted by the Bank itself or the default rates conventionally utilized for
credit default swap prices.
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Other adjustments

Other adjustments of fair value not included in the categories described

above, may be taken into consideration in order to align the valuation with

the exit price inter alia on the basis of market liquidity levels or valuation

parameters.

A.4.1 Fair value levels 2 and 3: measurement techniques and inputs used

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurrent basis

This section provides the disclosure stipulated by IFRS 13 with reference to

the measurement techniques and inputs used for assets and liabilities measured

at fair value on a recurring basis.

bonds: instruments not traded on active markets are marked to model using
the implied credit spread curves obtained from Level 1 instruments, to
which a further spread is added to reflect their illiquidity. The model makes
maximum use of observable inputs and minimum use of non-observable
inputs. In this way, depending on how representative the credit spread
curve applied is, bonds are categorized as either Level 2 or Level 3 (the
latter in cases where non-observable credit spreads are used). In fair value
measurement, fair value adjustments can be used in cases where there is
reduced liquidity and model risk, to compensate for the lack of observable
market inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 positions.

asset-backed securities, CLLOs and loans: the measurement process relies
on information providers which effectively collect market prices. All the
ABS owned by Mediobanca are categorized as Level 3, with the exception
of those for which the trader is able to provide, on a continuous basis, a
breakdown of bid/ask contributions with the respective quantities, in which
case they are categorized as Level 1.

derivatives: the fair value of derivatives not traded on an active market derives
from application of mark-to-model measurement techniques. In cases where
there is an active market to provide inputs for the various components of the
derivative to the valuation model, the fair value is measured on the basis of
the market prices. Measurement techniques based on observable inputs are
categorized as Level 2, whereas those based on non-observable inputs are
categorized as Level 3.
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— Equities: equities are categorized as Level 1 when quoted prices are
available on an active market considered to be liquid, and Level 3 when
there are no quoted prices or when quoted prices have been suspended
indefinitely.

— Investment funds: Mediobanca owns holdings in investment funds which
publish the net asset value (NAV) per stock unit. Such funds include mutual
funds, private equity funds, hedge funds (including funds of funds) and real
estate funds. Investments in funds are usually classified as Level 1 in cases
where quoted prices are available on an active market; otherwise they are
categorized as Level 3.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis

Financial instruments measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis
(including amounts payable to and receivable from customers and banks) are
not treated on the basis of fair value.

In such cases the fair value is calculated solely for the purpose of meeting
the Bank’s responsibilities in terms of providing market disclosure, and the
calculation does not impact in any way on the book value of the investment and
has no effect on the profit and loss account. Such instruments are not normally
traded, and their fair value is thus measured on the basis of inputs compiled
internally rather than directly observable on the market.

For loans to corporates, fair value is measured via the discounted cash flow
method, using rates and/or flows adjusted to reflect credit risk in each case.
Loans to counterparties with official ratings are categorized as Level 2, and in
all other cases as Level 3. The same applies to retail loans (i.e. mortgage loans
and consumer credit).

Bonds issued by Mediobanca are categorized as fair value Level 1 if quoted
on an active market (using the market price as the input); if not, i.e. in cases
where there are no quoted prices, the fair value is categorized as Level 2 and is
calculated via the expected discounted cash flow using a market interest rate
adjusted for the Bank’s issuer risk (with a distintion being made between senior
and subordinated risks).
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A.4.2 Measurement processes and senstbilities

As required by IFRS 13, quantitative information on the significant non-
observable inputs used in measuring the fair value of Level 3 instruments is
provided below.

Uncertainties inherent in inputs and impact on mark-to-market for equity products

Non-observable inputs Quantification of uncertainty inherent input +/- delta vs MiM
(€m)
Implicit volatility On average equal to 50 bps for volatility surface points falling outside
the contribution of Totem application (maturity > 3Y for single stocks
and maturity > 5Y for indexes) 0.154
Equity-equity correlation Equal to 1% between two indexes and 2% between two single stocks 0.152

Measurement techniques used for equity, credit and interest rate products

Product Measurement technique Non-observable inputs Fair value* Fair value*
Assets Liabilities

(€m) (€m)

OTC equity plain  Black-Scholes method Implicit volatility © 4,73 -54,69

vanilla options,
OTC equity digital

options
OTC equity basket Black-Scholes method Implicit volatility 37,49 -3,21
options, best of/ Equity-equity correlation”
worst of
Synthetic CDOs Gaussian copula model using Base correlation with bootstrap starting 1,19 -2,00
factor with base correlation  from quoted data on liquid index
tranches®
Structured CCSs  Discounted cash flow Level 3 categorization attributable to 33,77

importance of the fair value adjustment
versus overall MtM, due mostly to
contractual clauses plus the fact that the
spread is determined by proxy because
the counterparty is unrated

* Values are shown net of reserves booked.

© Volatility in a financial context is a measurement of how much the price of an instrument underlying a derivative may vary over time. The higher
the volatility of the underlying instrument, the greater the risk associated with it. In general terms long positions in options benefit from increases
in volatility, whe hort positions in options lose out from them.
For equity derivatives, the implicit volatility surface may be obtained from the price of the call and put options, as there are regulated markets for
these. The uncertainty inherent in this input is attributable to one of the following scenarios: illiquidity of quoted prices (wide bid/ask spreads,
typically present on long maturities or moneyness far from the at-the-money spot), concentration effects and non-observable market data (here too
present when maturities are considered too long or moneyness too far from the at-the-money spot).

 Equity-equity correlation is a measurement of the relationship between two equity financial instruments underlying a derivative. Variations in the
correlation levels may impact favourably or unfavourably, depending on the correlation type, on an instrument’s fair value.
Equity-equity correlations are less observable than volatilities, because correlation products are not quoted on any regulated markets. For this
reason correlations are more prone o input uncertainty.

% The base correlation is the level of relation between the default events for the underlying instruments belonging to the principal credit indexes.
The correlation is obtained from the quoted market prices of synthetic CDOs on the indexes, in particular from instruments hedging the various
parts of the equity structure of these indexes.
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A.4.3 Fair value ranking
Transfers between levels of fair value ranking

The main factors contributing to transfers between the different fair value
levels include changes in market conditions and refinements in the measurement
models and/or the non-observable inputs.

An instrument is transferred from fair value Level 1 to Level 2 or vice versa
mainly as a result of changes in the significance of a price expressed by the
reference active market for the instrument concerned.

Conversely, transfers from Level 2 to Level 3 (or vice versa) are decided on
the basis of the significance of the input data, in particular the weight which
non-observable data have in the inputs compared to observable data.

A.4.4 Other information

The Mediobanca Group has availed itself of the exception provided under
IFRS 13, paragraph 48 from measuring fair value on a net basis for financial
assets and liabilities with positions compensating for the counterparty’s market
or credit risks.
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A.4.5 Fair value ranking

A.4.5.1 Assets and liabilities recognized at fair value on a recurrent basts by fair value

ranking
Financial assets/Liabilities measured 30-6-14 30-6-13

at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
1. Financial assets held for trading 6,228,349 5,115,989 1,062,629 6,689,339 5,507,732 850,002 !

2. Financial assets recognized at

fair value — — — — — —
3. AFS securities 7,051,823 487,242 879,423 2 9,589,715 1,039,783 860,264 2
4. Hedge derivatives — 1,008,609 — — 1,105,948 —

5. Tangible assets — — — — — _

6. Intangible assets — — — — _ _

Total 13,280,172 6,611,840 1,942,052 16,279,054 7,653,463 1,710,266
1. Financial liabilities held for
trading (3,199.477) (5,085,414)  (992,270) ' (3,601,877) (4,202,961) (1,045,162) !

2. Financial liabilities recognized
at fair value — — — — — —

3. Hedge derivatives —  (353.451) — —  (336,419) —
Total (3,199,477) (5,438,865)  (992.270) (3,001,877) (4,539,380) (1,045.162)

! Includes market value of options covering those attached to bond issues by Mediobanca and Mediobanca International (€268.4m as at 30/6/14
and €234.3m as at 30/6/13) as well as options traded (€666m and €563.4m respectively), the values of which are recorded as both assets and
liabilities for the same amount.

2 Includes investments in unlisted companies valued on the basis of internal models.
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A.4.5.2 Annual changes in financial assets recognized at fair value on a recurrent basis
(level 3 assets)

(€000)

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Held for trading ! Recognized at AFS 2 Hedges

fair value

1. Balance at start of period 52,264 —_ 860,264 —_
2. Additions 136,023 — 399,304 —
2.1 Purchases 60,384 — 16,322 —
2.2 Profits recognized in: 14,892 — 360,636 —
2.2.1 profit and loss 14,892 —_ 97,701 —_
- of which, gains 14,165 — — —
2.2.2 net equity X X 262,935 —
2.3 Transfers from other levels 55,212 — 20,496 —
2.4 Other additions 5,035 —_ 1,850 —_
3. Reductions 60,027 — 380,144 —
3.1 Disposals 23,447 — 364,315 —
3.2 Redemptions 26,277 — 2,337 —
3.3 Losses recognized in: 7,982 — 13,492 —
3.3.1 profit and loss 7,982 — 12,976 —
- of which, losses 7,982 — 8,347 —
3.3.2 net equity X X 516 —
3.4 Transfers to other levels 1,928 —_ — —_
3.5 Other reductions 393 — — —
4. Balance at end of period 128,260 — 879,424 —

! Includes market value of options covering those attached to bond issues by Mediobanca and Mediobanca International (€268.4m as at 30/6/14
and €234.3m as at 30/6/13) as well as options traded (€666m and €563.4m respectively), the values of which are recorded as both assets and
liabilities for the same amount.

2 Includes investments in unlisted companies valued on the basis of internal models.
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A.4.5.3 Annual changes in liabilities recognized at fair value on a recurrent basis

(level 3 liabilities)

(€000)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Held for trading ! Recognized Hedges

at fair value

1. Balance at start of period 250,829 — —
2. Additions 82,660 — —
2.1 Issues 29,081 — —
2.2 Losses recognized in: 49,461 — —
2.2.1 profit and loss 49,461 — —
- of which, losses 49,461 — —
2.2.2 net equity X X —
2.3 Transfers from other levels 4,118 — —
2.4 Other additions — — —
3. Reductions 275,588 — —
3.1 Redemptions 133,092 — —
3.2 Buybacks — — —
3.3 Profits recognized in: 55,984 — —
3.3.1 profit and loss 55,984 — —
- of which, gains 55,984 — —
3.3.2 net equity X X —
3.4 Transfers to other levels 86,512 — —_

3.5 Other reductions — — _

4. Balance at end of period 57,901 — —

! Includes market value of options covering those attached to bond issues by Mediobanca and Mediobanca International (€268.4m as at 30/6/14
and €234.3m as at 30/6/13) as well as options traded (€666m and €563.4m respectively), the values of which are recorded as both assets and
liabilities for the same amount.
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A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilities not recognized at fair value or recognized at fair value on a
non-recurring basis, by fair value ranking

Assets/liabilities not 30/6/14 30/6/13
measured at fair value
or measured at fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
on a non-recurring basis Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
1. Financial assets held to

maturity 1,659,818 1,582,399 163,035 38411 1447817 1495852 7,396 12,226
2. Due from banks 5,287,754 — 5,029,880 246,127 4,854,958 — 3,979,950 442,347
3. Due from customers 36,623,531 — 12,053,692 25,684,608 36,413.851 — 9,346,343 26,543,900
4. Tangible assets held for

investment purposes 67,593 — — 118,816 60,379 — — 106,256
5. Non-current assets and

groups of assets being

sold — — — — — — — —
Total 43,638,696 1,582,399 17,246,607 26,088,022 42,777,005 1,495,852 13,333,689 27,104,729
1. Due to banks 11,459,800 — 11,460,317 — 12,366,182 — 10,257,020 —
2. Due to customers 16,475,388 — 16,475,335 — 16,175,810 — 16,175,810 —

3. Debt securities in issue 23,330,028 1,627,628 22,047,816 11,109 26,695,279 1,808,540 25,276,319 14,893

4. Liabilities in respect
of non-current assets
being sold

Total 51,265,216 1,627,628 49,983,468 11,109 55,237,271 1,808,540 51,709,149 14,893

A.5 - Information on day one profit/loss

For Level 3 transactions, the fair value derived from the model may differ
from the price of the transaction itself. If the difference is positive (day one
profit), it is amortized over the outstanding life of the financial instrument; if
it is negative (day one loss), it is taken directly to the profit and loss account,
on prudential gorunds. Any subsequent changes in fair value will therefore
be linked to the trends in the various risk factors to which the instrument is
exposed (interest rate/exchange rate risk, etc.) and recorded directly in the profit
and loss account.

At the reporting date the Group’s consolidated financial statements do not

contain any amounts reflecting suspended day one profits/losses in the profit and
loss account to be released over time.

Notes to the accounts | Part A - Accounting policies | 105



Part B - Notes to consolidated balance sheet *

Assets

SECTION 1

Heading 10: Cash and cash equivalents

1.1 Cash and cash equivalents

30/6/14 30/6/13
a) Cash 28,165 26,707
b) Demand deposits held at central banks 5,782 2,135
Total 33,947 28,842

* Figures in €000, save in footnotes, where figures are provided in full.
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SECTION 2

Heading 20: Financial assets held for trading

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: composition

Derivative products 30/6/14 30/6/13
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities 4,424,464 651,077 34,502 4,015,282 1,343,050 1
1.1 Structured 46,609 75,561 — 41,276 106,896 —
1.2 Other debt securities 4,377,855 575,516 34,502 3,974,006 1,236,154 1
2. Equities'' 1,038,666 27,087 162 1,037,078 — 15,343
3. UCI units 150,746 36,332 16,556 105,187 26,328 6,947
4. Loans and advances 76,145 9,683 — — 81,512 —
4.1 Repos — — — — — —
4.2 Others 76,145 9,683 — — 81,512 —
Total A 5,690,021 724,179 51,220 5,157,547 1,450,890 22,291
B. Derivative products
1. Financial derivatives 538,328 3,859,177 1,010,350 871,461 3,933,290 827,711
1.1 Trading 538,328 3,654,166 741,374 2 871,461 3,745,030 578,386 2
1.2 Linked to fair value options — — — — — —
1.3 Others — 205,011 268,976 3 — 183,260 249,325 3
2. Credit derivatives — 532,633 1,059 660,331 123,552 —
2.1 Trading — 532,633 1,059 660,331 123,552 —
2.2 Linked to fair value options — — — — — —
2.3 Others — — — — — —
Total B 538,328 4,391,810 1,011,409 1,531,792 4,056,842 827,711
Total (A+B) 6,228,349 5,115,989 1,062,629 6,089,339 5,507,732 850,002

! Equities as at 30/6/14 include shares committed in securities lending transactions totalling €556,639,000 (30/6/13: €139,622,000).
2 Respectively €665,980,000 and €563,420,000 in respect of options traded, with the equivalent amount being recorded as trading liabilities.

* Includes the market value of options (€268.4m) covering those linked with bonds issued by Mediobanca S.p.A. and Mediobanca International,
with the equivalent amount being recorded as trading liabilities.
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: by borrower/issuer

Item/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
A. CASH ASSETS

1. Debt securities 5,110,043 5,358,333

a. Governments and central banks 3,347,653 3,745,027

b. Other public agencies 208,887 78,603

c. Banks 480,937 482,845

d. Other issuers 1,072,566 1,051,858

2. Equities 1,065,915 1,052,421

a. Banks 72,724 114,601

b. Other issuers 993,191 937,820

- insurances 42,115 66,949

- financial companies 52,313 6,948

- non-financial companies 897,024 859,637

- others 1,739 4,286

3. UCI units 203,634 138,462

4. Loans and advances 85,828 81,512

a. Governments and central banks — —

b. Other public agencies — —

c. Banks — 7,629

d. Other entities 85,828 73,883

Total A 6,465,420 6,630,728
B. DERIVATIVE PRODUCTS

a. Banks 3,572,791 3,884,005

- fair value 3,572,791 3,884,005

b. Customers 2,368,756 2,532,340

- fair value 2,368,756 2,532,340

Total B 5,941,547 6,416,345

Total A+B 12,406,967 13,047,073
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2.3 Financial assets held for trading: movements during the period

Debt Equities UCI units Loans and Total
securities advances

A. Balance at slart of period 5,358,333 1,052,421 138,462 81,512 6,630,728
B. Additions 42,292,520 6,636,790 271,226 164,070 49,364,606
B.1 Acquisitions 41,465,588 6,373,127 262,062 158,189 48,258,966
B.2 Increases in fair value 124,228 110,831 0,627 289 241,975
B.3 Other additions 702,704 152,832 2,537 5,592 863,665

C. Reductions 42,540,810 6,623,296 206,054 159,754 49,529,914
C.1 Disposals 40,790,371 6,513,508 204,818 155,895 47,604,592
C.2 Redemptions 1,613,020 — — 411 1,613,431
C.3 Reductions in fair value 57,302 18,762 469 55 76,588
C.4 Transfers to other portfolios — — — — —
C.5 Other reductions 80,117 91,026 767 3,393 175,303

D. Balance at end of period 5,110,043 1,065,915 203,634 85,828 6,465,420

SECTION 4

Heading 40: Available for sale (AFS) securities

4.1 AFS securities: composition

Item/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 * Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 *
1. Debt securities 6,651,103 486,858 14,917 8,938,677 1,028,470 —
1.1 Structured — — — — — —
1.2 Other debt securities 6,051,103 486,858 14,917 8,938,677 1,028,470 —
2. Equities 400,720 — 740,826 650,672 643 753,553
2.1 Recognized at fair value 400,720 — 740,774 650,672 643 753,501
2.2 Recognized at cost — — 52 — — 52
3. UCI units — 384 123,680 366 10,670 106,711
4. Loans and advances — — — — — —
Total 7,051,823 487,242 879,423 9,589,715 1,039,783 860,264

*# Includes shares in non-listed companies based on internal rating models.
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4.2 AFS securities: by borrower/issuer

Item/value 30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Debt securities 7,152,878 9,967,147

a. Governments and central banks 4,966,047 7,266,991

b. Other public agencies — —

c. Banks 1,156,498 1,571,184

d. Other issuers 1,030,333 1,128,972

2. Equities 1,141,546 1,404,868

a. Banks — 208,409

b. Other issuers 1,141,546 1,196,459

- insurances — —

- financial companies 57,931 63,677

- non-financial undertakings 1,071,618 1,118,849

- others 11,997 13,933

3. UCI units 124,064 117,747

4. Loans and advances — —

a. Governments and central banks — —

b. Other public agencies — —

c. Banks — —

d. Other issuers — —

Total 8,418,488 11,489,762
4.3 AFS securities: assets subject to specific hedging

Item/value 30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Financial assets subject to specific fair value hedges: 793,555 —

a. interest rate risk 793,555 —

b. price risk — —

c. exchange rate risk — —

d. credit risk — —

e. more than one risk — —

2. Financial assets subject to specific cash flow hedges: — 77,183

a. interest rate risk — 77,183

b. exchange rate risk — —

c. other — —

Total 793,555 77,183
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4.4 AFS securities: movements during the period

Debt securities Equities UCI units Loans and Total
advances
A. Balance at slart of period 9,967,147 1,404,868 117,747 — 11,489,762
B. Additions 5,662,526 695,846 17,120 — 6,375,492
B.1 Acquisitions 5,458,342 159,596 7,487 — 5,625,425
B.2 Increases in fair value 159,628 345,112 9,400 — 514,140
B.3 Writebacks — — — — —
- recognized in profit and loss account — X — — —
- recognized in net equity — — — —
B.4 Transfers from other asset classes — — — — —
B.5 Other additions 44,556 191,138 233 — 235,927
C. Reductions 8,476,795 959,168 10,803 — 9,446,766
C.1 Disposals 3,061,605 946,488 7,627 — 4,015,720
C.2 Redemptions 5,370,736 — — — 5,370,736
C.3 Reductions in fair value 9,101 2,015 427 — 11,543
C.4 Writedowns due to impairment — 6,186 2,749 — 8,935
- taken to profit and loss account —_ 6,186 2,539 — 8,725
- taken to net equity — — 210 — 210
C.5 Transfers to other asset classes — — — — —
C.6 Other reductions 35,353 4,479 — — 39,832
D. Balance at end of period 7,152,878 1,141,546 124,064 —_ 8,418,488
SECTION 5
Heading 50: Financial assets held to maturity
5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: composition
Type of transactions/ 30/6/14 30/6/13
group components Book Fair value Book Fair value
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
1. Debt securities 1,659,818 1,536,622 150,608 38,411 1,447,817 1,495,852 7,396 12,226
1.1 Structured — — — — — — — —
1.2 Other debt
securities 1,659,818 1,596,622 150,608 38,411 1,447,817 1,495,852 7,396 12,226
2. Loans and advances — — — — — — — —
Total 1,659,818 1,596,622 150,608 38,411 1,447,817 1,495,852 7,396 12,226
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5.2 Assets held to maturity: by borrower/issuer

Type of transactions/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Debt securities 1,659,818 1,447,817
a. Governments and central banks 362,189 360,597
b. Other public agencies — —
c. Banks 502,378 391,559
d. Other entities 795,251 695,661
2. Loans and advances — —
a. Governments and central banks — —
b. Other public agencies — —
c. Banks — —
d. Other entities — —
Total 1,659,818 1,447,817
Total fair value 1,785,641 1,515,474

5.4 Assets held to maturity: movements during the period

Debt securities Loans and advances Total

A. Balance at start of period 1,447,817 —_ 1,447,817
B. Additions 311,923 — 311,923
B.1 Acquisitions 310,953 — 310,953
B.2 Writebacks 498 — 498
B.3 Transfers from other asset classes — — —
B.4 Other additions 472 — 472

C. Reductions 99,922 — 99,922
C.1 Disposal 23,313 — 23,313
C.2 Redemptions 68,083 —_ 68,083
C.3 Value adjustments 3,269 — 3,269
C.4 Transfers to other asset classes — — —
C.5 Other reductions 5,257 — 5,257

D. Balance at end of period 1,659,818 —_ 1,659,818
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SECTION 6

Heading 60 - Due from banks

6.1 Due from banks: composition

Type of transactions/value

30/6/14

30/6/13

Book value Fair Value Book value Fair Value
Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A. Due from central banks 136,897 — 136,897 — 77,843 — 62,687
1. Term deposits — X X X — X X X
2. Compulsory reserves 136,897 X X X 77,843 X X
3. Amounts due under repo
agreements — X X X — X X X
4. Other amounts due — X X X — X X X
B. Due from banks 5,150,857 — 4,892,983 246,127 4,777,115 — 3,917,263 442,347
1. Loans and advances 5,150,857 — 4,892,983 246,127 4,777,115 — 3,917,263 442,347
1.1 Current accounts and
demand deposits 2,244,332 X X X 2,749,533 X X X
1.2 Term deposits 177.216 X X 30,097 X
1.3 Other receivables: 2,729,309 X X X 1,997,485 X X X
- amounts due under
repo agreements 1,983,525 X X X 893,024 X X X
- amounts due under
finance leases 3,789 X X X 4,371 X X X
- other amounts due 741,995 X X X 1,100,090 X X X
2. Debt securities — — — — — — — —
2.1 structured — X X X — X X X
2.2 other debt securities — X X X — X X X
Total book value 5,287,754 — 5,029,880 246,127 4,854,958 — 3,979,950 442,347
6.3 Financial leasing
Loan term Total 30/6/14
Impaired Minimum payments Gross investment
exposures Equity share Interest
of which share of which
outstanding outstanding
amount amount not
guaranteed guaranteed
Up to 3 months — 343 — 69 412 1
Between 3 months and 1 year — 863 — 126 989 9
Between 1 year and 5 years — 1,578 — 258 1.836 14
Over 5 years — 1,096 — 240 1.336 18
Unspecified — — — — — —
Total — 3,880 — 693 4.573 42

* This table, based on the “Instructions for financial intermediaries registered in the special list of electronic money institutions, fund managers
and securities brokerages™ published by the Bank of Italy, shows the book value of impaired exposures, the current value of minimum payments
(before value adjustments, if any) and gross investments, broken down by time horizon.
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7.2 Due from customers: by borrower/issuer

Type of transactions/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
Performing Impaired Performing Impaired
Acquired Other Acquired Other
1. Debt securities 386,516 — — 605,696 — —
a) Governments — — — — — —
b) Other public entities — — — — — —
¢) Other issuers: 386,516 — — 605,696 — —
non-financial
undertakings 14,708 —_ — 15,480 —_ —_
financial companies 371,808 — — 590,216 — —
insurances — — — — — —
others — — — — — —
2. Loans to: 35,079,411 84,586 1,073,018 34,818,968 92,310 896,877
a) Governments — — — 3,736 — —
b) Other public entities 120,995 — 10 73,918 — 337
¢) Other parties: 34,958,416 84,586 1,073,008 34,741,314 92,310 896,540
non-financial
undertakings 11,546,237 3,192 617.570 13,711,951 2,124 411,721
financial comapanies 8,260,236 12 32,989 5,031,484 — 54,810
insurances 864,356 11 3 1,977,371 — —
others 14,287,587 81,371 422,446 14,020,508 90.186 430,009
Total 35,465,927 84,586 1,073,018 35,424,664 92,310 896,877
7.3 Due from customers: assets subject to specific hedging
Type of transactions/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Items subject to specific fair value hedges for: 241,187 261,611
a) interest rate risk 241,187 261,611
b) exchange rate risk — —
c) credit risk — —
d) more than one risk — —
2. Items subject to specific cash flow hedges: — —
a) interest rate risk — —
b) exchange rate risk — —
¢) other — —
Total 241,187 261,611
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7.4 Financial leasing

Loan term

Total 30/6/14:

Impaired Minimum payments Gross investment
Exposures

Equity share Interest

share
of which of which
outstanding outstanding
amount amount not
guaranteed guaranteed
Up to 3 months 8,054 166,572 — 23,152 188,689 4,378
Between 3 months and 1 year 78,972 395,649 15 57.832 530,031 20,931
Between 1 year and 5 years 165,597 1.177,963 289 224,451 1.483,806 102,498
Over 5 years 4,463 1,003,310 — 162,727 1,170,211 263,708
Unspecified 93 — — — 93 —
Total 257,179 2,743,495 304 468,161 3,372,830 391,515

* This table, based on the “Instructions for financial intermediaries registered in the special list of electronic money institutions, fund managers
and securities brokerages” published by the Bank of Italy, shows the book value of impaired exposures, the current value of minimum payments
(before value adjustments, if any) and gross investments, broken down by time horizon.

SECTION 8

Heading 80: Hedging derivatives

8.1 Hedging derivatives: by hedge type and level

30/6/14 Notional 30/6/13 Notional
Fair value value Fair value value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A. Financial derivates — 1,008,609 — 15,514,778 — 1,105,948 — 19,637,292
1) Fair value — 1,008,609 — 15,514,778 — 1,105,948 — 19,637,292
2) Cash flow — — — — _ _ _ _
3) Non-Italian
investments — — — — — — _ —
B. Credit derivatives — — — — — — — _
1) Fair value — — — — — — _ _
2) Cash flow — —_ — — — — _ _
Total — 1,008,609 — 15,514,778 — 1,105,948 — 19,637,292
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: by portfolio hedged and hedge type (book value)

Operations/type Fair value hedges Cash flow hedges Non-ltalian
of hedging investments
Specific General Specific General
Interest Exchange Credit Price  More than
rate risk  rate risk risk risk one risk
1. AFS securities — — — — — X — X X
2. Loans and advances — — — X — X — X X
3. Financial assets held to
maturity X — — X — X — X X
4. Portfolio X X X X X — X — X
5. Non-Italian investments — — — — X — X —
Total assets — — — — — — — — _
1. Financial liabilities 1,008,609 — — X — X — X X
2. Portfolio X X X X X — X — X
Total liabilities 1,008,609 — — X — — — — X
1. Estimated transactions X X X X X X — X X
2. Portfolio of financial
assets and liabilities X X X X X — X — —
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SECTION 10

Heading 100: Equity investments

10.1 Investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled companies and companies subject to
significant influence: disclosures on shareholdings

Name Registered office Type of Shareholding Yo of voting
relation rights

COMPANIES ship CI;'::;;','V %o imerest
1. Banca Esperia S.p.A. Milan 1 Mediobanca 50.0 50.0
2. Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. Trieste 2 Mediobanca 13.24 13.24
3. Burgo Group S.p.A. Altavilla Vicentina (V) 2 Mediobanca 22.13 22.13
4. Athena Private Equity S.A.

(in liquidation) Luxembourg 2 Mediobanca 24.27 24.27
5. Fidia SGR S.p.A. (in liquidation) Milan 2 Mediobanca 25.0 25.0
Legend:

1 Joint control.
2 Subject to significant influence.
3 Exclusively controlled and not consolidated.

10.2 Investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled companies and companies subject to
significant influence: financial information

Name Key financial data ! Data for consolidation ?
Total Total  Net equity  Of which: Book value Fair value
assets income net profit
(€m) (€m) (loss)

A. EQUITY-ACCOUNTED COMPANIES

A.1 JOINTLY-CONTROLLED
COMPANIES (IAS 31)

1. Banca Esperia S.p.A. 1,848,512 115,787 191,499 9.986 97,583 —

A.2 COMPANIES SUBJECT TO
SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE (IAS 28)

1. Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. 449,656,000 86,180,000 20,897,534 1,971,425 2,767,420 3,334,619

2. Burgo Group S.p.A. 1,991,768 2,391,538 286,453  (19,913) — —
3. Athena Private Equity S.A. 113,548 12,637 23,817 7,608 5,680 —
4. Fidia SGR S.p.A. (in liquidation) 3,402 118 2,438 59 610 —
A.3 OTHER INVESTMENTS
1. Other minor investments — — — — 82 —
Total 2,871,375

! Based on most recent approved individual or consolidated financial statements, as the case may be.
2 Calculated pro-forma based on financial situation as at 31/3/13 or 30/6/13.
* Includes goodwill of €1,833,000.

The Burgo Group investment has been written off in full on prudential
grounds, with an impact of €18.6m to the profit and loss account, in view of the
lost incurred by the company in 2013, due among other things to the ongoing
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difficulties being encountered by its sector of operation. The has recently

approved a new business plan and contacted its stakeholders with a view to re-

establishing the group’s capital structure.

The other investments (in Assicurazioni Generali, Banca Esperia, Athena

and Fidia) continue to be carried at their respective net asset values, with no

evidence of impairment emerging.

10.3 Equity investments: movements during the pertod

Type of transactions/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
A. Balance at start of period 2,586,899 3,165,512
B. Additions 322,792 278,756
B.1 Acquisitions — 31
B.2 Value adjustments — —
B.3 Revaluations — —
B.4 Other adjustments 322,792 278,725
C. Reductions 38,316 857,369
C.1 Disposals 15,959 —
C.2 Value adjustments for impairment 18,612 139,796
C.3 Other reductions 3,745 717,573
D. Balance at end of period 2,871,375 2,586,899
E. Total revaluations — —
F. Total adjustments 733,349 714,737
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SECTION 12

Heading 120: Property, plant and equipment

12.1 Tangible assets stated at cost

Assets/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Assets owned by the Group 238.456 235.041
a) land 84.883 84.883
b) buildings 110.554 111.658
c¢) furniture 12.824 14.447
d) electronic equipment 12.634 10.186
e) other assets 17.561 13.867
2. Assets acquired under finance leases: 17 —
a) land — —
b) buildings 17 —

¢) furniture — —
d) electronic equipment — —
e) other assets — —

Total 238.473 235.041

For a breakdown of the item Core assets — Buildings, see the table on p. 31
of the Review of Operations.

12.2 Core tangible assets: movements during the period

Assets/value 30/6/14 30/6/13
Fair Value Fair Value
Book Book
value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
1. Assets owned by the Group 67,593 —_ — 118,816 60,379 —_ — 106,256
a) land 26,674 — — 66,411 23,739 — — 58,799
b) buildings 40,919 — — 52,405 36,640 — — 47,457

2. Assets acquired under
finance leases: — — — — — — _ _

a) land — — — — — — — _
b) buildings — — _ _ _ _ _ .
Total 67,593 — — 118,816 60,379 — — 106,256
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12.5 Core properties: movements during the period

Land Buildings  Furniture Electronic Other Total
equipment assets
A. Gross opening balance 84,883 145,219 45,761 34,449 61,148 371,460
A.1 Total net value reductions — (33,5601)  (31,314) (24,263) (47,281) (136,419)
A.2 Net opening balance 84,883 111,658 14,447 10,186 13,867 235,041
B. Additions: — 3,080 2,610 4,961 9,551 20,202
B.1 Purchases — 2,823 2,610 4,264 9,259 18,956
B.2 Improvement expenses, capitalized — 257 — — — 257
B.3 Writebacks — — — — — —
B.4 Increases in fair value recognized in: — — — — — —
a) net equity — — — — — —
b) profit and loss account — — — — — —
B.5 Increases arising due to exchange
rates — — — — — —
B.6 Transfers from properties held for
mvestment purposes — — — — — —
B.7 Other additions — — — 697 292 989
C. Reductions: — 4,167 4,233 2,513 5,857 16,770
C.1 Disposals — — 3 52 37 92
C.2 Depreciation charges — 3,674 4,229 2,179 5,610 15,700
C.3 Value adjustments for impairment
taken to: — — — — — _
a) net equity
b) profit and loss account
C.4 Reductions in fair value charged to: — — — — — —
a) net equity — — — — — —
b) profit and loss account — — — — — —
C.5 Reductions due to exchange rates — 2 1 1 — 4
C.6 Transfers to: — — — — — —
a) assets held for investment
purposes — — — — — —
b) assets being sold — — — — — —
C.7 Other reductions — 491 — 273 210 974
D. Net closing balance 84,883 110,571 12,824 12,634 17,561 238,473
D.1 Total net value reductions — (37,235)  (35,476) (25,466) (52,379) (150,556)
D.2 Gross closing balance 84,883 147.806 48,300 38,100 69,940 389,029

E. Stated at cost — — — — _ _
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12.6 Properties held for investment purposes: movements during the period

Total
Land Buildings
A. Opening balance 23,739 36,640
B. Additions 2,935 6,829
B.1 Purchases 2,935 6,812
B.2 Improvement expenses, capitalized — 17

B.3 Net increases in fair value — —
B.4 Writebacks — _
B.5 Increases arising due to exchange rates — —
B.6 Transfers from core assets — —
B.7 Other additions — —
C. Reductions — 2,550
C.1 Disposals — —

C.2 Depreciation charges — 2,550
C.3 Reductions in fair value — —
C.4 Value adjustments for impairment — —
C.5 Reductions arising due to exchange rates — —
C.6 Transfers to other asset portfolios — —

a) core assels — —

b) non-current assets being sold — —

C.7 Other reductions — —

D. Closing balance 26,674 40,919
E. Stated at fair value 66,411 52,405

These consist of the following properties:

SQU. m Book Value Book Value

(€ m) per SQU. m

(€ 000)

Roma: Piazza di Spagna 8,228 26,232 3.2

Lecce: Via Brenta 21,024 24,278 1.2

Bologna: Via Todaro 6,913 7,312 1.1

Verona: Localita Bovolone 15,680 9,746 0.6

Other 25 n.m.
Total 51,845 67,593
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SECTION 13

Heading 130: Intangible assets

13.1 Intangible assets

Assets/ amounts 30/6/14 30/6/13
Limited Unlimited Limited Unlimited
useful life useful life useful life useful life
A.1 Goodwill X 365,934 X 365,934
A.1.1 attributable to the Group X 365,934 X 365,934
A.1.2 attributable to third parties X — X —
A.2 Other intangible assets 39,841 3,600 40,086 6,300
A.2.1 Recognized at cost: 39,841 3,600 40,086 6,300
a) intangible assets generated internally — — — —
b) other assets 39,841 3,600 40,086 6,300
A.2.2 Recognized at fair value: — — — —
a) intangible assets generated internally — — — —
b) other assets — — — —
Total 39.841 369,534 40,086 372,234
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13.2 Intangible assets: movements during the period

Goodwill Other intangible assets: Other intangible assets: Total
generated internally other
Limited Unlimited Limited Unlimited
useful life useful life useful life useful life
A. Balance at start of period 365,934 —_ —_ 144,535 6,300 516,769
A.1 Total net value reductions — — —  (104,449) —  (104,449)
A.2 Net opening balance 365,934 — — 40,086 6,300 412,320
B. Additions — — — 20,045 — 20,045
B.1 Purchases —_ —_ —_ 20,044 — 20,044
B.2 Increases in internally generated
assels X — — — — —
B.3 Revaluations X — — — — —
B.4 Increases in fair value taken to: X — — — — —
— net equity X — — — — —
— profit and loss account X — — — — —
B.5 Increases arising on exchange rates — — — — — —
B.6 Other additions — — — 1 — 1
C. Reductions — — — 20,290 2,700 22,990
C.1 Disposals — — — 178 — 178
C.2 Value adjustments — — — 20,112 2,700 22,812
— amortization X — — 20,112 — 20.112
— writedowns — — — — 2,700 2,700
+ net equity X — — — — —
+ profit and loss account — — — — 2,700 2,700
C.3 Reductions in fair value charged to: — — — — — —
— nel equity X — — — — —
— profit and loss account X — — — — —
C.4 Transfers to non-current assets
being sold — — — — — —
C.5 Reductions due to exchange rate
differences — — — — — —
C.6 Other reductions — — — — — —
D. Balance at end of period 365,934 —_ —_ 39,841 3,600 409,375
D.1 Total net value adjustments — — —  (124,561) —  (124,561)
E. Gross closing balance 365,934 — — 164,402 3,600 533,936

F. Stated at cost — — — _ _
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SECTION 14

Asset heading 140 and Liability heading 80: Tax assets and

liabilities

For information on the tax rates, see part C, “Notes to the consolidated profit

and loss account”, p. 158.

14.1 Advance tax assets: composition

30/6/14 30/6/13

Corporate income tax (IRES) 648,566 598,223

Regional production tax (IRAP) 62,706 51,252

Total 711,272 649,475

14.2 Deferred tax liabilities: composition

30/6/14 30/6/13

Corporate income tax (IRES) 332,299 325,849

Regional production tax (IRAP) 28,820 14,689

Total 361,119 340,538
14.3 Changes in advance tax during the period

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Opening balance 586,422 528,382

2. Additions 192,763 112,804

2.1 Advance tax originating during the period 192,742 112,804

a) for previous years 2,146 655

b) due to changes in accounting policies — —

¢) amounts written back 43 53

d) other additions 190,553 112,096

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates — —

2.3 Other additions 21 —

3. Reductions 96,357 54,764

3.1 Advance tax reversed during the period 89,903 46,635

a) reclassifications 85,914 46,110

b) amounts written off as unrecoverable — —

¢) due to changes in accounting policies — 53

d) other 3,989 472

3.2 Reductions in tax rates 1,903 —

3.3 Other reductions 4,551 8,129

a) amounts converted into tax credits pursuant to Italian Law 214/11 4,493 8,082

b) other reductions 58 47

4. Balance at end of period 682,828 586,422
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14.3.1 Changes in advance tax during the period (pursuant to Italian Law 214/11)

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Balance at start of period 447,576 413,266

2. Increases 179,425 74,221

3. Reductions 42,603 39,911

3.1 Transfers 35.970 31.860

3.2 Conversion to tax credit deriving from 4,459 8,034

a) operating loss for the period — —

b) tax losses 4,459 8,034

3.3 Other reductions 2,174 17

4. Balance at end of period 584,398 447,576
14.4 Changes in deferred tax during the period

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Opening balance 284,173 274,814

2. Additions 9,209 10,482

2.1 Deferred tax originating during period 5,307 8,993

a) relating to previous years — 16

b) due to changes in accounting policies — —

¢) others 5,307 8,977

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates — 13

2.3 Other additions 3,902 1,476

3. Reductions 20,653 1,123

3.1 Deferred tax reversed during period 20,539 988

a) reclassifications 20,532 530

b) due to changes in accounting policies — 166

c) others 7 202

3.2 Reductions in tax rates — —

3.3 Other reductions 114 135

4. Balance at end of period 272,729 284,173
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14.5 Changes in advance tax during the period '

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Opening balance 63,053 209,106

2. Additions 8,214 31,930

2.1 Advance tax originating during period 8.214 39,930

a) for previous years — —

b) due to changes in accounting policies 87 53

¢) others 8,127 31,877

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates — —

2.3 Other additions — —

3. Reductions 42,823 177,983

3.1 Advance tax reversed during period 42,546 177,983

a) reclassifications 35,976 140,076

b) writedowns of non-recoverable items — —

¢) due to changes in accounting policies — —

d) others 6,570 37,907

3.2 Reductions in tax rates 277 —

3.3 Other reductions — —

4. Balance at end of period 28,444 63,053

" Taxes on cash flow hedges and AFS securities valuations.

14.6 Changes in deferred tax during the period '

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Opening balance 56,363 21,304

2. Additions 87,962 56,225

2.1 Deferred tax originating during period 87,962 56,225

a) for previous years — —

b) due to changes in accounting policies — 166

¢) others 87,962 56,059

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates — —

2.3 Other additions — —

3. Reductions 55,936 21,166

3.1 Advance tax reversed during the period 55,931 21,146

a) reclassifications 55,778 21,041

b) due to changes in accounting policies — —

c) others 153 105

3.2 Reductions in tax rates 5 —

3.3 Other reductions — 20

4. Balance at end of period 88,390 56,363

! Taxes on cash flow hedges and AFS securities valuations.
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SECTION 16

Heading 160: Other assets

16.1 Other assets: composition

30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Gold, silver and precious metals 695 695
2. Accrued income other than capitalized income from financial assets 9,486 8,234
3. Trade receivables or invoices to be issued 104,349 57,975
4. Amounts due from tax revenue authorities (not recorded under Heading 140) 140,773 103,349
5. Other items 85,830 91,871
- bills for collection 11,252 13,030
- bmounts due in respect of premiums, grants, indemnities and other

items in respect of lending transactions 45,839 55,884
- futures and other securities transactions 903 746
- advance payments on deposit commissions 7,923 7,043
- other items in transit 13,019 9,753
- exchange rate adjustments on transactions in foreign currencies — —
- amounts due to staff 275 282

- downpayments made on derivative contracts —
- sundry other items 6,619 5,133
6. Adjustment arising on consolidation 1 —
Total 341,134 262,124,
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Liabilities
SECTION 1
Heading 10: Due to banks

1.1 Due to banks: composition

Type of transaction/amounts 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Due to central banks 5,581,084 7,586,807
2. Due to banks 5,878,716 4,779,375
2.1 Current accounts and demand deposits 2,184,721 2,425,824
2.2 Term deposits 53,449 —
2.3 Borrowings 3,624,297 2,336,799
2.3.1 Reverse repos 1,101,385 40,359

2.3.2 Others 2,522,912 2,296,440

2.4 Liabilities in respect of assets sold but not derecognized — —
2.5 Other amounts due 16,249 16,752
Total 11,459,800 12,366,182
Fair Value 1 — —
Fair Value 2 11,460,317 10,257,020
Fair Value 3 — —
Total fair value 11,460,317 10,257,020

1.2 Breakdown of heading 10 “Due to banks”: subordinated liabilities

Subordinated liabilities included under the heading Due to banks amount to

€43,386,000, and refer to amounts payable by Linea to its former shareholders.

1.4 Due to banks: items subject to specific hedges

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Items subject to specific fair value hedges for: 257,599 228,451
a) interest rate risk 257,599 228451

b) exchange rate risk — —

¢) more than one risk — —

2. Items subject to specific cash flow hedges for: 418,000 535,500
a) interest rate risk 418,000 535,500

b) exchange rate risk — —

c) other — —
Total 675,599 763,951
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SECTION 2

Heading 20: Due to customers

2.1 Due to customers: composition

Type of transaction/amounts 30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Current accounts and demand deposits 4,282,366 3,360,073

2. Term deposits 9,409,622 10,220,714

3. Borrowings 2,783,390 2,594,857

3.1 Reverse repos 1,112,816 874,656

3.2 others 1,670,574 1,720,201

4. Liabilities in respect of assets sold but not derecognized — —

5. Other amounts due 10 166

Total 16,475,388 16,175,810

Fair Value 1 — —

Fair Value 2 16,475,335 16,175,810

Fair Value 3 — —

Total fair value 16,475,335 16,175,810
2.4 Due to customers: items subject to specific hedges

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Ttems subject to specific fair value hedges for: 105,029 93,497

a) interest rate risk 105,029 93,497

b) exchange rate risk — —

¢) more than one risk — —

2. Items subject to specific cash flow hedges for: — —

a) interest rate risk — —

b) exchange rate risk — —

¢) other — —

Total 105,029 93,497
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SECTION 3

Heading 30: Debt securities in issue

3.1 Debt securities in issue: composition

Type of transaction/

30/6/14

30/6/13

amounts

Book value Fair value * Book value Fair value *
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A. Listed securities
1. bonds 23,318,919 1,627,628 22,047,816 — 26,680,386 1,808,540 25,276,319 —
1.1 structured 9,464,572 402,555 9,215,157 — 11,348,926 492,551 11,033,346 —
1.2 others 13,854,347 1,225,073 12,832,659 — 15,331,460 1,315,989 14,242,973 —
2. other securities 11,109 — — 11,109 14,893 — — 14,893
2.1 structured — — — — — — — —
2.2 others 11,109 — — 11,109 14,893 — — 14,893
Total 23,330,028 1,627,628 22,047,816 11,109 26,695,279 1,808,540 25,276,319 14,893

* The fair values are shown net of Mediobanca issuer risk; if this item is included, the fair value at 30 June 2014 would show a gain of €149m

(€204m).

The book value of bonds fell from €26,680,386,000 to €23,318,919,000,
following new issuance totalling €5.4bn, redemptions amounting to €7.9bn,
buybacks on the market worth €1.1bn (generating losses totalling €16.9m),

and other downward adjustments (to reflect exchange rates, amortized cost and

hedging effects) of €226m.

3.2 Breakdown of heading 30 “Debt securities in issue”: subordinated liabilities

Debt securities in issue include the following four subordinated, lower tier

2 issues in an aggregate amount of €1,898,639,000:

Issue 30/6/14

ISIN code Nominal value Book value
MB GBP Lower Tier II Fixed/Floating Rate Notes 2018
(no longer qualifying as regulatory capital) XS80270002669 22,684 28,268
MB Secondo Atto 5% 2020 Lower Tier 2 170004645542 749,091 863,834
MB Quarto Atto a Tasso Variabile 2021 Lower Tier 2 170004720436 490,265 484,697
MB CARATTERE 5.75% 2023 Lower Tier 2 1T0004917842 496,100 521,840
Total subordinated securities 1,758,140 1,898,639
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3.3 Breakdown of heading 30 “Debt securities in issue”: items subject to specific hedging

30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Securities subject to specific fair value hedges 16,613,364 19,635,236
a) interest rate risk 16,613,364 19,635,236
b) exchange rate risk — —
¢) other — —
2. Securities subject to specific cash flow hedges 4,468,892 4,587,688
a) interest rate risk 4,468,892 4,587,688
b) exchange rate risk — —
¢) other — —
Total 21,082,256 24,222,924
SECTION 4
Heading 40: Trading liabilities
4.1 Trading liabilities: composition
Type of transaction/ 30/6/14 30/6/13
amounts Nominal Fair value Fair Nominal Fair value Fair
value Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Value value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value
A. Cash liabilities
1. Due to banks 1,593,649 1,645468 41,121 — 1,686,580 994,209 1,007,172 — — 1,007,172
2. Due to customers 804,828 830,998 20,767 — 851,765 953,761 966,197 — — 966,197
3. Debt securities — — — — X — — — — X
3.1 Bonds — — — — X — — — — X
3.1.1 Structured — — — — X _ _ _ _ X
3.1.2 Other — — — — X — — — — X
3.2 Other securities — — — — X — — — — X
3.2.1 Structured — — — — X — — — — X
3.2.2 Other — — — — X — — — — X
Total A 2398477 2476466 61,888 — 2538354 1,947,970 1,973,369 — — 1,973,306
B. Derivative products
1. Financial derivatives X 723011 4163018 992,270 X X 971,695 3.803,955 1,045,162 X
1.1 Trading X 723011 3957062 697495 ! X X 971,695 3,615,742 791614 ! X
1.2 Linked to fair value
oplions X — — — X X — — — X
1.3 Other X — 205956 294775 2 X X — 188213 253,548 2 X
2. Credit derivatives X — 860,508 — X X 656813 399,006 — X
2.1 Trading X — 860,508 — X X 656813 399,000 — X
2.2 Linked to fair value
options X — — — X X — — — X
2.3 Other X — — — X X — — — X
Total B X 723011 5023526 992270 X X 1,628,508 4,202,961 1,045,162 X
Total (A+B) X 3199477 5085414 992.270 X X 3,601,877 4,202,961 1,045.162 X

* Fair value calculated excluding variations in value due to changes in the issuer’s credit standing.

! Respectively €665,980,000 and €563,420,000 in respect of options traded, matching the amount recorded among assets held for trading.

2 Includes the market value (€268.4m) of options covering options matched with bonds issued by Mediobanca and Mediobanca International, against the
same amount recorded among assets held for trading.
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SECTION 6

Heading 60: Hedging derivatives

6.1 Hedging derivatives: by type of product/underlying asset

Ttems/amounts 30/6/14 Fair value Nominal 30/6/13 Fair value Nominal
value value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

A. Financial
derivatives — 353,451 7,836,764 — 336,419 — 7,632,787
1) Fair value — 328,386 7,531,764 — 303,299 — 7,000,287
2) Cash flow — 25,005 305,000 — 33,120 — 632,500

3) Non-ltalian

investments — — — — — — _

B. Financial
derivatives — — — — — — —
1) Fair value — — — — — — —
2) Cash flow — — — — — — —
Total — 353,451 7,836,764 — 336,419 — 7,632,787

6.2 Hedging derivatives

: by portfolio hedged/hedge type

Operations/type of

Fair value hedges

Cash flow hedges

Non-ltalian

hedging investments
Specific General Specific General
Interest Exchange Credit risk Price risk More than
rate risk  rate risk one risk

1. AFS securities 23,324 — — — — X — X X
2. Loans and

advances 9,186 —_ —_ X — X —_ X X
3. Financial assets

held to maturity X — — X — X — X X
4. Portfolio X X X X — X — X
5. Other operations — — — X — X
Total assets 32,510 — — — — — — — —
1. Financial

liabilities 295,876 — — X — X 25,065 X X
2. Portfolio X X X X X — X — X
Total liabilities 295,876 — — X — — 25,065 — X
1. Expected

transactions X X X X X X — X X
2. Portfolio of

financial assets

and liabilities X X X X X — X — —
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SECTION 8

Heading 80 - Deferred liabilities

Please see asset section 14.

SECTION 10

Heading 100: Other liabilities

10.1 Other liabilities: composition

30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Payment agreements (IFRS 2) — 9
2. Impaired endorsements 19,130 13,764
3. Working capital payables and invoices pending receipt 243,014 190,640
4. Amounts due to revenue authorities 90,474 113,712
5. Amounts due to staff 129,668 127,796
6. Other items: 228,260 105,620
- bills for collection 25,890 25,563
- coupons and dividends pending collection 2,219 2,217
- available sums payable to third parties 159,611 22,795
- premiums, grants and other items in respect of lending transactions 23,067 32,129
- credit notes to be issued 12,610 16,935
- other 4,863 5,981
7. Adjustments upon consolidation 20 5
Total 710,566 551,546
SECTION 11
Heading 110: Staff severance indemnity provision
11.1 Staff severance indemnity provision: changes during the period
30/6/14 30/6/13
A. Balance at start of period 27,701 24,652
B. Additions 13,014 14,281
B.1 Transfers during period 10,226 8.824
B.2 Other additions 2,788 5,457
C. Reductions 11,978 11,232
C.1 Indemnities paid out 3,038 2,045
C.2 Other reductions! 8,940 9,187
D. Balance at end of period 28,737 27,701

! Includes €5,809,000 in transfers to external, defined contribution pension schemes (30/6/13: €7,110,000).
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SECTION 12

Heading 120: Provisions

12.1 Provisions: composition

Ttem/amounts 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Company post-employment benefit provision — —
2. Other provisions 166,292 164,792
2.1 litigation 6,089 3,931
2.2 staff-related 2,912 3,288
2.3 other 157,291 157,573
Total 166,292 164,792

The provision for risks and expenses mor then covers all possible charges

relating to the claims made against Mediobanca S.p.A. and the Group companies

described on p. 53 and 54 of the review of operations.

12.2 Provision: movements during the period

Item/amounts Post- Litigation Charges Other Total
employment relating to provisions
benefit staff!
provision
A. Balance at start of period — 3,931 3,288 157,573 164,792
B. Additions — 2,744 2,912 2,532 8,188
B.1 Transfers during period — 2,713 — 2,201 5,004
B.2 Changes due to passing of time — 12 — — 12
B.3 Additions due to changes
in discount rate — — — — —
B.4 Other additions — 19 2,912 241 3,172
C. Reductions — 586 3,288 2,814 6,688
C.1 Transfers during period — 535 1,141 2,725 4,401
C.2 Reductions due to changes
in discount rate — — — — —
C.3 Other reductions — 51 2,147 89 2,287
D. Balance at end of period — 6,089 2,912 157,291 166,292

! Includes sums set aside in respect of staff exit incentivizations.
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SECTION 13

Heading 130: Technical reserves

13.1 Technical reserves: composition

Direct Indirect
business business

30/6/14

30/6/13

A. Non-life business
Al. Reserves for premiums
A2. Reserves for claims

A3. Other reserves

— 111444
— 12,220

111,444
12,220

107,019
10,386

==}

. Life business
B.1 Mathematical reserves
B.2 Reserves for sums to be paid out

B.3 Other reserves

C. Technical reserves where risk of investment is borne by insured
parties

CI1. Reserves for contracts in which performance is related to
investment funds and market indexes

C2. Reserves deriving from pension fund management

D. Total technical reserves

— 123,664

123,664

117,405

13.2 Technical reserves: movements during the year

30/6/14

30/6/13

A. Non-life business
Balance at start of period
Combinations involving group companies
Changes to reserves (+/-)
Other additions

Balance at end of period

117,405

6.259

123,664

99,282

18,123

117,405

B. Life business and other reserves
Balance at start of period
Combinations involving group companies
Changes due to premiums
Changes due to sums to be paid out
Changes due to payments
Changes due to incomes and other bonuses recognized to insured
parties (+/-)
Changes to other technical reserves (+/-)
Other reductions

Balance at end of period

C. Total technical reserves

123,664

117,405
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SECTION 15

Headings 140, 160, 170, 180, 190, 200 and 220: Net equity

15.1 “Capital” and “treasury shares”: composition

For the composition of the Group’s capital, please see part F of the notes to
the accounts.

15.2 Share capital: changes in no. of shares in issue during period

Item/type Ordinary
A. Shares in issue at start of period 861,129,212
— entirely unrestricted 861,129,212
— with restrictions —
A.1 Treasury shares (-) (17,010,000)
A.2 Shares in issue: balance at start of period 844,119,212
B. Additions 1,442,086

B.1 New share issuance as a result of: —
— rights issues —

- business combinations —

- bond conversions —

- exercise of warrants —

- others —

— bonus issues —

- to staff members —

- to Board members —

- others —

B.2 Treasury share disposals —
B.3 Other additions 1,442,086

C. Reductions _
C.1 Cancellations —
C.2 Treasury share buybacks —
C.3 Disposals of businesses —

C.4 Other reductions —

D. Shares in issue: balance at end of period 845,561,298
D.1 Add: treasury shares (15,845,414)
D.2 Shares in issue at end of period 861,406,712

— entirely unrestricted 861,406,712

— with restrictions _
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15.4 Profit reserves: other information

Item 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Legal reserve 86,113 86,113
2. Statutory reserves 1,077,282 1,077,282
3. Treasury shares 199,233 213,844
4. Others 2,787,746 2,997,067
Total 4,150,374 4,374,306
SECTION 16

Heading 210: Net equity attributable to minorities

16.1 Net equity attributable to minorities: composition

Ttem/amounts 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Share capital 24,948 24,948
2. Share premium reserve 7,216 7,216
3. Reserves 79,091 83,265
4. Treasury shares — —
5. Valuation reserves! (3,320) (3,789)
6. Equity instruments — —
7. Profit (loss) for the period attributable to minorities (3,410) (4,174)
Total 104,525 107,466

! Cash flow hedge reserve.
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Other informations

1. Guarantees and commitments

Transactions 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Financial guarantees given to: 290,585 216,478
a) Banks 83,109 34,527
b) Customers 207,476 181,951
2. Commercial guarantees given to: 295 286
a) Banks 286 —
b) Customers 9 286
3. Irrevocable commitments to lend funds to: 14,695,731 10,124,430
a) Banks 46,019 167,258
i) specific 41,380 167,258
ii) standby basis 4,639 —
b) Customers 14,649,712 9,957,172
i) specific 13,061,854 8,334,066
ii) standby basis 1,587,858 1,623,106
4. Commitments underlying credit derivatives: hedge sales' 35,099,614 44,607,719
5. Assets pledged as collateral for customer obligations — —
6. Other commitments 3,274,316 5,713,610
Total 53,360,541 60,662,523
! Includes transactions fully matched by hedge buys (€31,800,887,000 and (€41,113,241,000 respectively).
2. Assets pledged as collateral for own liabilities and commitments
Portfolios 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Financial assets held for trading 1,519,136 697,990
2. Financial assets recognized at fair value — —
3. AFS securities 1,443,004 1,336,603
4. Financial assets held to maturity 684,783 809,759
5. Due from banks 455,000 777,925
6. Due from customers 5,100,780 3,784,739
7

. Property, plant and equipment
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5. Assets managed and traded on behalf of customers

Type of service 30/6/14 30/6/13
1. Securities traded on behalf of customers 33.758.096 29.831.725
a) Purchases 17.049.571 13.491.101
1. settled 16.991.150 13.393.630
2. pending settlement 58.421 97.471
b) Disposals 16.708.525 16.340.624
1. settled 16.650.104 16.243.153
2. pending settlement 58.421 97.471
2. Asset management 3.196.000 3.245.000
a) individuals 932.000 861.000
b) groups 2.264.000 2.384.000
3. Securities under custody/managed on a non-discretionary basis 40.383.744 54.675.354
a) customers’ securities held on deposit: in connection with the
Bank’s activity as deposit bank (not including asset management) 4.214.700 7.367.483
1. securities issued by bank drawing up financial statements 673.652 2.504.283
2. other securities 3.541.048 4.863.200
b) other customers’ securities held on deposit (not including asset
management): others 7.531.738 6.751.314
1. securities issued by bank drawing up financial statements 34 34
2. other securities 7.531.704 6.751.280
¢) customers’ securities held on deposit with customers 6.864.056 10.856.772
d) own securities held on deposit with customers 21.773.250 29.699.785

. Other transactions
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6. Financial assets subject to netting or master agreements or similar arrangements

Liabilities/asset ~ Gross amount Amount of Net amount
portfolio of fi ial assets  of fi

liabilities (a) netted in liabilities

balance sheet recognized in

(b)

balance sheet

Related amounts not subject
to netting

Financial
instruments (d)

Cash deposits
received as
collateral (e)

Net amount T

(f=c-d-e)

Net amount

(T-1) (f=c-d-e)

(a-b)
1. Derivatives 5,725,619 118,091 5,607,528 4,816,980 410,518 380,030 380,030
2. Repos 8,604,183 — 8,604,183 8,563,109 — 101,074 101,074
3. Securities
lending — — — — — — —
4. Others — — — — — — —
Total (T) 14,389,802 118,001 14,271,711 13,380,089 410,518 481,104 481,104

7. Financial liabilities subject to netting or master agreements or similar arrangements

Liabilities/asset  Gross amount Amount of Net amount
portfolio of fi ial fi ial assets  of fi ial
liabilities (a) netted in liabilities

balance sheet recognized in

Related amounts not subject
to netting

Financial
instruments (d)

Cash deposits
received as

Net amount T

(f=c-d-e)

Net amount

(T-1) (f=c-d-e)

(b) balance G(}:;; collateral (e)
1. Derivatives 5,063,072 — 5,063,072 4,695,351 184,372 183,349 183,349
2. Repos 3,665,786 — 3,605,780 3,651,468 — 14,318 14,318
3. Securities
lending — — — — — — —
4. Others — — — — — — —
Total (T) 8,728,858 — 8,728,858 8,346,819 184,372 197,667 197,667
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Part C - Notes to consolidated profit and loss account

SECTION 1

Headings 10 and 20: Net interest income

1.1 Interest and stmilar income: composition

Line items/technical forms Debt Loans and Other 12 mths 12 mths
securities advances transactions ended ended

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Financial assets held for trading 87,101 2,159 — 89,260 103,248
2. Financial assets recognized at fair value — — — — —
3. AFS securities 221,075 — — 221,075 289,363
4. Financial assets held to maturity 70,059 — — 70,059 76,853
5. Due from banks — 50,421 — 50,421 50,095
6. Due from customers 14,533 1,525,532 — 1,540,065 1,536,794
7. Hedge derivatives X X 406,702 406,702 668,159
8. Other assets X X 2,401 2,401 2,220
Total 392,768 1,578,112 409,103 2,379,983 2,726,732

1.2 Interest and similar income: differences arising on hedging transactions

Items/sectors 12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 mths ended 30/6/13
A. Positive differences on transactions 726,666 975,648
B. Negative differences on transactions (319,964, (307,489)
C. Balance of differences arising on hedges 406,702 668,159

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information

Items/sectors

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

1.3.1 Interest receivable on financial assets denominated in currencies

other than the Euro 188,595 149,272
1.3.2 Interest receivable in respect of finance leasing transactions 101,773 121,229
1.3.3 Interest income on receivables involving customers’ funds held

on a non-discretionary basis — —
Total 290,368 270,501
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1.4 Interest expense and similar charges: composition

Line items/technical forms Accounts Securities Other 12 miths 12 mths
payable liabilities ended ended

30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Due to central banks (25,168) X — (25,168) (55,317)
2. Due to banks (39.816) X — (39,816) (45,630)
3. Due to customers (328,844) X — (328,844) (409,134)
4. Debt securities in issue — (925,138) — (925,138)  (1,150,316)
5. Trading liabilities X — — — —
6. Financial liabilities recognized at fair value — — — — —
7. Other liabilities X X (85) (85) (7)
8. Hedging derivatives X X — — —
Total (393,828) (925,138) 85 (1,319,051)  (1,660,404)

1.6 Interest expense and similar charges: other information

Items/sectors

12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 mths ended 30/6/13

1.6.1 Interest payable on liabilities denominated

in currencies other than the Euro (20,372) (28,095)
1.6.2 Interest payable on liabilities in respect of

finance leasing transactions — —
1.6.3 Interest payable on customers’ funds held

on a non-discretionary basis — —
Total (20,372) (28,695)
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SECTION 2

Headings 40 and 50: Net fee and commission income

2.1 Fee and commission income: composition

Type of service/sectors

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

a) guarantees given 1,978 1,507
b) credit derivatives —

¢) management, trading and advisory services: 200,028 160,610

1. securities trading 10,052 7,342

2. foreign currency trading — —

3. asset management 8,299 5,598

3.1 individuals 8,299 5,598

3.2 groups — —

4. securities under custody and non-discretionary management 9,076 7.181

5. deposit bank services 7,458 7,994

6. securities placement 75,568 49,858

7. procurement of orders 9,291 6,252

8. advisory services — —
8.1 investment advisory services —

8.2 structured finance advisory services — —

9. agency fees 80,284 76,385

9.1 asset management 26,073 22,768

9.1.1 individuals 26,073 22,768

9.1.2 groups — —

9.2 insurance products 54,211 53,617

9.3 other products — —

d) collection and payment services 15,672 14,720

e) securitization services — .

f) factoring services — _

) tax collection and receipt services — —
h) multilateral trading systems activity —

i) current account keeping and management 1,119 1,056

J) other services 173,076 176,308

Total 391,873 354,201
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2.2 Fee and commission expense: composition

Services/amounts

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

a) guarantees received

b) credit derivatives (233) —
¢) management and trading services: (10,351) (11,699)
1. securities trading (5,025) (4,192)

2. foreign currency trading — —

3. asset management: — —
3.1 proprietary — —

3.2 on behalf of customers — —

4. securities under custody/held on a non-discretionary basis (2,956) (2,784)

5. securities placement (2,370) (4,723)

6. door-to-door sales of securities, products and services — —
d) collection and payment services (7,360) (5,653)
e) other services (39,128) (28,800)
Total (57,072) (46,152)

SECTION 3

Heading 70: Dividends and similar income

3.1 Dividends and similar income: composition

Line items/income

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

Dividends Income from Dividends Income from

UCI units UCI units

A. Financial assets held for trading 55,098 — 28,497 —
B. AFS securities 15,645 14,098 9,698 8,176
C. Financial assets recognized at fair value — — — —
D. Equity investments — X — X
Total 70,743 14,098 38,195 8,176
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SECTION 4

Heading 80: Net trading income

4.1 Net trading income: composition

Tr ions/income el Gains (A) Dealing Value Dealing Net trading
profits reductions losses income
B) ©) (D) [(A+B)-(C+D)]
1. Trading assets 238,185 281,865 (74,732) (150,508) 294,810
1.1 Debt securities 122,108 127,016 (55,978) (87,376) 105,770
1.2 Equities 109,852 150,486 (18,325) (62,177) 179,836
1.3 UCI units 5,991 2,782 (429) (955) 7.389
1.4 Loans and advances 234 1,581 —_ 1.815
1.5 Others — — — — —
2. Trading liabities 276 — — — 276
2.1 Debt securities — — — — —
2.2 Debts — — — — —
2.3 Others 276 — — — 276

3. Other assets and liabilities: differences
arising on exchange rates X X X X (2,610)
4. Derivative products 6,074.918  3.043592  (6,365936) (3.097,547)  (332,011)
4.1 Financial derivatives: 5,388,194 2,356,298  (5,624,054)  (2,391.850) (258,450)
— debt securities and interest rates ! 2,002,037 469,561 (2,210,070) (357,708) (96,180)
— equities and stock market indexes 3,279,951 1,877,153 (3.323,330)  (2,034,142) (200,368)
— foreign currency and gold X X X X 12,962
— others 106,206 9,584 (90,654) — 25,136
4.2 Credit derivatives 686,724 687,294 (741,882) (705,697) (73,561)
Total 6,313,379 3,325,457  (6.,440,668)  (3,248,055) (39,535)

! Of which €28,816,000 in positive margins on interest rate derivatives (30/6/13: €42,410,000).

146 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014



SECTION 5

Heading 90: Net hedging income (expense)

5.1 Net hedging income (expense): composition

Income elements/amounts

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

A. Income from:

A.1 Fair value hedge derivatives 516,584 191,419
A.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value) 25,223 —
A.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value) 206,205 366,255
A.4 Cash flow hedge derivatives — 9.194
A.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies — —
Total hedging income (A) 748,012 566,868
B. Expense related to:
B.1 Fair value hedge derivatives (383,019) (419,143)
B.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value) (54,912) (17,482)
B.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value) (312,074) (126,126)
B.4 Cash flow hedge derivatives (721) 43)
B.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies — —
Total hedging expense (B) (750,726) (562,794)
Net hedging income (A-B) (2,714) 4,074
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SECTION 6

Heading 100: Gains (losses) on disposals/repurchases

6.1 Gains (losses) on disposals/repurchases: composition

Line items/income elements

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

Gains Losses Net profit Gains Losses Net profit
(loss) (loss)
Financial assets
1. Due from banks — — — — — —
2. Due from customers 892 (48,949) (48,057) 15,887 (9,925) 5,962
3. AFS securities 307,626 (15,792) 291.834 68,608 (27,882) 40,726
3.1 Debt securities 60,654 (11,313) 49,341 33,459 (12,833) 20,626
3.2 Equities 246,598 (4,479) 242,119 35,012 (14,991) 20,021
3.3 UCI units 374 — 374 137 (58 79
3.4 Loans and advances — — — — — —
4. Financial assets held to
maturity 426 (1,944) (1,518) 1,311 — 1,311
Total assets 308,944 (66,685) 242,259 85,806 (37,807) 47,999
Financial liabilities
1. Due to banks — — — — — —
2. Due to customers — — — — — —
3. Debt securities in issue 10 (17.532) (17.522) 43,114 (134) 42,980
Total liabilities 10 (17,532) (17,522) 43,114 (134) 42,980
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SECTION 8

Heading 130: Adjustments for impairment

8.1 Adjustments for impairment: composition

Transactions/income Value adjustments Reversals FY FY
elements 2013/14 2012/13
Specific Collective Specific Collective
Writeoffs Others A B A B
A. Amounts due from
banks (37,093) — (428) — 34 — 11 (37,476) (29,794)
- Loans (37.093) — (428) — 34 — 11 (37,476) (29,794)
- Debt securities — — — — — — — — —
B. Amounts due from
customers (44,341) (769,887)  (94,054) 3,994 126,495 — 132,944 (644.849) (480,246)
Impaired assets
acquired (2,169) (4,219) X — 1,571 — X (4.817) (4,041)
- Loans (2,169) (4,219) — 1,571 — X (4.817) (4,041)
- Debt securities — — X — — — X — —
Other receivables (42,172) (765,668) (94,054) 3,994 124,924 — 132,944 (640,032) (476,205)
- Loans (42,172) (765,668) (93,368) 3,994 124,924 — 132,944 (639,346) (476,205)
- Debt securities — — (686) — — — — (686) —
C. Total (81,434) (769,887) (94,482) 3,994 126,529 — 132,955 (682,325) (510,040)
Legend

A = interest

B = other amounts recovered.

8.2 Net value adjustments for impairment to AF'S securities: composition

Transactions/income

Value adjustments

Amounts recovered

12 mths ended

12 mths ended

elements Specific Specific 30/6/14 30/6/13
Writeoffs Others A

A. Debt securities — — — — — 18,983
B. Equities — (6,186) X (6,186) (225,925)
C. UCI units — (2,538) X — (2,538) (7,944)
D. Loans and advances to

banks — — — — — —
E. Loans and advances to

customers — — — — — —
F. Total — (8,724) — — (8,724) (214.,886)
Legend
A = interest

B = other amounts recovered.
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8.3 Adjustments for impairment to financial assets held to maturity: composition

Transactions/income Value adjustments Amounts recovered 12 mths 12 mths
elements ended ended
Specific Portfolio Specific Portfolio 30/6/14  30/6/13
Writeoffs Others A A B

A. Debt securities — — (3,269) — — 239 259 (2,771) 304
B. Loans and

advances to banks — — — — — — — — —
C. Loans and

advances to

customers — — — — — — — — —
D. Total — —  (3,209) — — 239 259 (2,771) 304
Legend
A = interest
B = other amounts recovered.
8.4 Adjustments for impairment to other financial transactions: composition
Transactions/income- Value adjustments Amounts recovered 12 mths 12 mths
linked components ended ended

Specific Portfolio Specific Portfolio 30/6/14 30/6/13
‘Writeoffs Others A B A B

A. Guarantees given — — (114) — 64 — — (50) (1,404)
B. Credit derivatives — — — — — — — — —
C. Commitments — (744) (5,388) — 135 — 14 (5,983) 4,610
D. Other transactions — — — — — — — — —
E. Total — (744) (5,502) — 199 — 14 (6,033) 3,206

Legend

A = interest

B = other amounts recovered.
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SECTION 9

Heading 150: Net premium income

9.1 Net premium income: composition

Premium income from insurance operations

Direct business

Indirect business

12 mths ended

12 mths ended

30/6/14 30/6/13
A. Life business
A.1 Gross premiums written (+) — — — —
A.2 Premiums ceded to reinsurers (-) — X — —
A.3 Total — — — —
B. Non-life business
B.1 Gross premiums written (+) — 42,398 42,398 45,989
B.2 Premiums ceded to reinsurers (-) — X — —
B.3 Changes in gross amount of reserve
for premiums (+/-) — (4,424) (4,424) (13,978)
B.4 Changes in reserve for premiums
payable by reinsurers (-/+) — — — —
B.5 Total — 37,974 37,974 32,011
D. Total net premium income — 37.974 37,974 32,011

SECTION 10

Heading 160: Other net income (expense) from insurance

operations

10.1 Other net income (expense) from insurance operations: composition

Items

12 mths ended 30/6 /14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

1. Net change in technical reserves

2. Claims paid out during the year (11,817) (9,916)
3. Other income (expenses) from insurance operations (6,240) (5,409)
Total (18,057) (15,325)
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10.3 Breakdown of sub-heading “Claims paid out during the year”

Claims expenses

12 mths ended
30/6/14

12 mths ended
30/6/13

Life business: expenses for claims net of amounts ceded to reinsurers
A. Amounts paid

A.1 Gross annual amount

A.2 (-) Share payable by reinsurers
B. Changes to reserve due to sums to be paid

B.1 Gross annual amount

B.2 (-) Share payable by reinsurers

Total claims life business

Non-life business: expenses for claims net
of amounts recovered and ceded to reinsurers

C. Amounts paid

C.1 Gross annual amount

C.2 (-) Share payable by reinsurers
D. Changes to amounts recovered net of shares payable by reinsurers
E. Changes to reserve for claims

E.1 Gross annual amount

E.2 Share payable by reinsurers

(9.983)
(9,983)
(1.834)
(1.834)

Total claims non-life business

(11,817)
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SECTION 11

Heading 180: Administrative expenses

11.1 Personnel costs: composition

Type of expense/sectors 12 months ended 12 months ended
30/6/14 30/6/13

1. Employees (364.,878) (366,370)
a) wages and salaries (251,970) (249,196)
b) social security contributions (61,098) (59,027)

) severance indemnities — —
d) pension contributions — —
e) transfers to severance indemnity provisions (10,298) (8,557)
f) transfers to post-employment and similar benefits provisions: — —

— defined benefit — —

— defined contribution — —

g) amounts paid to external complementary pension schemes: (11,359) (10,819)
— defined benefit (11,359) (10,819)
— defined contribution — —
h) expenses incurred in connection with share payment schemes (12,162) (16,975)
— stock options (638) (5,253)
— performance shares (11,524) (11,722)
i) other staff benefits (17,991) (21,796)
2. Other staff (4,671) (8,157)
3. Board members (8,199) (7,951)
4. Expenses incurred in connection with staff retiring (1,217) (1,361)
Total (378,965) (383,839)

11.2 Average number of staff by category
12 mths ended 12 mths ended
30/6/14 30/6/13

Employees:

a) Senior executives 204 191
b) Excutives 1,194 1,178
¢) Other employees 2,106 2,099
Other staff 184 205
Total 3,688 3,673
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11.5 Other administrative expenses: composition

12 months ended

12 months ended

30/6/14 30/6/13
OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
— legal, tax and professional services (39,232) (36,911)
— loan recovery activity (47,997) (46,487)
— marketing and communications (62,467) (47,258)
— property (36,732) (36,487)
—EDP (49,834) (39,122)
— info-provider (27,789) (26,987)
— bank charges, collection and payment fees (16,961) (20,363)
— operaling expenses (52,186) (49,147)
— other staff expenses (18,539) (18,455)
— other costs (15,399) (9,723)
— indirect and other taxes (64,943) (55,260)
Total other administrative expenses (432,079) (386,200)

SECTION 12
Heading 190: Net transfers to provisions

12.1 Net transfers to provisions: composition

12 months ended

12 months ended

30/6/14 30/6/13
TRANSFERS MADE IN ORDER TO COVER:
— legal expenses — —
— promotional costs — —
— certain or probable risks and commitments ' (2,630) (3,239)
Total transfers to provisions for risks and expenses (2,630) (3,239)

! Including the effect of discounting
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SECTION 13

Heading 200: Net adjustments to tangible assets

13.1 Net adjustments to tangible assets: composition

Assets/income elements Depreciation (a)  Value adjustments

for impairment (b)

Amounts recovered

Net result (a+h-c)

()

A. Tangible assets

A.1 Owned (18,249) — — (18,249)

- core (15,700) — — (15,700)

— for investment purposes (2,549) — — (2,549)

A.2 Acquired under finance leases — — — —

— core — — — —

— for investment purposes — — — —

Total (18,249) — — (18,249)

SECTION 14

Heading 210: Net adjustments to intangible assets

14.1 Net adjustments to intangible assets: composition

Assets/income elements Amortization (a)

for impairment (b)

Value adjustments Amounts recovered

Net result (a+b-c)

©

A. Intangible assets

A.1 Owned (20,112) (2,700) — (22,812)

— software 10,466 — — (10,466)

— other 9,646 (2.700) — (12,346)

A.2 Acquired under finance leases — — — —
Total (20,112) (2,700) — (22,812)

SECTION 15

Heading 220: Other operating income (expense)

15.1 Other operating expense: composition

I based I Ivalues 12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 mths ended 30/6/13
a) Leasing activity (18,310) (21,534)
b) Sundry costs and expenses (5,220) (6,374)
Total (24,030) (27.908)
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15.2 Other operating income: composition

Income-based comy Ivalues 12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 miths ended 30/6/13
a) Amounts recovered from customers 64,089 62,389
b) Leasing activity 17,687 21,813
¢) Other income 70,044 81,763
Total 151,820 165,965

SECTION 16

Heading 240: Gains (losses) on equity investments

16.1 Gains (losses) on equity investments: composition

I based Ivalues 12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 mths ended 30/6/13

P

1. Jointly-controlled companies
A. Income — _
1. Revaluations — _
2. Gains on disposals — _
3. Amounts recovered — —
4. Other increases — _
B. Expenses — _
1. Writedowns — _
2. Adjustments for impairment — —
3. Losses from disposals — _

4. Other reductions — —

Net income — —

2. Companies subject to significant influence
A. Income 267,942 146,831
1. Revaluations 267,942 58,192
2. Gains on disposals — _

3. Amounts recovered — _

4. Other increases — 88,639

B. Expenses (23,020) (345,704)

1. Writedowns (4,407) (67,724)

2. Adjustments for impairment (18,613) (139,797)

3. Losses from disposals — —

4. Other reductions” — (138,183)

Net income 244,922 (198.,873)
Total 244,922 (198,873)

* Figures as at 30 June 2013 include the effects of certain equity investments being transferred to the AFS securities portfolio and recognized at
fair value, namely the investments in: Pirelli (increase of €65.6m), Gemina (increase of €23m), RCS MediaGroup (reduction of €38.5m), and
Telco (reduction of €99.7m).
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SECTION 19

Heading 270: Net gain (loss) upon disposal of investments

19.1 Net gain (loss) upon disposal of investments: composition

Income elements/sectors

12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 mths ended 30/6/13

A. Properties — (8)
— gains on disposals — —
— losses on disposals — ®)
B. Other assets (56) (494)
— gains on disposals 3 10
— losses on disposals (59) (504)
Net gain (loss) (56) (502)

SECTION 20

Heading 290: Income tax on ordinary activities

20.1 Income tax on ordinary activities: composition

Income elements/sectors

12 mths ended 30/6/14 12 mths ended 30/6/13

1. Current taxes (157,727) (204,941)
2. Changes in current taxes for previous financial years 636 (1,338)
3. Reductions in current tax for the period 179 353
3bis. Reduction in current tax for the year due to tax credits under

Italian Law 214/11 4,459 6,269
4. Changes in advance tax 96,155 49,532
5. Changes in deferred tax 16,568 (7,419)
6. Income tax for the year (39,680) (157,544)
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20.2 Reconciliation between theoretical and effective tax burden

12 mths ended 30/6/14

Amounts %

Absolute values

Total profit or loss before tax from current operations 100% 501,011
Theoretical tax rate 27.50% 27.50%
Theoretical computed taxes on income 27.50% 137,778
Dividends (-) -5.77% (28,896)
Gains on disposals of equity investments (PEX) (-) -9.38% (46,992)
Gains on equity-accounted investments (=) -11.31% (56,661)
Changes in deferred tax for previous years (-) 0.04% 178
Other taxes (non-ltalian companies) (-) -2.76% (13,810)
Non-taxable income 10 % IRAP (-) -1.19% (5,942)
Interest on exempt securities (—) -0.11% (529)
Tax losses (-) 0.00% —
Tax sparing credit -0.33% (1,664)
Non-deductible interest expense 3 % (+) 4.54% 22,738
Benefit from tax consolidation (-) -1.49% (7,445)
Impairment (+/-) 3.52% 17,652
Extraordinary items (rate adjustments, ...) 0.63% 3,175
Other differences 1.22% 6,110
TOTAL IRES 5.13% 25,692
IRAP 2.79% 13,988
TOTAL FOR HEADING ! 7.92% 39,680

! Compared with a tax rate of minus 574% in the previous financial year.
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SECTION 22

Heading 330: Net profit (loss) attributable to minorities

22.1 Breakdown of Heading 330, “Net profit (loss) for the year attributable to minorities”

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

Palladio Leasing S.p.A. 221 221
SelmaBipiemme Leasing S.p.A. (5,152) (5,078)
Teleleasing S.p.A. 1.521 683
Other companies — —
Adjustments on consolidation — —
Total (3,410) (4,174)

SECTION 24
Earnings per share

24.1 Average number of ordinary shares on a diluted basts

12 mths ended 30/6/14

12 mths ended 30/6/13

Net profit 464,777 (176,170)
Avg. no. of shares in issue 845,404,033 844,119,212
Avg. no. of potencially diluted shares 35,409,287 47,639,477
Avg. no. of diluted shares 880,813,320 891,758,689
Earnings per share 0.55 (0.21)
Earnings per share, diluted 0.53 (0.20)
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Part D - Consolidated Comprehensive Profit and
loss account breakdown of Consolidated
Comprehensive Profit and loss Constituents

Breakdown of comprehensive profit and loss constituents

Items Before Tax After
tax effect effect tax effect
10. Net profit (loss) X X 461.367

Other income items net of tax without passing through profit and loss
20. Property, plant and equipment — — —
30. Intangible assets — — —
40. Defined benefits plans (2,452) 674 (1,778)
50. Non-current assets classified as held for sale — — —
60. Valuation reserves from equity-accounted investments: 19,053 — 19,053
Other income items net of tax passing through profit and loss
70. Hedges of non-Ttalian investments: — — —
a) changes in fair value: — — —
b) reclassifications through profit or loss account — — —

¢) other variations — — _

80. Exchange differences: (152) 42 (110)
a) changes in fair value: — — —

b) reclassifications through profit or loss account — — —

¢) other variations (152) 42 (110)

90. Cash flow hedges: 50,091 (17,741) 32,350
a) changes in fair value: 50,091 (17,741) 32,350

b) reclassifications through profit or loss account — — —

¢) other variations — — —
100. AFS securities: 390,795 (50,584) 340,211
a) changes in fair value: 493,413 (68,462) 424,951

b) reclassifications through profit or loss account (102,618) 17,878 (84,740)

- due to impairment (210) 10 (200)

- gain/losses on disposals (102,408) 17,868 (84,540)

¢) other variations — — —
110. Non-current assets classified as held for sale: — — _
a) changes in fair value: — — _
b) reclassifications through profit or loss account —_ — —

¢) other variations — — —

120. Valuation reserves from equity-accounted investments: 174,790 — 174,790
130. Total other comprehensive income 632,125 (67,609) 564,516
140. Comprehensive income after tax (10 + 130) X X 1,025,883
150. Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to minorities X X (2,941)
160. Consolidated comprehensive income attributable to parent company X X 1,028,824
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Part E - Information on risks and Related hedging
policies

SECTION 1

Banking Group risks

1.1 CREDIT RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

Description of risk governance organization

The Mediobanca Group has equipped itself with a risk governance and
control system which is structured across a variety of organizational units
involved in the process, with a view to ensuring that all relevant risks to which
the Group is or might be exposed are managed effectively, and at the same
time guaranteeing that all forms of operations are consistent with their own
propensity to risk.

The Board of Directors, in view in particular of its role of strategic
supervision, is responsible for approving strategic guidelines and directions,
business and financial plans, budgets, and risk and internal control policies.

The Executive Committee is responsible for the ordinary management of the
Bank and for co-ordination and management of the Group companies, without
prejudice to the matters for which the Board of Directors has sole jurisdiction.

The Control and risks committee assists the Board of Directors in performing
duties of monitoring and instruction in respect of the internal controls, risk
management, and accounting and IT systems.

The Statutory Audit Committee supervises the risk management and control
system and the internal controls system generally, assessing the effectiveness
of the structures and units involved in the process and co-ordinating them.
The Committee also supervises the ICAAP process.

Within the framework of the risk governance system implemented by
Mediobanca S.p.A., the following committees have specific responsibilities in
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the processes of taking, managing, measuring and controlling risks: the Risks
committee and Delegated risks committee for credit, issuer and market risks;
the Investments committee for equity investments owned and banking book
equities; the New products committee, for prior analysis of new products to
be sold to clients developed by the Financial Markets division and the related
pricing models; the Operational risks committee, for management of operational
risks in terms of monitoring risk profiles and defining mitigation actions; and the
ALM committee, for monitoring the Group’s ALM risk-taking and management
policy (treasury and funding operations) and approving the methodologies for
measuring exposure to liquidity and interest rate risk.

Although risk management is the responsibility of each individual business
unit, the Risk Management unit presides over the functioning of the Bank’s
risk system, defining the appropriate global methodologies for measuring risks,
current and future, in conformity with the regulatory requirements in force as
well as the Bank’s own operating choices, monitoring risks and ascertaining that
the various limits established for the various business lines are complied with.
The risk management process, which is supervised by the Chief Risk Officer,
reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer, is implemented by the following
units: Enterprise Risk Management, which helps to develop risk management
policies and to quantify risk appetite; Credit Risk Management, responsible for
credit risk analysis and assigning internal ratings to counterparties; Market Risk
Management, which defines the rsisk measurement methodologies and metrics
for use by the Financial Markets divisions; and Operational Risk Management,
responsible for developing and maintaining the systems for measuring and
managing operational risks.

As a result of the new regulations on internal controls systems being
introduced (cf. Bank of Italy circular no. 263 issued on 27 December 2006
“New supervisory provisions for banks”— fifteenth update issued on 2 July
2013), Mediobanca is in the process of adapting its internal controls system in
line with the new regulatory requirements.

Establishment of risk propensity and process for managing relevant
risks

In the process of defining its Risk Appetite Framework (“RAF”), Mediobanca
has established the level of risk (overall and by individual type) which it intends
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to assume in order to pursue its own strategic objectives, and identified the
metrics to be monitored and the relevant tolerance thresholds and risk limits.

Based on its operations and the markets in which it operates, the Mediobanca
Group has identified the relevant risks to be submitted to specific assessment
in the course of the reporting for the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process, ICAAP - Circular 263 - Title IlI), appraising its own
capital adequacy from both a present and future perspective which takes into
account the strategies and development of the reference scenario.

1.2 CREDIT RISK

While adopting the standardized methodology defined by the supervisory
provisions in force for calculating regulatory capital, the Group has also internal
rating models for operating purposes for the following customer segments:
Banks, Insurances, Large corporates and Holding companies (customers mostly
targeted by Mediobanca S.p.A.), Mid-corporate and Small businesses (customers
targeted mostly by the leasing companies), and Private individuals (targeted by
Compass for consumer credit and CheBanca! for mortgage lending).

Corporate lending (Mediobanca)

The Group’s internal system for managing, evaluating and controlling credit
risk reflects its traditional policy based on a prudent and highly selective approach.
Lending decisions are based on individual analysis, which builds on adequate and
often extensive knowledge of the borrower’s business, assets and management, as
well as the macro-economic framework in which it operates. At the analysis stage,
all relevant documentation is obtained to be order to appraise the borrower’s credit
standing and define the appropriate remuneration for the risk being assumed. The
analysis also includes an assessment of the duration and amount of the loans being
applied for, the provision of appropriate guarantees, and the use of covenants in
order to prevent deteriorations in the counterparty’s credit rating.

With reference to the correct application of credit risk mitigation techniques,
specific activities are implemented to define and meet all the requirements to
ensure that the real and personal guarantees have the maximum mitigating effects
on the exposures, inter alia to obtain a positive impact on the Bank’s capital ratios.
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For the assumption of credit risk, all counterparties must be analysed and
where possible assigned an internal rating, which takes into account the specific
quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the counterparty concerned.

Loans originated by the business divisions are assessed by the Risk Management
unit and regulated in accordance with the powers deliberated through the different
operating levels. If successful, the applications are submitted for approval to the
relevant bodies, i.e. the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Risks Committee
and Delegated Risks Committee, depending on the nature of the counterparty, its
credit standing based on internal ratings, and on the amount of finance required.

The Credit Risk Management unit carries out a review of the ratings assigned
to the counterparties at least once a year. Approved loans must also be confirmed
by the approving body at at least the same intervals, in accordance with the limits
established by the Executive Committee’s resolution in respect of operating powers.

Any deteriorationi n the risk profile of either the loan or the borrower’s rating
are brought swiftly to the management’s attention.

In terms of monitoring the performance of individual credit exposures,
Mediobanca adopts an early warning methodology to identify a list of counterparties
(known as the “watchlist”) requiring indepth analysis on account of their potential
or manifest weaknesses. The exposures identified are then classified by level of
alert (green, amber or red for performing accounts, black for non-performing items)
and are reviewed in the course of meetings held regularly to identify the most
appropriate mitigation actions to be taken.

Leasing

Individual applications are processed using similar methods to those described
above for corporate banking. Applications for leases below a predetermined limit
received via banks with which Mediobanca has agreements in place are approved

by the banks themselves, against written guarantees from them covering a portion
of the risk.

Applications for smaller amounts are approved using a credit scoring system
developed on the basis of historical series of data, tailored to both asset type and
the counterparty’s legal status (type of applicant company).
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Sub-standard accounts are managed in a variety of ways which prioritize
either recovery of the amount owed or the asset under lease, according to the
specific risk profile of the account concerned. All non-performing accounts are
tested analytically to establish the relative estimated loss against the value of the
security provided taken from the results of valuations updated regularly and revised
downwards on a prudential basis, and/or any other form of real guarantees issued.
Other performing accounts are measured individually on the basis of statistics
according to internal ratings and distinguished by their degree of riskiness.

Consumer credit (Compass)

Applications for finance are approved on the basis of a credit scoring
system tailored to individual products. The scoring grids have been
developed from internal historical series, enhanced by data provided
by central credit bureaux. Points of sale are linked electronically to the
company’s headquarters, in order to ensure that applications and credit
scoring results are processed and transmitted swiftly. Applications for finance
above a certain limit are approved by the relevant bodies at headquarters,
in accordance with the authorization levels established by the companies’
Boards of Directors.

From the first instance of non-payment, accounts are managed using
the entire range of recovery procedures, including postal and telephone
reminders, external recovery agents, or legal recovery action). After six
rate past due instalments (or four in particular cases, such as credit cards),
accounts are held to be officially in default, and the client is deemed to
have lapsed from the time benefit allowed under Article 1186 of the Italian
Civil Code. As from the six months after such lapse has been ascertained,
these accounts are sold to factoring companies (including Creditech), for
a percentage of the value of the principal outstanding, which reflects their
estimated realizable value.

Mortgage lending (CheBanca!)
Mortgage applications are processed and approved centrally at head

office. Approval depends partly on the outcome of a credit scoring system,
implemented on the basis inter alia of an internal rating model rating model,
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which is largely determined through individual appraisal of the applicant’s
income and maximum borrowing levels, as well as the value of the property
itself. Risks are monitored on a monthly basis, ensuring the company’s loan
book is regularly appraised.

Properties established as collateral are subject to a statistical revaluation
process which is carried out once a quarter. If the review shows a significant
reduction in the value of the property, a new valuation is carried out by an
independent expert.

Irregular accounts are managed through monthly reports analysing the
characteristics of the the accounts in order to flag up promptly any potential
problem areas using advanced early warning systems linked to public and
private databases.

Procedurally mortgage loans with four or more unpaid instalments are
designated as sub-standard accounts, and generally after the eighth or ninth
unpaid instalment become non-performing. Impaired accounts are managed, for
out-of-court credit recovery procedures, by a dedicated organizational structure
with the help of external collectors (including Creditech). If further signs of
deterioration are noted, property enforcement procedures are instigated through
external lawyers.
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

Credit quality

A.1 Impaired and performing accounts: amounts, adjustments, trends, segmentation by

performance and geography

The exposures regard the Banking Group, with Banca Esperia consolidated

pro rata and excluding Compass RE (reinsurance), Ricerche e Studi and MB
Turkey, all of which are represented in the column headed “Other companies”.

The breakdown by type of company is shown in Part F on p. 228.

A.1.1 Financial assets by portfolio and credit quality (book value)

Portfolio/quality Banking Group Others Total
Non- Potential Restructured  Past due Past due Other Past due Other
performing problem exposures,  exposures, assels assets
impaired not impaired
1. Financial assets held for
trading — 4953 — — — 11,156,831 — — 11,161,784
2. AFS securities — — — — — 7,351,584 — 93717 7445301
3. Financial assets held to
maturity — — — — — 1,659,818 — — 1,659,818
4. Due from banks — — — — —  5.267,386 — 43810 5.311,196
5. Due from customers 270,956 692,211 67,315 128,690 509,773 35,406,446 — 6,774 37,082,165
6. Financial assets
recognized at fair value — — — — — — — — —
7. Financial assets being
sold — — — — — — — — —
8. Hedging derivatives — — — — — 1,008,570 — — 1,008,570
Total at 30/6/14 270,956 697,164 67,315 128,690 509,773 61,850,635 — 144,301 63,608,834
Total at 30/6/13 262,744 298,838 236,804 191,832 591,155 64,662,841 — 139.463 66,383,677
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A.1.2 Financial assets by portfolio/credit quality (gross/net values)

Portfolio/quality Impaired assets Performing Total
Gross Specific Net Gross Portfolio Net
exposure adjustments exposure exposure adjustments exposure

A. Banking group

1. Financial assets held for

trading 4,953 — 4,953 X X 11,156,831 11,161,784
2. AFS securities — — — 7,351,584 — 7,351,584 7,351,584
3. Financial assets held to

maturity — — — 1,673,475 (13,657) 1,659,818 1,659,818
4. Due from banks — — — 5,268,334 (948) 5,267,386 5,267,386
5. Due from customers ! 2,252,835 (1,093,663) 1,159,172 36,133,653  (217,434) 35,916,219 37,075,391
6. Financial assets recognized

at fair value — — — X X — —

7. Financial assets being sold — — — — — — —

8. Hedging derivatives — — — X X 1,008,570 1,008,570
Total A 2,257,788 (1,093,603) 1,164,125 50,427,046  (232,039) 62,360,408 63,524,533
B. Others
1. Financial assets held for

trading — — — X X —
2. AFS securities — — — 93,717 — 93,717 93,717
3. Financial assets held to

maturity — — — — — — —
4. Due from banks — — — 43,810 — 43,810 43,810
5. Due from customers — — — 6,774 — 6,774 6,774
6. Financial assets recognized

at fair value — — — X X . _

7. Financial assets being sold — — — — _

8. Hedging derivatives — — — X X — —
Total B — — — 144,301 — 144,301 144,301
Total at 30/6/14 2,257,788 (1,093,663) 1,164,125 50,571,347  (232,039) 62,504,709 63,668,834
Total at 30/6/13 1,719,999  (729,781) 990,218 52,679,777  (339,111) 65,393,459 66,383,677

! The performing assets include €32.1m in unpaid instalments, corresponding to a gross exposure (i.e. including the share not yet overdue) of
€655.3m (equal to 2% of the performing assets), of which €194.9m is attributable to leasing (7% of the performing loans in this segment),
€292.9m to consumer credit (3%), and €140.1m to CheBanca! mortgage receivables (3%). Gross exposures being renegotiated under the terms
of collective agreements amount to €46.3m, attributable to mortgage loans granted by CheBanca! as to €37m and to consumer credit as to €9.3m.
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Information on sovereign debt exposures

A.1.2.a Exposures to sovereign debt securities by state, counterparty and portfolio *

Portafogli/qualita Impaired assets Performing assets Total net
Gross Specific  Collective Net Gross  Collective Net exposure!
exposure adjustments adjustments  exposure  exposure adjustments  exposure

1. Financial assets
held for trading — — — — — — — 1,191,298
Ttaly — — — — — — — 463,949
Germany — — — — — — 516,897 516,897
Spain — — — — — — 200,679 200,679
Others — — — — — — 9,773 9,773
2. AFS securities — — — — 5,196,383 — 5,196,383 5,196,383
Ttaly — — — — 5,017,751 — 5,017,751 5,017,751
Spain — — — — 103,144 — 103,144 103,144
Usa — — — — 43,956 — 43,956 43,956
Germany — — — — 5,882 — 5,882 5,882
Others — — — — 25,650 — 25,650 25,650

3. Financial assets
held to maturity — — — — 362,190 — 362,190 362,190
Ttaly — — — — 361,398 — 361,398 361,398
Others — — — — 792 — 792 792
Total at 30/6/14 — — — — 5,558,573 — 6,769912 6,769,912

* Does not include financial and credit derivatives.

! The net exposure includes positions in securities (long and short) recognized at fair value (including the outstanding accrual) except for assets
held to maturity which are stated at amortized cost, the implied fair value of which is €45.6m.

A.1.2.b Exposures to sovereign debt securities by portfolio

Asset portfolio/quality

Trading book '

Banking book *

Nominal Book value Duration Nominal Book value  Fair value Duration
value value

Ttaly 411,528 463.949 8,87 5,122,799 5,379,149 5412,293 2.88
Germany 509,240 516,897 1,93 5,500 5,882 5,882 1.52
Spain 200,000 200,679 0,39 100,000 103,144 103,144 0.34
Usa — — — 43,930 43,956 43,956 4.51
Others 31,164 9,773 — 33.418 26,442 38,885 —
Total at 30/6/14 1,151,932 1,191,298 — 5,305,647 5,558,573 5,604,160 —

! Does not include buys of €296m on Bund/Bobl/Schatz futures (Germany), with a fair value of €2.2m; or buys of €103m on the BPT future (Italy)
with a fair value of €1m. Net hedge buys of €164m (all on Ttaly country risk) have also not been included.

2 Item does not include Greek GDP-linkers securities in a notional amount of €127m recorded at a fair value of €1.8m.
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A.1.3 Banking Group — cash and off-balance-sheet exposures: gross/net values

Type of exposure/amounts Gross Specific value Portfolio value Net
exposure adjustments adjustments exposure
A. CASH EXPOSURES
a) Non-performing — — X —
b) Potential problem — — X —
¢) Restructured — — X —
d) Past due Non-performing — — X —
e) Other assets 7,396,393 X (2,146) 7,394,247
Total A 7,396,393 — (2,146) 7,394,247
B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURES
a) Impaired — — X —
b) Other assets ' 54,183,968 X — 54,183,968
Total B 54,183,968 — — 54,183,968
Total (A + B) 61,580,361 — 2.146)  61,578215

! The balance as at 30/6/14 includes €31,890,887,000 in deals matched 100% by hedge buys.

A.1.6 Banking Group — Cash and off-balance-sheet exposures to customers: gross/net values

Type of exposure/amounts Gross Specific value Portfolio value Net
exposure adjustments adjustments exposure
A. CASH EXPOSURES
a) Non-performing ' 651,735 (380,779) X 270,956
b) Potential problem 1,276,241 (584,030) X 692,211
¢) Restructured 120,338 (53,523) X 67,315
d) Past due Non-performing 204,022 (75,332) X 128,690
e) Other assets 48,246,874 X (229,900) 48,016,974
Total A 50,499,710  (1,093,664,) (229,900) 49,176,146
B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURES
a) Impaired 8,749 (1,080) X 7,669
b) Other assets 22,838,571 X (18,049) 22,820,522
Total B 22,847,320 (1,080) (18,049) 22,828,191
Total (A + B) 73,347,030 (1,094.744)  (247.949) 72,004,337

! Includes accounts acquired from third parties as part of Creditech’s business.

The non-performing items include €84.6m attributable to Creditech

(previously Cofactor), i.e. acquisitions of non-performing loans with a nominal
value of €2.6bn. Of these items, €58.5m (with a nominal book value of €1.8bn)

involve assets acquired from other Group companies, mostly those involved in

consumer credit activities.
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A.1.7 Banking Group — Cash exposures to customers: trends in gross impaired positions/

accounts
Description/category Non- Potential Restructured Past due
performing problem
A. Gross exposure at start of period 601,040 532,615 320,626 265,718
of which: accounts sold but not derecognized 10,750 21,337 4,959 21,941
B. Additions 399,788 1,383,769 89,415 656,540
B.1 transfers from performing loans 19,071 825,472 26,655 630,701
B.2 transfers from other categories of impaired assets 362,717 539,772 41,597 13,705
B.3 other additions 18,000 18,525 21,163 12,134
C. Reductions (349,003)  (640,143)  (280.203)  (718.236)
C.1 transfers to performing loans (7,591) (39,655) (203,868) (112,034)
C.2 amounts written off (14,880) (21,615) (16) (575)
C.3 amounts collected (74,423) (67,224) (11,191) (48,275)
C.4 gains realized on disposals (10,603) (35,379) (46,392) (18,514)
C.4.bis losses on disposals (193,993) (75,009) — (825)
C.5 transfers to other categories of impaired assets (13,331) (388,395) (20,359) (535,704
C.6 other reductions (34,272) (12,866) (7,377) (2,309)
D. Gross exposure at end of period 651,735 1,276,241 120,838 204,022
of which: accounts sold but not derecognized 21,782 31,363 3,924 14,511

A.1.8 Banking Group — cash exposures to customers: trends in overall value adjustments

Description/category Non- Potential Restructured Past due
performing problem
A. Aggregate adjustments at start of period (338,296) (233,777) (83,822) (73,886)
of which: exposures sold but not derecognized (4,976) (4,370) — (185)
B. Additions (276,768)  (552,638) (10,304) (70,180)
B.1 value adjustments (145,553) (511,951) (2,063) (68,266)
B.1.bis losses following disposals (43.,335) (17,507) — (184)
B.2 transfers from other categories of impaired exposures (87,311) (22,625) (8,233) (1,730)
B.3 other increases (569) (555) ®) —
C. Reductions 234.285 202,385 40,603 68,727
C.1 writebacks to value adjustments 13,493 5,777 40,495 5,055
C.2 writebacks following collection 28,242 7,070 73 4,986
C.2.bis gains on disposals — — — —
C.3 writeoffs 110,831 90,537 — 23,638
C.4 transfers to other categories of impaired exposures 3.245 81,243 35 34,424
C.5 other reductions 78,474 17,758 — 624
D. Aggregate adjustments at end of period (380,779) (584,030) (53,523) (75,339)
of which: exposures sold but not derecognized (7,161) (7,166) — (972)
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A.2 Exposures by internal and external ratings

A.2.1 Banking Group — cash

and off-balance-sheet exposures by external rating category

Exposures External rating class Unrated Total
AAA / AA- A+ A- BBB+/ BB+/BB- B+/ B- Below
BBB- B-
A. Cash exposures 1,930,659 3,238,104 13,477,743 1,999,492 1,514,136 — 34,410,259 56,570,393
B. Derivatives 24,666 41,307,864 12,950,679 935,316 1,465,735 303 5,240,114 61,924,677
B.1 Financial
derivatives 24,606 8,252,071 12,117,093 935,316 1,465,735 303 4,689,831 27,485,065
B.2 Credit derivatives' — 33,055,793 833,586 — — — 550,233 34,439,012
C. Guarantees released 2,727 —_ 285 10,099 9,310 — 285,934 308,355
D. Commitments to
disburse funds 4,077 1,300,542 7,449,650 1,438,402 218,763 306 4,367,389 14,779,129
E. Others — — — — — — 155 155
Total at 30/6/14 1,962,129 45,846,510 33,878,357 4,383,309 3,207,944 609 44,303,851 133,582,709
Total at 30/6/13 2,658,732 50,569,482 33,859,228 2,429,867 870,837 1,170 46,203,545 136,592,861

! The balance as at 30/6/14 includes €31,890,887,000 in deals matched 100% by hedge buys.
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B. Loan distribution and concentration

B.1 Banking Group — cash and off-balance-sheet exposure to customers by sector (book value)

Exposures/counterparts Governments Other public Fi ial Insurances Non-fi ial Other
agencies companies undertakings entities

A. Cash exposures
A.1 Non-performing

Net exposure — — 12 11 67,647 203,286

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — (4,558) — (62,138) (314,083)

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X X
A.2 Potential problem

Net exposure — 10 23,500 — 478,487 190,214

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — (3,252) 1) (370,355) (210,423)

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X X
A.3 Restructured

Net exposure — — 10,118 — 28,901 28,296

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — (3,826) — (44.,154) (5,543)

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X
A4 Past due

Net exposure — — 10 4 46,315 82,361

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — 3) (5) (5,118) (70,206)

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X X
A.5 Other exposures

Net exposure 8,917,931 331,483 9,561,240 1,366,462 12,945,480 14,894,378

Value adjustments to gross exposure X X X X X X

Value adjustments to portfolio (3,323) (3,419 (23,924) (2,239) (100,003) (96,992)
Total A

Net exposure 8,917,931 331,493 9,594,880 1,360,477 13,560,830 15,398,535

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — (11,639) 6) (481,765) (600,255)

Value adjustments to portfolio (3,323) (3,419) (23,924) (2,239) (100,003) (96,992)
B. Off-balance sheet exposures
B.1 Non-performing

Net exposure — — — — — —

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — — — — —

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X X
B.2 Potential problem

Net exposure — — — — 5,195 106

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — — — (744) —

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X X
B.3 Other impaired assets

Net exposure — — — — 2,331 37

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — — — (336) —

Value adjustments to portfolio X X X X X X
B.4 Other exposures

Net exposure 5,001,521 12,413 6,691,068 80,961 10,870,229 164,330

Value adjustments to gross exposure X X X X X X

Value adjustments to portfolio — 8} (2,441) (22) (15,585) —
Total B

Net exposure 5,001,521 12,413 6,691,038 80,961 10,877,755 164,473

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — — — (1,080) —

Value adjustments to portfolio — @ (2,441) (22) (15,585) —
Total at 30/6/14

Net exposure 13,919,452 343,906 16,285,948 1447438 24,444,585 15,563,008

Value adjustments to gross exposure — — (11,639) 6) (482,853) (600,255)

Value adjustments to portfolio (3,323) (3.420) (26,365) (2,261) (115,588) (96,992)
Total at 30/6/13 13,946,241 156,321 14,398,791 2,725,907 22,575,733 16,114,189
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B.4a Credit risk indicators

30/6/14 30/6/13
a) Gross NPLs/total loans 1.61% 1.30%
b) Irregular items/cash exposures 4.37% 3.22%
¢) Net NPLs/regulatory capital 3.35% 3.22%
B.4b Large risks

30/6/14 30/6/13
a) Book value 11,500,719 12,043,542
b) Weighted value 8,911,672 10,869,923
¢) No. of exposures 8 8

Leveraged finance transactions

As part of its corporate lending activity, the Mediobanca Group takes an
active part in buyout transactions promoted or sponsored almost entirely by
private equity funds in order to take over companies with promising growth
prospects, low debt levels and stable cash flow over time. Such transactions
have a sub-investment grade rating, a non-recourse contractual structure,
and borrowing is commensurate with future cash flow levels. The purpose of
such transactions is never for Mediobanca to acquire target companies, as the
majority stakes are held directly by the private equity funds.

As at 30 June 2014, commitments to deals of this nature amounted to
€1,292.4m, slightly higher than the €1,239.7m reported one year previously.
Such deals represented slightly less than 10% of the corporate portfolio, around
30% of which in relation to domestic transactions , two deals with US client (for
a value of approx. €110m), and the remainder deals within the confines of the
European Union.

The leveraged finance market returned to its former dynamism during the

year, with repayments of €332m (including eight deals being wound up) against
increases totalling €384.7m (with twelve new deals being opened).
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C. Securitizations and asset disposals

C.1 Securitizations
Qualitative information

The Group’s portfolio of securities deriving from securitizations by other
issuers totalled €281.8m (30/6/13: €272.8m), over 80% of which is attributable
to the banking book (AFS and HTM). During the period under review, the
banking book showed acquisitions of €16m and repayments totalling €32.8m.
The trading book increased by €22.6m, following net acquisitions of €39.2m
and repayments totalling €19.9m. Trading involving a total of €117.9m was
recorded during the period under review.

The portfolio is valued on the basis of prices supplied by financial information
providers and also, in the case of some banking book holdings, via internal fair
value models. Overall during the year the portfolio’s value increased by €2m,
along with €4.6m in unrealized gains (as against €27.6m losses last year).

The portfolio as a whole has a rating commensurate with securities of high
credit standing issued by at least one of the leading agencies (Standard & Poors,
Moody’s and Fitch). Some 89% consists of senior-ranking securities, 10%
mezzanine (four issues) and 1% junior (two issues). Over half of the portfolio is
eligible for refinancing transactions with the European Central Bank.

The ABS market, like those for other credit products, benefited from
a widespread increase in prices due in particular to issues by issuers in
peripheral EU member states (e.g. ltaly) as a result of expectations of less
restrictive regulations on capital absorption with the advent of Basel 11/Solvency
2, and improved conditions of acceptance as collateral for transactions with
the European Central Bank. Primary market securitization activity is gradually
recovering, with issuance volumes in the first few months of 2014 equal to those
recorded for the full year 2013. The Group’s portfolio remains concentrated on
senior tranches of domestic stocks, with mortgages and state-owned properties
as collatera. The other exposures involve CLOs, synthetic securities (Entasi
and ELLM) and other European mortgage receivables. The principal mezzanine
exposure involved CMBS with Telecom ltalia credit risk as the underlying

asset(IMSER), and will be redeemed early.
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Quantitative information

C.1.1 Banking Group — exposures deriving from securitizations by underlying asset

Type of underlying asset/

Cash exposure !

exposures
Senior Mezzanine Junior
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
exposure exposures exposure exposures exposure exposures
A) Using own undelying assets: — — — — — —
a) Impaired — — — — — —
b) Other — — — — — —
B) Using customers'
underlying assets 250,465 250,466 28,605 28,604 2,656 2,656
a) Impaired 54,117 54,117 — — — —
b) Other 196,348 196,349 28,605 28,604 2,656 2,656

1 No off-balance-sheet exposure.

C.1.3 Banking Group — exposures deriving from main customer securitizations by asset type/

exposure
Type of securitized asset/exposure* Cash exposures '
Senior Mezzanine Junior
Book Writedowns/ Book Writedowns/ Book Writedowns/

value writebacks

value writebacks

value writebacks

A. Mortgage loans on properties

A.1 Velah 4 A2 1T0004102007 26,887

A.2 IMSER21(ST18)) 5.830 1T0003382972 — — 18,227 — — —
A.3 RMAC2005-NS4XM2A MTG XS0235778106 — — 5,023 1,559 — —
A4 BERAB 3 A 1T0005027930 5,016 12 — — — —
A.5 Other 12,069 -152 2,522 104 2,656 405
TOTAL A MORTGAGE LOANS ON PROPERTIES 43,972 164 25,772 1,663 2,056 405
B. Other receivables

B.1 Fip Fund-23 A2 FRN 1T0003872774 89,285 — — — — —
B.2 ENTASI 16/08/2016 1T0003142996 54,117 — — — — —
B.3 ELM BB.V. FL. XS0247902587 22,626 — — — — —
B.4 SUNRISEO09A MTG 1T0004495609 8,090 28 — — — —
B.5 BESME 1 AT1X 1T0004941149 8,394 62 — — — —
B.6 QNST 2006-1X Al XS0278960066 7,679 (74) — — — —
B.7 Other 16,302 (173) 2,893 -30 — —
TOTAL B OTHER RECEIVABLES 206,493 (157) 2,893 -30 — —
Total as at 30/6/14 250,465 7 28,665 1,633 2,656 405
Total as at 30/6/13 243,668 345 24,470 713 4,709 317

* Mediobanca does not have on its books any credit exposures backed by US subprime or Ali-A morigages.

! No off-balance-sheet exposure.
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C.1.4 Banking Group — exposures to securitizations by asset/portfolio type

Exposure/portfolio Held for Designed at  Available Held to Loans 30/6/14 30/6/13
trading  fair value for sale maturity and
through advances
profit and
loss
1. Cash exposures 50,929 — 19,714 40,854 170,289 281,786 272,848
- Senior 37.836 — 19,714 22,626 170,289 250,465 243,669
- Mezzanine 10,437 — — 18,228 — 28,665 24,470
- Junior 2,656 — — — — 2,656 4,709
2. Off-balance-sheet
exposures — —_— _— _— _— — _—
- Senior — — — — — — —
- Mezzanine — — — — — — —
- Junior — — — — — — —

C.1.5 Banking Group — total amount of securitized assets underlying junior securities or
other forms of financing

Assets/amounts

Traditional
securitizations

Synthetic
securitizations

A. Own underlying assets:
A.1 Fully derecognized
1. Non-performing

2. Potential problem

3. Restructured

4. Past due

5. Other assets

A.2 Partly derecognized
1. Non-performing
2. Potential problem
3. Restructured

4. Past due

5. Other assets

A.3 Not derecognized
1. Non-performing
2. Potential problem

3. Restructured

4. Past due

5. Other assets

B. Customer underlying assets:
B.1 Non-performing
B.2 Potential problem

B.3 Restructured
B.4 Past due

B.5 Other assets

Ll i S o
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C.1.6 Banking Group — Interests in vehicle companies

Name Head office % shareholding
Quarzo S.r.l. Milan 90%
Quarzo Lease S.r.l. Milan 90%

C.1.7 Banking Group: servicing — collecting securitized receivables and redeeming securities

issued by vehicle companies

Servicer Vehicle company Securitized assels Receivables collected Percentage share of securities
30/6/14 during the year repaid 30/6/14
Impaired  Performing Impaired Performing Senior Mezzanine Junior
Impaired Performing  Impaired Performing  Impaired Performing
assels assels assels assels assels assels
SelmaBPM
Leasing Quarzo Lease 18,331 220478 2,597 70456 — 0 — — — —
SelmaBPM
Leasing Quarzo Lease 19,903 174,684 5359 68,011 — 0 — — — —
SelmaBPM
Leasing Quarzo Lease 18,105  193.437 3.056 93,879 — 0 — — — —
Compass Quarzo 106,643 3,493,959 623 1,760,352 — — — — — —

C.1.8 Banking Group — SPVs owned

Quarzo Lease S.r.l. (SelmaBipiemme Leasing)

This special purpose vehicle company currently has three securitizations

outstanding, all with SelmaBipiemme receivables as the underlying instruments,

with the junior tranches underwritten by SelmaBipiemme itself and the senior

tranches by the EIB. The deals are all in the amortization stages and hence this
year only the final sales were booked, totalling €6.3m, in respect of the third

securitization.

The main features of the deals are as follows:

Tranche Date Outstanding amount at issue Date  Outstanding amount at 30/6/14
Amortization
Junior Senior Receivables Senior Receivables
1 Jul-07 36.9 350 386.9 Apr-13 192.7 243.5
11 May-09 100 350 450 Jul-12 89.6 202.1
111 Jul-11 123.1 202 325 Oct-13 98.2 216.8

182 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014



Accounts between SelmaBipiemme and vehicle company Quarzo Lease for
the year were as follows:

Tranche Amounts collected Servicing fee Interest on junior tranche
I 83.7 0.05 8.21
11 380.9 0.05 4.06
1 109.5 0.07 8.39

Quarzo S.r.l. (Compass)

Quarzo S.rl. currently has one securitization outstanding subscribed for
directly by Group companies, with the purpose of expanding the Group’s sources
of funding, by taking advantage of the possibility of refinancing senior bonds
with the European Central Bank. The transaction consists of a senior issue in an
amount of €2,960m plus a junior tranche worth €540m. The monthly revolving
periods began in July 2013 and will continue until December 2015. During the
twelve months receivables worth €1,459.2m were ceded.

Accounts between Compass and vehicle company Quarzo were as follows:

Collections on behalf of Quarzo: € 1,760,9 million
Servicing fees collected: €  17.5 million
Interest accrued on junior notes: € 16.4 million
Additionaled return accrued: € 216.2 million
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C.2 Asset disposals

A. Banking Group — Financial assets sold but not derecognized

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

C.2.1 Banking Group — Financial assets sold but not derecognized

Typelportfolio Financial ~ Financial AFS  Financial Due from Due from Total
assets held assels al  securities assets held banks customers ; . .
for trading  fair value to maturity 30/6/14 30/6/13
through
profit and
loss account
A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
a) Financial assets sold
but recorded in full
(book value) 1,020,078 — 1,510,154 158,684 — — 2,688,916 1,785,467
2. Equities — — — X X X — —
3. UCI units — — — X X X — —
4. Loans and advances
a) Financial assets sold
but recorded in full
(book value) — — — — — 647,069 647,069 501,452
B. Derivative products — X X X X X — —
Total at 30/6/14 1,020,078 — 1,510,154 158,684 — 647,069 3,335,985 X
a) Financial assets sold
but recorded in full
(book value) 1,020,078 — 1,510,154 158,684 — 647,069 3,335,985 X
- of which impaired — — — — — — — X
Total at 30/6/13 179,752 — 1,460,540 145,175 — 501,452 X 2,286,919
a) Financial assets sold
but recorded in full
(book value) 179,752 — 1,460,540 145,175 — 501,452 X 2,286,919
- of which impaired — — — — — — X —
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C.2.2 Banking Group — financial liabilities in respect of financial assets sold but not

derecognized
Liabilities/asset portfolios Financial assets Financial AFS securities Financial Due from Due from Total
held for trading assets at fair assets held to banks customers
value through maturity
profit and loss
account
1. Due to customers 477,004 — 727,402 115,549 — 283,910 1,603,865
a) in respect of fully
recognized assets 477,004 — 727,402 115,549 — — 1,319,955
b) in respect of partly
recognized assets — — — — — 283,910 283910
2. Due to banks 511,150 — 181,380 3,634 — 366,922 1,063,086
a) in respect of fully
recognized assets 511,150 — 181,380 3,634 — 366,922 1,063,086
b) in respect of partly
recognized assets — — — — — — —
3. Debt securities in issue — — — — — — —
a) in respect of fully
recognized assets — — — — — — —
b) in respect of partly
recognized assets — — — — — — —
Total at 30/6/14 988,154 — 908,782 119,183 — 650,832 2,660,951
Total at 30/6/13 155.326 — 573,420 111,444 971,966 436,740 2,248,896

C.3 Banking Group — covered bond issues

During the twelve months under review the first public issues with “A”
ratings reserved to institutional investors were made, as part of a ten-year
€5bn programme with residential mortgages granted by CheBanca! as the
underlying asset:

— the first tranche was issued in October 2013 with a notional amount of
€750m, 10-year duration and fixed-rate coupon of 3.625%, with €1.6bn
in receivables as the underlying instrument, replacing the existing
€1.5bn, subscribed for in full by Mediobanca and used as collateral for
operations with the European Central Bank;

— the second tranche was issued in June 2014 with a notional amount of
€750m, 5-year duration and fixed-rate coupon of 1.125%, with €1.2bn
in receivables as the underlying instrument.

Overall CheBanca! ceded a total of 29,682 residential mortgages to the
SPV during the twelve months under review, worth a total of €2.8bn.
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Under the terms of the covered bond programme, Mediobanca acts as
issuer and swap counterparty and CheBanca! sells the underlying assets to
the SPV (Mediobanca Covered Bond) and as servicer for the issue. The SPV
in turn establishes them as security for the bondholders (with first-ranking,
unconditional and irrevocable guarantee).

Mediobanca has retained an auditor to act as independent asset monitor,
carrying out controls to ensure the deal is regular and to check the integrity
of the guarantee issued by the SPV to the bondholders.

To ensure the programme is implemented properly, the objectives of the

deal and related risks were identified and assessed beforehand, allowing the
appropriate control procedures to be developed.
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1.2 BANKING GROUP - MARKET RISK
1.2.1 INTEREST RATE RISK AND PRICE RISK - TRADING BOOK
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

The market risks facing the Group are concentrated almost entirely at the
parent company level. Mediobanca’s exposure to price risk on the trading book
is measured on a daily basis by calculating two main indicators:

— sensitivity (the so-called “Greeks”) to minor changes in risk factors (such
as interest rates, share prices, exchange rates, credit spreads, inflation and
volatility);

—  Value-At-Risk,! calculated on the basis of expected volatilities and the
correlations between the risk factors concerned, updated daily, assuming a
disposal period of a single trading day and a confidence level of 99%.

Such analysis regards not just the trading book but the Bank’s entire asset
structure, including the banking book but net of the equity investments. Analysis
of VaR takes into consideration risks deriving from changes in market interest
rates and credit spreads for positions in bonds and hedge derivatives.

In addition to these metrics, ad hoc indicators are compiled to capture tail
risks not measured by VaR, and stress tests carried out on the main risk factors,
to show the impact which significant movements in the main market varibales
(such as share prices and interest or exchange rates) might have, calibrated on
the basis of the most pronounced historical oscillations.

In order to monitor the various business units’ operations, limits have been
introduced on sensitivities to movements of different factors as well as the value-
at-risk. In the latter case, the indicator used to check the limits is calculated by
using Monte Carlo simulations, along with historical simulations for indicative
purposes®. This measurement is also used to calculate the expected shortfall,
which measures average loss in 1% of the most unfavourable scenarios.

! VaR: maximum potential loss over to specified time horizon and to given confidence level.

2 Determines portfolio values based on random and historical variations in risk factors respectively.
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The 2013-14 financial year saw one of the best performances witnessed in
recent years. At end-June 2014, the FTSE MIB stock market index had gained
almost 40% versus end-July 2013, with a high of 45% at the start of June;
while the ten-year BTP-Bund spread fell from 270 to 160 basis points (and
at one point was temporarily below 140 bps), driving a substantial reduction
in the aggregate value at risk despite the domestic and international scenario

remaining uncertain.

The value at risk in fact declined from a high of €60m (at the start of July
2013) to a low of €15m (mid-May 2014) before rising again to reach €30m at
the reporting date as a result of the unexpected contraction in Italian GDP.
The average reading for the twelve months was thus €28.6m, just over half the
€53.5m reported last year.

The largest reduction was recorded in the interest rate segment, where the
average reading fell from €45m to €15m, helped by the declining volatility in
market interest rates and the increased staibility in credit spreads (specific
risk fell from €16.1m to €6.7m). The equity component bucked this trend, with
the average figure rising from €10.4m to €17.5m, as a result of the transfer of
shareholdings to the AFS segment ahead of their disposal. However, the individual
readings themselves reflect constant reduction from a high of €35m at the start of
the period to €10m at the reporting date. The inflation component also rose, due to
acquisitions in the AFS index-linked government securities component.

Table 1: Value At Risk and Expected Shortfall of asset structure

Risk factors 12 mths to 30/6/14 12 mths to
(€°000) 2006 i Mox g, SU/6/13 Ave.
Interest rates 23,033 6,919 43,401 14,967 45,515
- of which: specific risk 5,642 3,284 16,934 6,684 16,125
Share prices 10,374 10,126 35,650 17,484 10,384
Exchange rates 2,356 772 7,307 2,547 2,393
Inflation 1,534 869 3,258 1,640 1,262
Volatility 1,166 1,126 4,706 2,322 3,113
Diversification effect * (8,736) (6,109) (18,584) (10,398) (9,143)
TOTAL 29,728 14,542 62,514 28,562 53,524
Expected shorifall 64,561 40,964 111,879 64,871 110,788

* Due to mismatch between risk factors.

The fact that the most critical days of 2011 no longer fall within the reference
period drove a reduction in the expected shortfall, the average reading for which

decreased from €100m to €65m.
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The trading book, meanwhile, showed a more stable VaR than in previous
years, as a result of the reduction in directional positions. The average reading
fell from €8.9m to €7.8m, due to the interest rate component’s contribution, in
particular specific risk on corporate and financial securities (€4.9m, vs €13.2m),
and to the reduction in holdings in Italian government securities. The equity
component’s contribution more than halved, with the average reading falling from
€3.9m to €1.6m, and a low of €700,000 being recorded, while the contribution
from volatility declined from €3.2m to €2.8m as a result of increased hedging
of options.

Table 2: Value At Risk and Expected Shortfall: trading book

Risk factors 12 mths to 30/6/14 12 mths to
(€000) 30/6/13

30/6 Min Max Avg. Avg.
Interest rates 6,095 1,320 9,617 4,158 6,471
- of which: specific risk 1,574 659 3,046 1,580 3,859
Share prices 873 724 6,372 1,622 3,866
Exchange rates 3,980 176 10,062 4,123 3,724
Inflation 480 193 942 433 1,027
Volatility 1,490 1,490 4,677 2,771 3,258
Diversification effect * (5,509) (2,496) (9,188) (5,316) (9,488)
TOTAL 7,409 3,294 12,952 7,791 8,869
Expected shortfall 12,822 8,536 21,845 13,661 11,952

* Due to mismatch between risk factors.

The Expected Shortfall on the trading book was basically stable, at
€13.6m (€12m).

Notes to the accounts | Part E - Information on risks and Related hedging policies | 189



Trends in VaR

70

— Overall (LHS)
=== Trading (RHS)

Jul-13 Sep-13 Nov-13 Jan-14. Mar-14 May-14

Trends in VaR constituents

127 — R quity sisimininivinin, Forex
o000 08 Vega —— Inflation
10 9 e T Interest Rate
b
Al
A
HO
[
8 id
3,
6
4
2
0 T T T T T
Jul-13 Sep-13 Nov-13 Jan-14. Mar-14 May-14

190 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2014



The results of the daily back-testing based on calculations of theoretical
profits and losses ® show no signs of VaR being ineffective as a measurement.
For the aggregate portfolio including the AFS positions, losses of higher than the
VaR readings were recorded on just three days (in line with the theoretical level
of 1% of the readings), at end-January and mid-May on negative domestic and
international macroeconomic newsflows. The same applies to the trading book,
where the same number of breaches was recorded, two of which on the same
occasions referred to above.

Leaving aside Mediobanca S.p.A., the exposure to market risks for Group
companies affects only Compagnie Monégasque de Banque, which had an
average VaR reading of €530,000, up on the €356,000 recorded last year. This
change is largely driven by the extended duration of the portfolio of Mediobanca-
issued bonds.

With reference to the sensitivity of net interest income, the trading book
(Mediobanca only) as at 30 June 2014 showed a gain of €12.8m in the event of
a 100 bps rise in interest rates, which reduces to €1.3m in the opposite scenario
(100 bps reduction).

Data at 30/6/13 €/m Trading Book
Net interest income sensitivity + 100 bps 12.79
— 100 bps 1.29
Discounted value of cash flows sensitivity + 100 bps (93.52)
— 100 bps 17.40
* Based on reprincing the previour days position using data from the following business day, in order to eliminate intraday trading items.
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Regulatory trading book by outstanding maturity (repricing date) of cash assets and

liabilities and financial derivative products

Currency of denomination: EURO

Type/residual duration On Upto3 From3 106 From 6 From 1 year  From 3 Over 10 Not
demand months months months to 1 to 5 years years to 10 years specified
year years
1. Cash assets 14 682,239 875,684 529,404 1,438,097 779,800 111,804 —
1.1 Debt securities 14 682,239 875,684 529,404 1,438,097 779,800 111,804 —
— with early
redemption option — — — — — — — —
— others 14 682,239 875,684 529,404 1,438,097 779,800 111,804 —
1.2 Other assets — — — — — — — —
2. Cash liabilities 130,795 128,884 72,893 428,601 1,092,693 580,694 1,718 —
2.1 Debt securities in
issue — — — — — — — —
2.2 Other liabilities 130,795 128,884 72,893 428,601 1,092,693 580,694 1,718 —
3. Financial derivatives 372,000 65,479,956 38,242,964 21,919,303 73,397,936 22,212,723 8,702,750 —
3.1 With underlying
securities — 3,558,264 — — — — — —
— Options — — — — — — — —
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — —
— Others — 3,558,264 — — — — — —
+ long positions — 1,779,132 — — — — — —
+ short positions — 1,779,132 — —_ — — —_ —
3.2 Without underlying
securities 372,000 61,921,692 38,242,964 21,919,303 73,397,936 22,212,723 8,702,750 —
— Options — 8332512 5,299,750 9,233,438 25,131,438 1,480,000 1,972,000 —
+ long positions — 4,266,131 2,550,000 4,623,750 12,558,688 740,000 986,000 —
+ short positions — 4,066,381 2,749,750 4,609,688 12,572,750 740,000 986,000 —
— Others 372,000 53,589,180 32,943,214 12,685,865 48,266,498 20,732,723 6,730,750 —
+ long positions 202,000 28,161,402 15,237,050 6,516,739 23,663,215 10,634,062 3,246,267 —
+ short positions 170,000 25,427,778 17,706,164 6,169,126 24,603,283 10,098,661 3,484,433 —
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Currency of denomination: US DOLLARS

Type/residual duration On Upto3 From3 106 From 6 From 1 year  From 3 Over 10 Not
demand months months monthsto 1 to 5 years years to 10 years specified
year years
1. Cash assets — 234,667 4,604 42,644 120,750 38,889 154,997 —
1.1 Debt securities — 234,667 4,604 42,644 120,750 38,889 154,997 —
— with early
redemption option — — — — — — — —
— others — 234,667 4,604 42,644 120,750 38,889 154,997 —
1.2 Other assets
2. Cash liabilities — 82 — — — 6,045 — —
2.1 Debt securities in
issue — — — — — — — —
2.2 Other liabilities — 82 — — — 6,045 — —
3. Financial derivatives 7,596 15,815,392 13,923,781 18,307,570 41,841,181 3,229,085 270,760 —
3.1 With underlying
securities — 126,360 205,862 — — — — —
— Options — — — — — — — —
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — —
— Others — 126,860 205,362 — — — — —
+ long positions — 63,430 102,931 — — — — —
+ short positions — 63,430 102,931 — — — — —
3.2 Without underlying
securities 7,596 15,688,532 13,717,919 18,307,570 41,841,181 3,229,085 270,760 —
— Options — 9,313,580 12,926,490 18,073,656 40,058,940 — 181,579 —
+ long positions — 49278381 6,462,330 5,802,460 23,084,456 — — —
+ short positions — 4,385,708 6,464,160 12,271,196 16,974,484 — 181,579 —
— Others 7,596 6,374,943 791,429 233914 1,782,241 3,229,085 89,181 —
+ long positions 3,798 3,207,443 370,028 126,109 860,805 1,048,886 36,535 —
+ short positions 3,798 3,167,500 421,401 107,805 921,436 1,580,199 52,646 —
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Currency of denomination: OTHER

Type/residual duration On Upto3 From3 106 From 6 From 1 year  From 3 Over 10 Not
demand months months monthsto 1 to 5 years years to 10 years specified
year years
1. Cash assets — 72,976 41,188 — 2,628 — — —
1.1 Debt securities — 72,976 41,188 — 2,628 — — —
— with early
redemption option — — — — — — — —
— others — 72,976 41,188 — 2,628 — — —
1.2 Other assets
2. Cash liabilities — — — — — — — —
2.1 Debt securities in
issue — — — — — — — —
2.2 Other liabilities — — — — — — — —
3. Financial derivatives 73,372 4932474 7239475 13,681,112 2,813,842 608,378 — —
3.1 With underlying
securlties — — — — — — — —
— Options — — — — — — — —
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — —
— Others — — — — — — — —
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — —
3.2 Without underlying
securities 73,372 4,932474 7239475 13,681,112 2,813,842 608,378 — —
— Options — 111,982 3,397,731 8,319,752 — — — —
+ long positions — 55,991 1,699,353 4,159,389 — — — —
+ short positions — 55,991 1,698,378 4,160,363 — — — —
— Others 73,372 4,820,492 3,841,744 5,361,360 2,813,842 608.378 — —
+ long positions 36,686 2,392,763 1,929,068 2,680,680 1,415,146 305,220 — —
+ short positions 36,686 2,427,729 1912,676 2,680,680 1,398,696 303,158 — —
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2. Regulatory trading book: cash exposures in equities and UCI units

Type of exposure/Amounts Book value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

A. Equities !
A.1 Shares 942,717
A.2 Innovative equity instruments —

A.3 Other equity instruments —

27,087

162

B. UCI units
B.1 Ttalian —
- harmonized open —
- non-harmonized open —
- closed —
- reserved —
- speculative —
B.2 Other EU states 150,746
- harmonized 150,746
- non-harmonized open —
- non-harmonized closed —
B.3 Non-EU states —
- open —

- closed —

36,332

10,000

10,000

6.555
4,968
1,587

Total 1,093,463

63,419

16,717

! Net mismatch between trading assets and technical shortfalls booked as trading liabilities; over 98% of the next exposure regards other European

countries (of which Spain 34%, Italy 11%, Germany 11%, France 11% and Austria 10%) and UK 5%.

Notes to the accounts | Part E - Information on risks and Related hedging policies | 195



1.2.2 INTEREST RATE RISK AND PRICE RISK - BANKING BOOK
QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

The Mediobanca Group monitors and manages interest rate risk by
analysing the sensitivity of net interest income, and the sensitivity of the
economic value of the banking book. The first type of sensitivity analysis
quantifies the impact of a parallel, instantaneous 100 basis point change in
the interest rate curve, over a time horizon of twelve months on current profits.
The second type of sensitivity is calculated by comparing the discounted value
of estimated cash flows obtained with the return curve at the current date and
the value obtained using a return curve increased or reduced by 100 basis
points (“parallel shock™).

With reference to the positions held as part of the banking book as at
30 June 2014, in the event of a 100 bps increase in interest rates, a loss of
€1.3m would be recorded, reflecting the balanced nature of the Groups’s asset
structure representing the balance between Mediobanca S.p.A. on the one hand
(which would record a gain of €29.53m) and Compass and CheBanca!* on the
other (which would record losses of €21.60m and €9.23m respectively), which
historically show higher exposure to fixed interest rates. Conversely, a 100 bps
reduction in interest rates would generate a slight gain of €1.2m, representing
the difference between a €24.11m loss incurred by Mediobanca and gains
earned by Compass and CheBanca! (€19.80m and €5.48m respectively).

A positive, 100 basis-point shock on the discounted value of future cash
flows from Mediobanca’s banking book would generate a €13.84m increase,
on account of assets and liabilities being matched more or less exactly at
the balance-sheet level due to the longer duration of the bond component.
This gain would be more than offset by the effects on the holdings owned
by Compass and CheBanca!, which would reduce by €45.7m and €94.8m
respectively. Conversely, given the extremely low short-term interest rates,
a 100 bps reduction in the curve would generate an increase for all three
Group companies: for Mediobanca of €21.5m, for Compass of €37.6m, and for
CheBanca! of €45.25m.

! For the purpose of this calculation, a model has been used to estimate the stickiness of direct deposits.
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The data described above are summarized in numerical form in the table

below:

Data at 30/6/14 €/m Banking Book

Net interest income sensitivity + 100 bps 29.53
— 100 bps (24.11)

Discounted value of cash flows sensitivity + 100 bps 13.84
— 100 bps 21.54

At Group level, the values obtained in both scenarios continue to remain within
the limits set by both the monitoring regulations and operational controls, which
are respectively 7.5% (net interest income sensitivity (including trading book®)/
regulatory capital) and 15% (economic value sensitivity/regulatory capital).

Hedging

Hedges are intended to neutralize possible losses that may be incurred on a
given asset or liability, due to the volatility of a certain financial risk factor (interest
rate, exchange rate, credit or some other risk parameter), through the gains that
may be realized on a hedge instrument which allow the changes in fair value or
cash flows to be offset. For fair value hedges in particular, the Group seeks to
minimize the financial risk on interest rates by bringing the entire interest-bearing
exposure in line with Euribor (generally Euribor 3 months)®.

A. Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are used to neutralize exposure to interest rate, price
or credit risk for particular asset or liability positions, via derivative contracts
entered into with leading counterparties with high credit standings. All fixed-
rate, zero coupon and structured bond issues are fair-value hedged. With regard
to the structured bonds in particular, if they do not show risks related to the main
risk, the interest-rate component (hedged) is stripped out from the other risks
represented in the trading book, and usually hedged by trades of the opposite
sign.

> See p. 191.

¢ This target is maintained even in the presence of hedging contracts with market counterparties with netting agreements and CSAs (collateralized
standard agreements) have been entered into, the valuation of which is made on the basis of Eonia interest rates.
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Fair value hedges are also used in corporate finance for certain bilateral,
fixed-rate transactions and to mitigate price risk on equity investments held as
available for sale.

B. Cash flow hedges

These are used chiefly as part of certain Group companies’ operations, in
particular those operating in consumer credit and leasing. In these cases the
numerous, generally fixed-rate and relatively small-sized transactions are hedged
by floating-rate deposits for large amounts. The hedge is made in order to transform
floating-rate deposits into fixed rate positions, correlating the relevant cash flows.
Normally the Group uses the derivative to fix the expected cost of deposits over the
reference period, to cover floating-rate loans outstanding and future transactions
linked to systematic renewals of such loans upon their expiring.

Mediobanca S.p.A. also implements cash flow hedges to cover the equity
risk linked to shares held as available for sale by executing forward contracts.

Counterparty risk

This is measured in terms of expected potential market value, thus doing away
with the need to set arbitrary weightings for each type of fund employed. As far
as regards derivatives and loan collateralization products (repos and securities
lending), the calculation is based on determining the maximum potential exposure
(assuming a 95% confidence level) at various points on a time horizon that reaches
up to 30 years. The scope of application regards all groups of counterparties which
have relations with Mediobanca, taking into account the existence or otherwise
of netting agreements (e.g. ISDA, GMSLA or GMRA) and collateralization (e.g.
CSA), plus exposures deriving from interbank market transactions. For each type
of operations there are different ceilings split by counterparty and/or group. Finally,
for medium- or long-term collateralized loans or stocks with reduced liquidity
and/or high correlation with the counterparty, the exposure is measured via an
ad hoc metric, which estimates combined default scenarios (i.e. counterparty and
collateral) and particularly stressed conditions for disposing of securities.
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Banking book by outstanding maturity (repricing date) of cash assets and liabilities

Currency of denomination: EURO

Type On Upto3 From 3 From 6 From From 5 Over Not
d d th il th: 1 year years 10 years specified
to 6 months 1o 1 year 1o 5 years to 10 years
1. Cash assets 9274335 19,869,620 4,252,245 2,672,642  9937,600 2,781,292 416273 3,044
1.1 Debt securities 487,837 2,316,980 572,552 77,503 3,096,956 1635881 190,765 —
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — —
— others 487,837 2,316,980 572,552 877,503 3,096,956 1635881 190,765 —
1.2 Loans to banks 1917194 2,150,927 420,250 5,090 90,545 — — 486
1.3 Loans to customers 0,809,304 15,401,713 3259443 1,790,049 6,750,009  1,145411 225,508 3,158
— current accounts 557,062 — — — — — — —
— other loans 6,312,242 15401,713 3259443 1,790,049 6,750,009  1,145411 225,508 3,158
— with early repayment
option 1319452 2,703,641 17,783 30,476 113,332 89,325 189,649 —
— others 4,992,790 12,698,072 3,241,660 1,759,573 6,636,767 1,056,086 35,859 3,158
2. Cash liabilities 7480827 20375916 5231440 8382365 5,087,178 2,780,041 526,004 6,920
2.1 Due to customers 5,070,932 4,002241 2,377,756 4,685,612 56,480 2,574 104,578 6,920
— current accounts 2,115,792 248,264 — — — — — —
— other amounts due 2,955,140 3,753,977 2377756 4,685,612 50,480 2,574 104,578 6,920
— with early repayment
option 354 411,872 57,321 66,894 18,677 — — —
—others 2954786 3,342,105 2320435 4,618,718 37,803 2,574 104,578 6,920
2.2 Due to banks 2,115,381 8,143,963 164,175 7,381 243,746 53312 344,378 —
— current accounts 1,834,306 1 — — — — — —
— other amounts due 281075 8,143,962 164,175 7,381 243,746 53,312 344,378 —
2.3 Debt securities 204,514 8229712 2,689.509 3,689,372 4,786,952 2724155 77,108 —
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — —
—others 204,514 8229712 2,689.509 3,689,372 4,786,952 2,724,155 77,108 —
2.4 Other liabilities — — — — — — — —
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — —
—others — — — — — — — —
3. Financial derivative products 278,066 24691470 5611489 4,580,608 7,199,863 3,678,661 823,429 —

3.1 With underlying securities — — — — — — — —
- Options — — — — — _ _ _

+ long positions — — — — — _ — _

+ short positions — — — — — — — _

- Others — — — — — — _ _

+ long positions — — — — _ _ _ _

+ short positions — — — — — — — —

3.2 Without underlying securities 278,000 24,691,470 5,611,489 4,580,608 7,199,863 3,678,661 823,429 —
- Options — — — — — — 516,794 —

+ long positions — — — — — — 258,397 —

+ short positions — — — — — — 258,397 —

— Others 78,000 24,691470 5,611,480 4,580,608  7.199,863 3,678,601 306,635 —

+ long positions — TA15846 3477606 3,794,158  5422,363 2803601 259,762 —

+ short positions 278,066 17,275,624 2,133,883 780,450 1,777,500 875,000 46,873 —

4. Other OTC trades 1,890,072 21,865,073 2,651,168 980,441 9,557,359 5,086,719 3,039,790 —
+ long positions 4217 13,795,009 1,125,293 295,730 3,797,089 2,330,486 1,190,397 —
+ short positions 1,885,855  8,009.974 1,525,875 690,711 5760270 2,756,233 1,849,393 —
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Currency of denomination: US DOLILARS

Type On  Upto3 From 3 From 6 From From 5 Over Not
d 1 th th months 1 year years 10 years specified
to 6 months  to 1 year to5 years to 10 years
1. Cash assets 542,023 727,374 99,963 7330 251,596 61,113 64 —
1.1 Debt securities — 1,223 321 25 250416 61,113 64 —
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — _
— others — 1,223 321 25 250416 61,113 64 —
1.2 Loans to banks 500,434 88,609 18,291 249 998 — — —
1.3 Loans to customers 41,589 637,542 81,351 7,056 182 — — —
— current accounts 2 — — — — — — _
— other loans 41,587 637,542 81,351 7,056 182 — — —
—with early repayment
option — — — — _ _ _ _
—others 41,587 637,542 81,351 7,056 182 — — —
2. Cash liabilities 690,773 381,208 16,335 804 45,764 — — 6
2.1 Due to customers 318,158 77,059 7,125 755 —_ — — 6
— current accounts 318,081 32,554 — — — — — _
— other amounts due 7 44,505 7,125 755 — — — 6
— with early repayment
option — — — — — — — —
—others 77 44,505 7,125 755 — — — 6
2.2 Due to banks 372,011 115971 — — — — — _
— current accounts 319,143 — — — — — — _
— other amounts due 53,468 115971 — — — — _ _
2.3 Debt securities 4 188,178 9,210 49 45,764 — — —
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — _
— others 4 188,178 9.210 49 45,764 — — —
2.4 Other liabilities — — — — — — — —
—with early repayment option — — — — — — — _
— others — — — — — _ _ _
3. Financial derivative products — 7,322 — — — — — _
3.1 With underlying securities — — — — — — — _
— Options — — — — — _ _ _
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — _
— Others — — — — — — — _
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — _
3.2 Without underlying securities — 7,322 — — — — — _
— Options — — — — — _ _ _
+ long positions — — — — — — — —
+ short positions — — — — — — — _
— Others — 7,322 — — — — — _
+ long positions — 3,661 — — — — — _
+ short positions — 3,661 — — — — — _
4. Other OTC trades 225,181 239,983 109,124 — 178,157 15,357 243,858 —
+ long positions — 124,004 58,207 — 178,157 15,357 130,105 —
+ short positions 225181 115979 50,917 — — — 113,753 —
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Currency of denomination: OTHER

Type On Upto3 From 3 From 6 From From 5 Over Not
| d th ith: th: 1 year years 10 years specified
to 6 months to 1l year to5 years to 10 years
1. Cash assets 94,644 543,082 83,572 — 2,219 — — —
1.1 Debt securities — — — — — — — —
— with early repayment option

— others — — — — — — — _
1.2 Loans to banks 58,264 58,394 — — 2,145 — — —
1.3 Loans to customers 36,380 484,688 83,572 — 74 — — —
— current accounts 32 — — — — — — —
— other loans 36,348  484.688 83,572 — 74 — — —

—with early repayment
option — — — — — — — _
—others 36,348 484,688 83,572 — 74 — — —
2. Cash liabilities 223,494 57,887 4,616 20,255 198,218 — — —
2.1 Due to customers 192,140 29,618 4,210 3,541 — — — —
— current accounts 192,120 4,633 — — — — _ _
— other amounts due 20 24,985 4,210 3,541 — — — —

— with early repayment
option — — — — — — — —
— others 20 24,985 4,210 3,541 — — — —
2.2 Due to banks 31,355 1 — — — — — _
— current accounts 31,261 1 — — — — _ _
— other amounts due 94 — — — — — — _
2.3 Debt securities — 28,268 406 16,714 198.218 — — —
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — —
— others — 28268 406 16,714 198,218 — — —
2.4 Other liabilities — — — — — — — _
— with early repayment option — — — — — — — _
—others — — — — — — _ _
3. Financial derivative products — 221,636 — — 221,636 — — —
3.1 With underlying securities — — — — — — — —
— Options — — — — _ _ _ _
+ long positions — — — — — — — _
+ short positions — — — — — — — —
— Others — — — — — — — _
+ long positions — — — — — _ _ _
+ short positions — — — — — — — _
3.2 Without underlying securities — 221,636 — — 221,636 — — —
— Options — — — — _ _ _ _
+ long positions — — — — _ _ _ _
+ short positions — — — — — _ _ _
— Others — 221,636 — — 221,636 — — —
+ long positions — — — — 221,636 — — —
+ short positions — 221,636 — — — — — _
4. Other OTC trades 488,290 131,993 — 50,843 292,979 12,475 — —
+ long positions — 131,993 — 50,843 292,979 12,475 — —
+ short positions 488,290 — — — — — — _
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2. Banking book: cash exposures in equities and UCI units

Type of exposure/Amounts Book value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A. Equities !
A.1 Shares 400,720 — 627,427
A.2 Innovative equity instruments — — —
A.3 Other equity instruments — — 113,400
B. UCI units
B.1 Ttalian — — 103,585
- harmonized open — — —
- non-harmonized open — — —
- closed — — 96,879
- reserved — — —
- speculative — — 6,706
B.2 Other EU states — 384 10,605
- harmonized — — —
- non-harmonized open — 384 10,605
- non-harmonized closed — — —
B.3 Non-EU states — — 9,490
- open — — —
- closed — — 9,490
Total 400,720 384 804,507

1 Of which 92% Ttalian and 5% other European countries.
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1.2.3 EXCHANGE RATE RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

A. General aspects, operating processes and measurement techniques
Exchange rate risk within the Group is concentrated at the level of

Mediobanca, and involves loans to corporate customers, investments in

securities and other financial instruments in foreign currencies, and flows in

currencies other than the Euro deriving from the collection and/or payment of

interest, commissions and administrative expenses.

This risk managed by treasury and is is monitored on a constant basis.

B. Hedging activity

Risks deriving from movements in exchange rates for all the Bank’s positions
(trading and banking books), are managed by the Financial Markets division.
The degree of risk in this area is thus effectively represented by the respective
VaR component as shown on p. 187.
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Assets, liabilities and derivatives by currency

Line items Currency

US dollars Pounds Japanese Canadian Swiss Other
sterling yen dollars francs

A. Financial assets 1,896,702 622,521 26,358 25,719 115,247 111,469
A.1 Debt securities 827,765 26,579 20,528 22,110 49,720 26,326
A.2 Equities 52,145 63,395 — — 17,991 —
A.3 Loans and advances to banks 244,130 32,023 2,729 3,598 37.605 13,429
A.4 Loans and advances to customers 772,662 500,524 3,101 11 9,931 71,714
A.5 Other financial assets — — — — — —
B. Other assets — — — —
C. Financial liabilities (734,939)  (334,486)  (18323)  (31404)  (94,012)  (58,332)
C.1 Due to banks (5,601) 1 1) — (49) (5)
C.2 Due to customers (456,577) (79,064) (908) (31,404) (78,981) (29.,822)
C.3 Debt securities (272,701)  (255,423) (17,414) — (14,982) (28,505)
C.4 Other financial liabiilities — — — — — —
D. Other liabilities — — — — — —
E. Financial derivative products (777,032)  (369,292) (54,618) 1,223 (109,786) (26,259)
- Options — — — — — —
+ Long positions — — — — — —
+ Short positions — — — — — —
- Other derivatives (777,032)  (369,292) (54,618) 1,223 (109,786) (26,259)
+ Long positions 1,276,515 392,883 (840) 10,981 417,575 893,729
+ Short positions (2,053,547)  (762,175)  (53.778)  (9,758) (527.361)  (919,988)
Total assets 3,173,217 1,015,404 25,518 36,700 532,822 1,005,198
Total liabilities (2,788,486) (1,096,661) (72,101) (41,162)  (621,373)  (978,320)
Difference (+/-) 384,731 (81,257) (46,583) (4,462) (88,551) 26,378
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1.2.4 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL PRODUCTS

A. FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

A.l Regulatory trading book: average and reporting-date notional values

Type of transaction 30/6/14 30/6/13
Over the counter Cenlral Over the counter Central
counterparties counterparties
1. Debt securities and interest rates 107,668,064 57,001,046 111,360,707 68,684,370
a) Options — 54,769,947 5,887 56,849,325
b) Swaps 91,433,064 — 97,089,820 —
¢) Forward — — — —
d) Futures — 2,231,099 — 11,835,045
e) Others 16,235,000 14,265,000 —
2. Equities and share indexes 11,175,472 15,089,394 27,901,604 29,840,092
a) Options 10,468,337 14,792,475 26,525,407 29,694,729
b) Swaps 707,135 1,376,197 —
¢) Forward — — —
d) Futures — 296,919 — 145,363
e) Others — — — —
3. Exchange rates and gold 11,866,711 8,993,545 —
a) Options 911,480 1,271,886 —
b) Swaps 4,299,466 — 1,881,230 —
¢) Forward 6,655,765 — 5,840,429 —
d) Futures — — —
e) Others — — —
4. Commodities — — — —
5. Other assets — — — _
Total 130,710,247 72,090,440 148,255,856 98,524,462
Average values 139,848,343 85,307,451 158,568,866 71,921,750
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A.2.Banking book: average and reporting-date notional values

A.2.1 Hedge derivatives

Type of transaction 30/6/14 30/6/13
Over the counter Central Over the counter Central
counterparties counterparties
1. Debt securities and interest rates 23,654,293 — 27,511,264 —
a) Options — — — —
b) Swaps 23,395,895 — 27,252,867 —
¢) Forwards — — — —
d) Futures — — — —
e) Others 258,398 —_ 258,397 —_
2. Equities and share indexes 27 — 2,436 —
a) Options 27 — 59 —
b) Swaps — — — —
¢) Forwards — — 2,377 —
d) Futures — — — —
e) Others — — — —
3. Exchange rates and gold 2,798 — 15,289 —
a) Options — — — —
b) Swaps 2,798 — 15,289 —
¢) Forwards — — — —
d) Futures — — — —
e) Others — — — —

4. Commodities — — — _

5. Other assets — — — _
Total 23,657,118 — 27,528,989 —
Average values 25,665,506 —_ 29,702,791 —_
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A.2.2 Other derivatives

Type of transaction

30/6/14

30/6/13

Over the counter

Central
counlerparties

Over the counter

Central
counterparties

—

. Debt securities and interest rates

a) Options
b) Swaps

¢) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others

507,251
507,251

537,251
537,251

[3V]

. Equities and share indexes

a) Options
b) Swaps

¢) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others

4,650,601
4,650,601

6,723,608
6,723,608

w

. Exchange rates and gold

a) Options
b) Swaps

¢) Forwards
d) Futures
e) Others

2,205

2,205

2,302

2,302

4.

Commodities

5.

Other assets

Total

5,160,057

7,263,161

Average values

6,114,314

7,631,974
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A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value, by product

Type of transactions Positive fair value

30/6/14 30/6/13
Over the counter Central Over the counter Central
counterparties counterparties
A. Regulatory trading book 4,621,321 537,400 4,320,377 867.425
a) Options 1,422,408 530,800 1,315,270 853,684
b) Interest rate swaps 2,981,272 — 2,778,379 —
¢) Cross currency swaps 94,625 — 59,329 —
d) Equity swaps 14,255 — 63,358 —
e) Forwards 108,761 — 104,041 —
f) Futures — 6,600 — 13,741
g) Others — — — —
B. Banking book: hedge derivatives 1,232,101 —_ 1,298,768 —_
a) Options — — — —
b) Interest rate swaps 1,031,455 — 1,129,576 —
¢) Cross currency swaps 41 — 1,373 —
d) Equity swaps — — — —
e) Forwards — — — —
f) Futures — — — —
g) Others 200,605 — 167,819 —
C. Banking book: other derivatives 105,522 —_ 144,996 —_
a) Options 93,037 — 130,763 —
b) Interest rate swaps 12,485 — 14,233 —
¢) Cross currency swaps — — — —
d) Equity swaps — — — —
e) Forwards — — — —
f) Futures — — — —
g) Others — — — —
Total 5,958,944 537,400 5,764,141 867,425
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A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value, by product

Type of transaction Negative fair value

30/6/14 30/6/13
Over the counter Central Over the counter Central
counterparties counterparties
A. Regulatory trading book (4,738,803) (722,356) (4,414.,620) (968,447)
a) Options (1,187.818) (718,230) (1,150,278) (958,955)
b) Interest rate swaps (3,252,296) — (2,955,097) —
¢) Cross currency swaps (103,754) — (57,235) —
d) Equity swaps (82,142) — (147,017) —
e) Forwards (112,793) — (104,993) —
f) Futures — (4,126) — (9,492)
g) Others — — — —
B. Banking book: hedge derivatives (554,938) — (503,207) 1)
a) Options (200,610) — (167,843) —
b) Interest rate swaps (354,196) — (335,211) —
¢) Cross currency swaps (132) — (150) —
d) Equity swaps — — — —
e) Forwards — — (3) (1)
f) Futures — — — —
g) Others — — — —
C. Banking book: other derivatives (267,753) — (177,176) —
a) Options (265,747) — (171,230) —
b) Interest rate swaps (1,981) — (5,946) —
¢) Cross currency swaps (25) — — —
d) Equity swaps — — — —
e) Forwards — — — —
f) Futures — — — —
g) Others — — — —
Total (5.561,494) (722,356) (5.095,003) (968,448)
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A.5 OTC financial derivatives: regulatory trading book — notional values, gross positive
and negative fair values by counterparty, contracts not forming part of netting

arrangements
Contracts not forming Governments Other public Banks Financial Insurances Non-financial Other
part of netting arrangements and central agencies companies companies counterparties
banks
1. Debt securities and
interest rates
- notional value — — 644,084 1,618,383 6,000 6,054,663 —
- positive fair value — — 17,059 80,264 88 213,490 —
- negative fair value — — (7,428) (21.,422) — (432,200) —
- future exposure — — 3.317 5.542 — 56.408 —
2. Equities and share indexes
- notional value — — 10,300 601,211 59,277 522,220 —
- positive fair value — — 186 21,454 — — —
- negative fair value — — — (328) (50) (96.577) —
- future exposure — — 618 36,111 5,928 34,834 —_
3. Exchange rates and gold
- notional value — — 2,277 181,016 — 938,247 —
- positive fair value — — 3 110 — 33,617 —
- negative fair value — — (22) (2,330) — (10,372) —
- future exposure — — 23 7,212 — 50,601 —

4. Other assets
- notional value — — — — — _ _
- positive fair value — — — — — — _
- negative fair value — — — — — — _

- future exposure — — _ _ _ _ o
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A.6 OTC financial derivatives: regulatory trading book — notional values, gross

positive and negative fair values by counterparty, contracts forming part of netting

arrangements
Contracts forming part of  Governments Other public Banks  Financial Insurances Non- Other
netting arrangements and central agencies companies financial counterparties
banks companics
1. Debt securities and
interest rates
- notional value — — 73,948,757 24,283,983 592,194 520,000 —
- positive fair value — — 1,990,474 760,124 68,917 84,536 —
- negative fair value — —  (2.220,464)  (689,083) — — —
2. Equities and share indexes
- notional value —_ —_ 8,055,375 1,868,655 58,309 125 —_
- positive fair value — — 481,605 698,614 — — —
- negative fair value — — (329,981)  (719,328) (535)  (3,583) —
3. Exchange rates and gold
- notional value — — 9,324,515 1,274,222 — 146,434 —_
- positive fair value — — 133,667 37,112 — — —
- negative fair value — — (181,174) (9,141) —  (14,786) —

4. Other assets
- notional value
- positive fair value

- negative fair value
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A.7 OTC financial derivatives: banking book — notional value, gross positive and
negative fair values by counterparty, contracts not forming part of netting

arrangements
Contracts not forming Governments Other public Banks  Financial Insurances Non-financial Other
part of netting and central agencies companies companies counterparties
arrangements banks

1. Debt securities and
interest rates

- notional value —_ —_ 240,048 —_ —_ —_ —_
- positive fair value — — 202,258 — — — —
- negative fair value — — (10,580) — — — —
- future exposure — — 709 — — — —

2. Equities and share indexes
- notional value — — — — — — 27
- positive fair value — — — — — — _
- negative fair value — — — — — — (5)
- future exposure — — — — — _ 2
3. Exchange rates and gold
- notional value — — — — — — _
- positive fair value — — — — — _ _
- negative fair value — — — — — — _
- future exposure — — — — — — —
4. Other assets
- notional value — — — — — — _
- positive fair value — — — — — — _
- negative fair value — — — — — — —

- future exposure — — — — — _ _
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A.8 OTC financial derivatives: banking book — notional value, gross positive and
negative fair values by counterparty, contracts forming part of netting arrangements

Contracts forming part of Governments Other public Banks Fi ial Insurances Non-fi ial Other
netting arrangements and central agencies companies companies counterparties
banks
1. Debt securities and
interest rates
- notional value —_ — 20,366,797 3,047,447 —_ —_ —_
- positive fair value — — 880,538 149,264 — — —
- negative fair value — —  (479,522)  (64.699) — — —

[:V]

. Equities and share indexes
- notional value — — — — — — _
- positive fair value — — — — — — _

- negative fair value — — — — — — _

3. Exchange rates and gold
- notional value — — 2,798 —_ — —_ —_
- positive fair value — — 41 — — — —
- negative fair value — — (132) — — — —

4. Other assets
- notional value — — — — — — _
- positive fair value — — — — — — —

- negative fair value — — — — — — _

A.9 OTC financial derivatives by outstanding life: notional values

Underlying/residual maturity Up to 1 year From 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

A. Regulatory trading book

A.1 Financial derivatives on debt

securities and interest rates 23,900,313 52,764,172 31,003,580 107,668,065
A.2 Financial derivatives on equities

and share indexes 5,643,300 4,253,691 1,278,482 11,175,473
A.3 Financial derivatives on foreign

currency and gold 7,787,437 3,094,953 984,321 11,866,711

A.4 Financial derivatives on other
assels — — — —

B. Banking book:

B.1 Financial derivatives on debt

securities and interest rates 7,402,006 11,399,665 5,359,871 24,161,542
B.2 Financial derivatives on equities
and share indexes 2,352,350 1,128,428 1,169.850 4,650,628
B.3 Financial derivatives on foreign
currency and gold — 5,003 — 5,003
B.4 Financial derivatives on other
assets — — — —
Total at 30/6/14: 47,085,406 72,645,912 39,796,104 159,527,422
Total at 30/6/13 45,013,193 102,069,272 35,965,543 183,048,008
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B. CREDIT DERIVATIVES

B.1 Credit derivatives: average and reporting-date notional values

Transaction categories

Regulatory trading book Other transactions

Individual assets Baskets Individual assets Baskets
1. Hedge buys
a) Credit default products 1,758,973 32,870,769 413,264 18,000
b) Credit spread products — — — —
c) Total rate of return swaps — — —
d) Others — — —
Total A at 30/6/14 1,758,973 32,870,769 413,264 18,000
Average values 1,870,358 37,669,393 364,330 22,450
Total A at 30/ 6/ 13 1,901,362 42,469,017 346,386 74,735
2. Hedge sales
a) Credit default products 1,041,435 32,613,322 114,627 1,382,786
b) Credit spread products — — — —
c) Total rate of return swaps — — —
d) Others — — —
Total B at 30/6/14 1,041,435 32,613,322 114,627 1,382,786
Average values 1,164,775 36,490,319 105,697 1,393,375
Total B at 30/6/13 1,325,915 41,767,315 124,987 1,403,963
B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value, by product
Portfolio/derivative instrument type Positive fair value
30/6/14 30/6/13
A. Regulatory trading book 515,962 754,633
a) Credit default products 515,962 754,633
b) Credit spread products — —
c) Total rate of returns swaps — —
d) Others — —
B. Banking book 21,181 28,349
a) Credit default products 21,181 28,349
b) Credit spread products — —
¢) Total rate of returns swaps — —
d) Others — —
Total 537,143 782,982
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B.3 OTC credit derivatives:

gross negative fair value, by product

Portfolios/derivative instruments type

Negative fair value

30/6/14

30/6/13

. Regulatory trading book
a) Credit default products
b) Credit spread products
¢) Total rate of returns swaps

d) Others

(480,281)
(480,281)

(699,513)
(699.513)

Banking book

a) Credit default products

b) Credit spread products

¢) Total rate of returns swaps
d) Others

(19,183)
(19,183)

(18.354)
(18.354)

Total

(499.464)

(717.867)

B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive and negative fair values by counterparty —

contracts not forming part of netting arrangements

Contracts not forming part Governments Other public
and central

of netting arrangements

Banks Financial Insurances No

agencies companies

banks

n-financial
companies

Other

counterparties

Regulatory trading book
1. Hedge buys
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
2. Hedge sales
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
- future exposure
Banking book *
1. Hedge buys
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
2. Hedge sales
- notional value
- positive fair value

- negative fair value

50,000
(5.389)
2,500

50,000

(3,194)
2,500

* Derivatives embedded in bonds issued not included.

Notes to the accounts | Part E - Information on risks and Related hedging policies | 215



B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive and negative fair values by counterparty —

contracts forming part of netting arrangements

Contracts forming Governments Other Banks Financial Insurances Non-financial Other
part of netting and central public companies companies counterparties
arrangements banks  agencies
Regulatory trading book
1. Hedge buys
- notional value — — 33,800,751 728,991 —_ —_ —_
- positive fair value — — 50,016 1,262 — — —
- negative fair value — — (438,209) (10,210) — — —
2. Hedge sales
- notional value — —  33.163.859 490,898 —_ —_ —_
- positive fair value — — 443,475 21,209 — — —
- negative fair value — — (22,561) (721) — — —

Banking book *
1. Hedge buys
- notional value — — — —
- positive fair value — — — _
- negative fair value — — — _
2. Hedge sales
- notional value — — — —
- positive fair value — — — _

- negative fair value — — — —

* Derivatives embedded in bonds issued not included.

B.6 Credit derivatives by outstanding duration: notional values

Underlying/residual maturity Up to From 1 year Over Total
1 year to 5 years 5 years
A. Regulatory trading book 29,142,883 36,261,572 2,880,044 68,284,499
A.1 Credit derivatives with “qualified” reference
obligation 586,137 805,019 1,027,650 2,418,806
A.2 Credit derivatives with “unqualified”
reference obligation 28,556,746 35,456,553 1,852,394 65,865,693
B. Banking book 392,840 1,012,851 522,986 1,928,677
B.1 Credit derivatives with “qualified” reference
obligation 63,125 161,405 31,700 256,230
B.2 Credit derivatives with “unqualified”
reference obligation 329,715 851,446 491,286 1,672,447
Total at 30/6/14 29,535,723 37,274,423 3,403,030 70,213,176
Total at 30/6/13 11,940,885 75,144,73